INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each original is also photographed in one exposure and is included in reduced form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

UMI

A Bell & Howell Information Company 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor MI 48106-1346 USA 313/761-4700 800/521-0600

Institutionalizing the Balance :

Trade Objectives and Environmental Concerns :

towards New Institutional Authority.

by

Hendrik Keersmaekers

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research McGill University, Montreal

November 1996

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Laws (LL.M).

© Hendrik Keersmaekers, 1996.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my thesis supervisor, Armand de Mestral, for his ever welcome advice and his support for my thesis project. His comments and suggestions about this thesis, and in general about the trading system and international law, were always to the point and very useful in studying this topic.

Furthermore, my gratitude goes to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for their attachment to and ongoing concern for the Master's Programme; as well as for their assistance to my research through a Greenfield Scholarship.

I would like to express my thanks to everybody who made this Master's experience a fruitful and exciting year. I wish we can always think back to it and find support in this experience.

Graziella, your patience has been (and still is) beyond imagination, and your support meant (means) a lot.

Most importantly.

i,

I am eternally indebted to my parents Elza and Jos. who encouraged me in my quest for discovering and exploring new places and ideas. thereby strengthening and deepening my "human-ity". bestowing me with their enriching and humbling support.

I dedicate this thesis to Hope for my brother.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-29832-9

Canadä

ABSTRACT

The interrelationship between trade objectives and environmental concerns lies at the heart of this research. After describing different trade regimes and environmental protection agreements, and offering the general framework of international law in which the trade-environment-development debate takes place. this thesis elaborates on the structures of international institutional authority that have been created through these trade regimes, environmental protection agreements and development organizations. A review of the existing international organizations will show us their strong points, usefulness and weaknesses, and will bring us to the statement of the necessity of new institutional authority in order to more effectively address the trade-environment-development issues at stake. On the one hand, the idea of a newly created Global Environmental Institution would highly improve the institutional potential in this debate, but is likely not a realistic option in the international arena of today. On the other hand, the option of institutional improvement and betterment of the existing international structures is more realistically feasible, and possibly the only way to achieve New Institutional Authority in the area of trade and environment today.

.

SOMMAIRE

Au coeur de ce mémoire se trouve l'étroite relation entre les objectifs de commerce et les intérêts de l'environnement. Après l'analyse de plusieurs régimes internationaux de commerce et de plusieurs conventions de protection de l'environnement, et après la description du cadre général de Droit International dans lequel se poursuit le débat sur le commerce, l'environnement et le développement, ce mémoire s'adresse plus profondément aux stuctures d'autorité institutionelle internationale qui ont été créées par ces régimes internationaux de commerce, ces conventions de protection de l'environnement et ces organizations de développement.

La revue des organizations internationales existantes nous montrera leurs points forts, leurs utilités ainsi que leurs faiblesses, et nous amènera à constater la nécessité d'une nouvelle autorité institutionelle pour adresser plus effectivement les intérêts du commerce, de la protection de l'environnement et du développement. D'un côté, l'idée de créer une nouvelle Institution de l'Environnement Globale augmenterait profondément les possibilités institutionelles dans ce débat, mais cette option n'est probablement pas très réaliste dans le domaine international d'aujourd'hui. De l'autre côté, l'idée d'améliorer et de rendre plus efficaces les stuctures internationales existantes est certes plus faisable et réaliste, et s'avance vraisemblablement comme. à l'ère actuelle, la seule façon pour accéder à la Nouvelle Autorité Institutionelle dans les domaines du commerce et de l'environnement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

ABSTRACT / SOMMAIRE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER I : The Balancing Act : Trade Liberalization and Environmental Protection Concerns : in Conflict or Convergence?

SECTION 1 :	The Trade and Environment Debate
SECTION 2 :	Trade Regimes
SECTION 3 :	Environmental Protection Agreements
EPILOGUE :	Institutionalizing the Balance

CHAPTER II : The Legal Framework

SECTION 1 : International Law

SECTION 2 : Development Law

CHAPTER III : Institutions I : The Existing International Organizations Relating to Trade and Environment

SECTION 1 : Institutional Structures of Trade Regimes

- A.: WTO/GATT B.: NAFTA/NAAEC C.: European Union
- SECTION 2 : The Institutional Aspects of Environmental Agreements
- SECTION 3 : UN Institutions
- SECTION 3 : Development Banks
- SECTION 5 : Adjudication
- SECTION 6 : Of NGO's, Studygroups and Think-Tanks

CHAPTER IV : Institutions II : International Organizations for the Future

- SECTION 1 : Strengthening and Improving Existing Institutions
- SECTION 2 : New Institutions on the Global Level
- EPILOGUE : A Reality Check

CONCLUSION

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

INTRODUCTION.

This thesis constitutes an analytical exercise in the potential of coordination and convergence of two of the most basic concerns and goals of the increasing interdependent and multilateral society of today, namely environmental protection objectives on the one hand, and international trade objectives - such as the move towards liberalization and integration of economies - on the other. During the past decades, both concerns have generated a large number of international (bilateral, regional or multilateral) legal instruments, such as regional and global trade liberalization schemes on the one side of the spectrum, and an increasingly important number of multilateral agreements to protect the environment (signed with authority apart from the trade regimes) on the spectrum's other side.

My research will focus on the often-difficult balancing of these concerns. After drawing a historical evolution of the emergence of both objectives, and showing how and why environmental concerns have moved into various trade agreements, the same way as trade instruments have found their place into international environmental protection agreements, it will particularly analyze the record and efforts of various international organizations (such as trade institutions, environmental protection regimes, the UN structure, and development banks) in dealing with trade and environment concerns.

As the research continues, it will become clear that there is an important need to further integrate and balance environmental protection concerns into international institutional structures, such as trade regimes, structural development banks and other development agencies (for instance the United Nations Development Programme). This need has been conceptualized through the notion of Sustainable Development, an often-debated term considering not only the present development needs but also the preservation of the globe's development potential for future generations. This concept provides for a middle-way between extreme development and trade pressures, and the extreme sacrifice of development and trade interests to the environment. Sustainable Development provides for the needed paradigm with which the above-mentioned existing international structures will be scrutinized.

The disparate and sometimes even colliding interests of these different institutional structures and their different generating concerns leads us to the central question of my research, namely what body - if any - of international law. and what institution(s) can and should preside over these fundamental concerns of trade, environment and development. Should there be an international body overlooking these different concepts and objectives, these often-opposed protagonist interests? A positive answer would lead us to further questions, such as which role this institution could play, which functions this institution could fulfill, and on what level the institution should be placed? Moreover, what would be its place vis-à-vis the already existing institutions that deal with trade, environment or development questions?

In fact, a new international institution could be constituted as a *chapeau*, an overarching body which could coordinate both objectives : a Global Environmental Institution could provide for a forum of ongoing negotiations to

(

2

address global environmental problems, an international laboratory for the coordination of policies. development of legal norms and baseline environmental obligations, supervision of their implementation and the generation of community pressure on recalcitrant nations. Such an institution could counterbalance GATT/WTO's international stature, and could work with the trade regimes to establish a functional division of responsibilities where trade and environment intersect. Moreover, it could provide a coordinated approach towards technical and financial development assistance (cooperating closely with the global and regional development institutions), and serve as a general *umbrella institution* for the growing number of international environmental agreements.¹ Finally, it could provide the authority to focus on the development and implementation of new values, such as sustainable development, the precautionary principle, environmental cost internalization, pollution prevention, and institutional transparency.

Chapter 1 deals with the specific trade and environmental concerns that form the basis of the whole debate on how and why trade liberalization and environmental protection objectives interact. First of all, this Chapter provides an overview of the debate, namely the arguments of both communities. how they collide and why they collide (market, policy and institutional failures). It will show that trade and environmental issues have become increasingly linked, and therefore, they coincide into the need for a more balanced and integrated policymaking with regard to both concerns. Various approaches towards a more

ţ

¹ Just as the WTO serves as an umbrella for its Multilateral Trade Agreements.

balanced debate are highlighted. varying from voluntary action over commandand-control approaches to economic incentive based strategies, from national to international and from positive to negative action. International cooperation in order to find solutions to these problems is stressed as the best long-term response. Secondly, this Chapter takes a look at how both the trade and environmental community deal with today's reality of integrated trade and environmental concerns. How do trade regimes such as the GATT/WTO. NAFTA and EU incorporate trade-related environmental concerns, and parallelly how do environmental protection regimes such as the Convention and Protocol protecting the ozone layer incorporate environmental-related trade concerns? Both regimes` very existence and ability to contribute to the resolution of concerns depends on their perceived legitimacy, which in turn depends upon a political judgment that they are upholding the public values that are important in the present international community.

Chapter 2 broadens up the specific trade-environment horizon of Chapter 1, in dealing with the broader legal framework surrounding trade, environmental and development concerns. Its purpose is to give a general introduction to, and overview of certain basic concepts in international law. In a concise way, the Chapter discusses basic concepts such as sovereignty, global interdependence, international cooperation, international organizations, international agreements, poverty, need for economic growth, North-South divide, and sustainable development. The understanding of these concepts are fundamental prerequisites to the study of the trade and environment debate, a debate which covers such different areas of policy-making. The concepts of sovereignty, growing

4

ŧ

international interdependence. North-South divide are essential pieces in the puzzling negotiation of international regimes (agreements and institutions) structuring freer international trade as well as greater environmental protection. Poverty and economic growth concerns are two sides of the same coin of development.

In order to find more efficient answers to trade and environment questions, the existing framework needs more cooperation, integration and coordination, not only among states but also among policy issues. Environmental concerns are best dealt with by integrating them into other policy areas, such as trade: and vice versa. It is in this view that the concept of Sustainable Development enters the scene, and provides for the paradigm with which international action - be it trade or environmentally related - will be scrutinized throughout the rest of the thesis.

Whereas the first Chapter deals with the substantive rules laid out in trade and environmental protection regimes, Chapter 3 analyzes the existing international institutional framework of organizations related to trade and environment considerations. As Chapter 3 demonstrates, there has been a remarkable and extra-ordinary proliferation of institutions at the global, regional and local level that look at trade, development and environment concerns and their interlinkages. Trade regimes, environmental protection regimes. UN institutions, Development Banks, adjudicatory bodies, study groups and NGO's all play an increasingly important role in positioning their views, advocating their interests, and studying possible interactions of the issues at stake. The Chapter lines out the institutional structure, the functions and the role of several major institutional bodies. It focuses on dispute settlement procedures - a prime mechanism in

5

i.

reconciling often diametrically-opposed views - found in trade regimes and environmental protection agreements, as well as on specially-designed commissions, committees and working groups that deal with the tradeenvironment debate and try to find solutions and recommendations to balance these concerns. Some of these Bodies - such as NAFTA's Commission on Environmental Cooperation, the EU's Commission and Environmental Agency. and the UN's Commission on Sustainable Development and UNCTAD - could very well be considered as a model in bringing trade objectives and environmental interests together. However they each represent major caveats - the subject of Chapter 4. Furthermore, the Chapter studies the evolution of development banks towards supporting a more sustained development paradigm (sustainable development), and looks at how development banks and UN institutions work together in this respect in newly-created entities (such as the GEF). Finally, the role of adjudication - with its proponents and detractors - and of NGO's and study groups is clarified.

Ĺ

ĺ

Chapter 4 builds upon the elements gathered in Chapter 3. especially its information concerning the institutional changes several international organizations have undergone in their effort of integrating environmental concerns. UN institutions, environmental protection agreements, development banks and trade regimes all went some way in integrating environmental concerns into their own policies, but still suffer from major handicaps and impediments that obstruct their ability and capacity to deal with the issues at hand. Chapter 4 identifies these obstacles, and consequently tries to find ways to improve the present institutional structure. First of all, the Chapter lists different ways to

6

strengthen and <u>upgrade existing institutions</u>. A lot of progress can be made by removing obstacles such as ill-suited mandates. limited resources, inadequate and dispersed locations, and lack of transparency and public participation, thus enhancing the status of existing institutions and improving their capability to address the issues at stake. A second way of improving the international institutional structure consists of the <u>creation of a new global institution</u> that will consolidate and coordinate the activities of existing institutions, and canalize the work of balancing and integrating the equally important concerns of trade, development and the environment. The Chapter will discuss several proposals in favor of such an institution, along with the reasons, functions, institutional features and the possible advantages of such a Global Environmental Institution. It will also discuss its practical feasibility, and conclude that, although theoretically very promising, politically a new global environmental institution does not seem to constitute a feasible and real option for the (nearby) future.

i

CHAPTER I : THE BALANCING ACT : TRADE LIBERALIZATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION CONCERNS : IN CONFLICT OR CONVERGENCE?

(₂

í

This chapter will examine the difficult balance between two of the most basic concerns of the multinational interdependent society of today. It will review the current trade and environment debate between the protagonist communities, discuss relevant trade regimes and international environmental agreements, and above all - argue for a cooperative view upon these issues: namely, the need for and advantage of a coordinated and balanced approach towards trade liberalization and environmental protection. Where necessary, ample references to literature explaining the basics of the discussed regimes and agreements are provided.

SECTION 1 : THE TRADE AND ENVIRONMENT DEBATE

Concerns over trade and trade liberalization have been preponderant issues on the political agenda of (nearly) every country of this globe - since the industrial revolution replaced the agriculture-oriented society and transformed it into a society based on production. consumption, industrialization, economics of scale, economic theories such as the theory of comparative advantages, and trade. With the creation of the Bretton Woods institutions - and especially the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade - these concerns were institutionalized at the international level², promoting the liberalization of international trade (over protectionism) and international cooperation to achieve its basic goals of "raising standards of living, ensuring full employment and the large and steadily growing of real income and effective demand, and the full employment of resources of the world and expanding the production and exchange of goods.⁴³ As such, the augmentation of the standard of living and the quality of human life was the purpose, and free and liberalized trade the tool with which that purpose could be achieved. Moreover, at the same time, the liberalization of international trade has also been pursued on the regional level, with the constitution of free trade areas, customs unions, common markets, internal markets or even economic unions: more recently, these regional free trade agreements have 'exploded' all over the globe⁴. This global and regional process towards liberalized and freer trade is likely to continue.

ł,

At the same time, concerns over the environment - and the idea that our environment needs to be protected from degradation and spoliation of the resource base - have become increasingly important over the past few decades⁵, challenging the assumption that the air, water, land and other features of the environment are

² More recently, the conclusion of the Uruguay Round, with all its innovations and amendments to the GATT and its side-codes, and the establishment of the overarching World Trade Organization. has confirmed and - in many views - strengthened the world's attachment to global trade. ³ For a brief but topical introduction to the Bretton Woods Institutions, and especially the GATT/WTO evolution, see B.Colas, ed., Global Economic Cooperation : A Guide to Agreements and Organizations. (Deventer : UN University, Kluwer Law & Taxation Publishers, 1994). ⁴ No region of the world has been 'spared' of this wave : especially spectacular numbers of these agreements have been reached in the Americas (North and South), Europe and Asia. ⁵ Indeed, concerns about the degradation of the environment were not preponderant policy-issues at the time of construction of the UN system, or the related Bretton-Woods institutions. Environmental degradation was not even considered a national threat at that time, let alone a pressing global problem that could provoke international conflict and undermine human health. economic well-being and social stability. See H.French. Partnership for the planet : an environmental agenda for the UN, (Washington D.C. : Worldwatch Institute, 1995), p. 5 a.f; S.Lahey, "Trade and the Environment" (1996) 16 New York Law School Journal of International and Comparative Law, p.189.

available for free for extraction purposes and waste disposal.⁶ From the sixties on. widespread public concern over the degradation of the natural environment. focusing mainly on national and regional problems, pushed national legislators to take the first step towards addressing environmental problems. After a period of economic crisis and social disorders - in which the oil crisis, inflation, recession and unemployment concerns temporarily overshadowed environmental concerns a second wave of public interest for the environment emerged, much more intense, widespread than the first one, and likely to be more durable⁷. Although uncertainties remain, the scientific basis of the concerns is more solid than 20 years ago. The world population has increased - and still is increasing exponentially⁸, and so is industrialization, production and consumption of goods and services. These increases are adding substantially to the demand for products provided by the natural environment in the form of raw materials, energy resources, clean air, potable water, filtered sunlight, and the capacity to absorb waste.9 At the same time, these environmental concerns have taken on a more global proportion, and thus policy-orientation.

But until recently, the objectives of trade liberalization on the one hand, and environmental protection on the other hand, were often looked upon as

í

⁶ K.Anderson, R.Blackhurst, "Trade, the environment, and public policy", in K.Anderson, R.Blackhurst, ed., *The Greening of world trade issues*, (New York : Harvester Wheatsheaf, 1992), p.3 a.f.

[&]quot;Although environmental issues are not new to international relations, world leaders increasingly have moved environmental issues from the periphery to the center of their political agendas." : Editors of the Harvard Law Review, "Trends in international environmental law", (1992) 10 Harvard Law Review.

⁷ K.Anderson, R.Blackhurst, *supra* note 6, p.3 a.f.

⁸ The latest UN World Summit on Population in Cairo noted that the trend is likely to continue, and is even increasing if the world doesn't take appropriate measures. Moreover, Urbanization trends complement this picture. See *infra*, Chapter II.

⁹ For more details, see *infra*, Chapter II.

colliding interests¹⁰. Both the environmental community and the free trade community viewed their own goals as superior. overriding the interests of the other community. Trade liberalization viewed through the environmentalists' lens seems to invite increased pollution. lost regulatory sovereignty, an antienvironmental counterforce driven by the desire for jobs and profits, and policymaking by obscure, unaccountable, business-oriented international bureaucrats. These are the tendencies : "Environmentalists" fear that increased trade may cause economic growth, which means more pressure on the resource base¹¹; they want to use trade sanctions to enforce environmental protection regimes construed at the international and national level; they are convinced that producers everywhere should meet high environmental requirements, and they want the rules of international trade to reinforce the drive for environmental care¹²; at the same time, they fear that standards in a free trade context will be harmonized towards the lowest common denominator.¹³

Similarly, "free traders" regard the environmental agenda as containing protectionist methods, which will use trade penalties to enforce multilateral environmental agreements or - even worse - unilaterally determined environmental policies, thus breaking down the already-fragile balanced international trading system. All this would result in diminished competitiveness, higher prices and unemployment, destroying the wealth necessary to pay for many environmental

í

¹⁰ Or in the words of S.Lahey : "historically, trade objectives and environmental objectives have not been perceived as harmonious ...", See S.Lahey, *supra* note 5, p.181.

¹¹ See infra, Chapter II.

¹² Just as these trade regimes have been used to mandate other aspects of fair trade, such as intellectual property protection. See D.Esty, "Unpacking the trade and environment conflict" (1994) 25 Law and Policy in International Business, p.1259 a.f.

improvements.¹⁴ Thus free traders want to protect international commerce from illconsidered environmental policy intrusions. They favor varying environmental protection measures (instead of similar strict standards worldwide)¹⁵, and note that strict harmonization of environmental standards will undermine the comparative advantages underlying trade regimes. They fear especially the use of trade sanctions, as they could undermine international cooperation and could be misused by protectionist interests as disguised barriers to trade.¹⁶

Simply put, environmentalists want to stop ecological harm and reduce pollution-based health risks, and believe that freer trade could exacerbate these problems. Free traders want to protect the economic benefits derived from international commerce, and believe that environmental protection could impede this process. Between these two views lies a wide (but not unovercomeable) gap, a difference between cultures (openness and public participation versus secrecy, pragmatism and result-oriented compromise), between paradigms (sanctioncentered versus diplomacy-centered and negotiation), and between judgments (mostly over scientific uncertainties).

But in our increasingly interdependent world¹⁷ of today, both environmentalists and free traders can no longer lock themselves up in the comforting solidarity and like-mindedness of their own communities. Instead, they

ĺ

¹³ D.Esty, *Greening the GATT : trade, environment and the future*, (Washington D.C. : Institute for International Economics, 1994), p.1 a.f.; *Ihid.*, p.1259 a.f.; T.Schoenbaum, "Agora : trade and environment" (1992) 86 American Journal of International Law, p.700 a.f.

¹⁴ CEI, *Trade and the Environment*, a briefing to the US Congress, imploring the recent attempts for greening international trade regimes such as NAFTA and GATT, and urging US Congressmen to "pursue free trade, not managed trade or protectionism under the guise of environmental protection".

¹⁵ As it is arguable that the *assimilative* capacity of natural resources varies from country to country, and thus proper pollution control strategies should vary.

For a definition of 'assimilative capacity', see *infra*. Chapter II, section 2.

¹⁶ D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.2 a.f.; D.Esty, *supra* note 12, p.1259 a.f.

will have to acknowledge the increasing economic as well as ecological interconnectedness of the globe¹⁸ that inevitably results in the conclusion that trade and environmental concerns are issues that are inextricably linked¹⁹. Consequently to this trend, free traders and environmentalists are increasingly forced to confront their concerns with the view of finding a middle-way, an equitable balance and a harmonious solution to some of their concerns.

As implicitly recognized in the arguments of both communities. trade policies and environmental policies often have an important impact and influence upon each other.

Trade and environmental concerns often interact in several ways. Trade policies have a considerable potential impact - positive as well as negative - on the environment : free trade tends to increase economic activity and economics of scale made possible by larger markets, thus worsening environmental problems by blindly expanding production and consumption;²⁰ but it can also serve as a means of improving the world's standard of living by generating more incomes - creating more interest for environmental concerns. and more funding for all kinds of environmental protection programmes.²¹ As explained *infra*. Chapter II. poverty

¹⁷ See *infra*, Chapter II.

¹⁸A country which trades with other countries becomes increasingly economically dependent on their trading partners' production systems and consumption patterns. Parallelly, the environment - and environmental problems - cannot be contained within the borders of states, thus creating regional and global issues when they "overflow". See T.Andersson *et al.*, *Trading with the environment : ecology, economics, institutions and policy*, (London : Earthscan, 1995), 1 a.f.; D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.17-23. According to a WTO study, the rising ratio of world trade output is the centerpiece of evidence on the pace of global integration and growing interdependence among nations. See *1995 International Trade : trends and statistics*, (Geneva : WTO, 1995), p.21. ¹⁹ D.Pearce, J.Warford, *World without end : economics, environment and sustainable development*, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1993), p.297 a.f.

²⁰ Ibid., p.299 a.f.

²¹ K.Anderson, R.Blackhurst, *supra* note 6, p.5 a.f.; S.Walker, *Environmental protection versus trade liberalization : finding the balance*, (Bruxelles : Publications des Facultés universitaires Saint-Louis, 1993), p.11-17.

constitutes one of the greatest dangers to the environment, by reducing the poor's scope of interest to the basic issue of survival, resulting in the fact that poor countries will deplete their natural resources more quickly because they are a (temporary!) source of revenue.²² Moreover, trade liberalization is said to be fundamentally directed toward more efficient use of natural resources, a core proposition of environmentalists.²³

Environmental policies of one country also can have effects - positive as well as negative - on environmental or trade policies of another country. by employing environmentally motivated taxes, subsidies, standards or other trade measures imposed on the economy of the other country²⁴. Trade opportunities can be affected negatively by too low an environmental protection standard, causing the depletion of natural resources - source of all economic activity. The potential impact of soil erosion, desertification, deforestation or species extinction on production and exports is clear. On the other hand, tough environmental protection standards may enhance competitiveness by stimulating research and development, and positioning industries favorably in the "green products" market (green consumerism). Finally, trade policies can play an important role in bringing about a degree of multilateral cooperation needed to deal with transborder environmental

Į.

1

²² This is the case for several countries in Asia, South America, and Africa - notably Brazil. Ethiopia, Zaire, Mauritania, Thailand, Indonesia - who cut their tropical rain forests for hard dollars. Côte d'Ivoire enjoyed a phenomenal economic expansion in the sixties and seventies as its rich tropical hardwood forests yielded export earnings of \$300 million (U.S.) a year. It became a development model for the rest of Africa, but as in other countries that did not practice sustainable forestry, clear-cutting decimated its forests; exports dropped to \$30 (!) million (U.S.) a year in the early nineties. The loss of this major source of employment and export earnings led to a steady decline of its economy. Within a half generation (1980-1994) income per head fell by half! See L.R.Brown, "Uncover the lifeboats!", in L.R.Brown, ed., *Saving the planet*. (London : Earhscan, 1991), p.173 a.f.; and L.R.Brown, "Nature's Limits", in L.R.Brown et al., eds., *The state of the world 1995*. (New York : Norton, 1995).

²³ D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.63.

²⁴ K.Anderson, R.Blackhurst, *supra* note 6, p.5 a.f.

problems : trade policies can increase the incentives - sanctions or positive ones (sticks and carrots) - to encourage international cooperation.

In conclusion, the debate between the trade and environment communities has shown the numerous short-term conflicts that pit the interests of the two communities against each other. But in the long run, many believe that the interests of both free trade and environmental protection coincide²⁵. The prospects for convergence of both concerns are intrinsically demonstrated and conceptualized by the notion of the world's Sustainable Development²⁶, including the need and potential for the balancing of trade as well as environment concerns in policy-making. To say it with the words of the Chairman of the (now defunct) GATT Group on Environmental Measures and International Trade (EMIT) :

"The work (...) has strengthened the conviction that there need not be, nor should be, any policy contradiction between upholding the values of the multilateral trading system on the one hand and acting <u>individually or collectively</u> for the protection of the environment and (...) sustainable development on the other."²⁷ (emphasis added).

Increasingly, trade is seen not as a cause of environmental degradation, but more as a "magnifier" of environmental concern. If the policies necessary for sustainable development are in place, trade will promote development and growth that is environmentally sustainable. Alternatively, if such policies are lacking,

²⁶ See *infra*, Chapter II, section 2.

į

(

²⁵ H.French, *Costly trade-offs : reconciling trade and the environment*. (Washington D.C. : Worldwatch Institute, 1993), p.9.

[&]quot;The conflict pits two otherwise worthy objectives against each other. We should not be forced to choose between environmental protection and free international trade: both values are essential to our future survival and well-being.": T.Schoenbaum, *supra* note 13, p.702.

²⁷ "Report by the chairman of the Group for Environmental Measures and International Trade (EMIT) presented to the Contracting Parties at their forty-ninth session", in *Basic instruments and selected documents, supp.40, 1992-1993 and 48th session*, (Geneva : GATT, 1995), p.77.

trade may contribute to environmental damage.²⁸ Consequently, trade needs to be *properly managed* - at the national as well as at the regional and global level - in order to avoid environmental destruction.²⁹ Taking into account that basically both communities pursue the same goal of a more efficient use of the world's limited resources³⁰, and generally the improvement of the quality of life and social welfare through worldwide cooperation³¹, an enormous potential for convergence between trade and environmental concerns becomes clear.

In economic terms, environment and trade depend largely on markets.

policies and institutional structures. Trade-related environmental degradation can be caused by market failure, policy failure or institutional failure.³² Market failure exists when markets fail to fully reflect environmental values³³. The presence of open-access resource exploitation, public environmental goods, incomplete information and imperfect competition all contribute to market failure³⁴. When markets do not account for environmental values, the costs of excessive resource

²⁸ International Trade 90-91, volume 1, (Geneva : GATT, 1992), p.20; Commission of the EC. Communication to the Council and the Parliament on Trade and Environment, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG I, February 1996), p.4-5.

²⁹ H.French, supra note 25, p.9.

³⁰ S.Lahey, *supra* note 5, p.196 a.f.; M.Tuchband, "The systematic environmental externalities of free trade : a call for wiser trade decisionmaking" (1995) 83 Georgetown law Journal, p.2102 a.f.; J.Jackson, "World trade rules and environmental policies : congruence or conflict?" (1992) 49 Washington & Lee Law Review, p.1227 a.f.

³¹ D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.65; K.Anderson, R.Blackhurst, *supra* note 6, p.3-21.

³² T.Andersson *et al.*, *supra* note 18, p.21 a.f.; M.Munasinghe, W.Cruz, *Economywide policies and the environment :lessons from experience*, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1995), p.2-3; *The economic appraisal of environmental projects and policies : a practical guide*, (Paris : OECD, 1995), p.12 a.f.

³³ By the failure of freely functioning markets to reflect the full social costs of production in the price of the product, or by the failure of the very existence of markets of many inputs and outputs. especially environmental goods and services. J.Pearce, J.Warford, *supra* note 19, p.173 a.f. Studies have tried to assign a value to environmental assets. See *The economic appraisal of environmental projects and policies : a practical guide*, (Paris : OECD, 1995), p.24-27.

³⁴ For an extended list of possible market and policy failures, see *The economic appraisal of environmental projects and policies : a practical guide, supra* note 33, p.12 a.f.

mismanagement remain *external* - hence externalities³⁵. They will be borne by the society unless sufficient policies are adopted to internalize these costs³⁶. While the goal of these policies is to ensure that polluters pay the full bill for their use of the environment - thus providing an economic incentive for these companies to look for more environment-friendly and eventually less-costly solutions -. uncertainties over who is responsible and what price is to be paid remain. In fact, our ability to price environmental resources is still relatively primitive.³⁷ Without these correction-policies however, our natural environment remains vulnerable to degradation and this market failure - failure of the market to internalize environmental costs - will remain, resulting into increased pollution by increased economic growth.³⁸

Consequently, markets need to be managed. However, these market management

policies may very well result in policy failures, which occurs when policies

required to correct for market failures over- or under-correct for the problem.³⁹

Inefficient policy interventions may include badly-aimed subsidies, price controls,

³⁵ E.Barbier *et al.*, "Economic policy and sustainable natural resource management". in J.Holmberg, ed., *Making development sustainable : redefining institutions, policy, and economics*. (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1992), p.65 a.f.

Externalities occur "when production or consumption inflicts involuntary costs or benefits on others, yet are not paid for by those who impose or receive them." See M.Tuchband. *supra* note 30, p.2105.

³⁶ Field and Olewiler provide for several incentive based policy tools to internalize these costs : liability laws, private property rights, moral suasion, environmental standards, emission taxes, abatement subsidies and the creation of a market for transferable discharge permits. See B.Field, N.Olewiler, *Environmental economics*, (New York : McGraw Hill Ryerson, 1995), p.5-10, 69-83, 186 a.f. For more details, see *infra*, the discussion of the economic incentives.

³⁷ D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.15-16; p.65-68; l.Goldin, L.Winters, eds., *The economics of sustainable development*, (Cambridge : OECD Centre for economic policy research, Cambridge University Press, 1995), p.128 a.f.

For an interesting view on the feasibility of environmental cost internalization (and the division between 'classical' and 'systemic' externalities), see M.Tuchband, *supra* note 30, p.2099 a.f. ³⁸ As a matter of economic theory, trade economists note that if environmental harms are properly 'priced', there is no reason to believe trade or economic growth will worsen pollution. If matched with proper environmental policies, free market forces and open trade can serve to protect the environment. See *Trade and environment report*, (Geneva : GATT, 1992), p.30 a.f.

physical output targets, exchange controls and ownership controls, or any other policy that basically keeps prices below the correct (internalized) market price. As said, underpricing generates inefficiency and as a result leads to excessive or wasteful use of natural resources.⁴⁰ Thus, government intervention should be aimed at getting the price right, namely up to the corrected market level. A specific form of policy failure (and closely related to market failure) is institutional. Important forms of institutional weaknesses with negative environmental consequences are the failure to establish (and enforce) clearly defined rights of access, tenure and control over productive resources (property rights), lack of participatory mechanisms and public accountability. and lack of clearly-mandated and well-funded institutions governing the issues at hand.⁴¹

Environmental degradation and the inefficient use of natural resources resulting from these failures, require intervention to properly price environmental resources and internalize environmental costs. Theoretically, several approaches could be used - and combined to optimize their efficiency.⁴²

The first approach for achieving environmental goals is based on <u>voluntary action</u>. "Green consumerism" is a voluntary action plan whereby consumer preferences and values create a 'market pull' upon companies for cleaner products and

³⁹ E.Barbier et al., supra note 35, p.66 a.f.

⁴⁰ See for a detailed description of government interventions in several sectors, and their reasons, D.Pearce, J.Warford, *supra* note 19, p.173 a.f.

 ⁴¹ R.Sharp, "Organizing for change : people-power and the role of institutions", in J.Holmberg, ed., *Making development sustainable*, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1992), p.39-64; E.Barbier *et al., supra* note 35, p.71 a.f.; D.Pearce, J.Warford, *supra* note 19, p.235-258; H.Ward, "Trade and environment in the Round - and after" (1994) 6 Journal of Environmental Law, p.271 a.f.
⁴² Economic Commission for Europe. United Nations Environment Programme, *Guidelines on integrated environmental management in countries in transition*, (New York : United Nations. 1994), p.24 a.f.

processes. This movement is on the rise especially in Europe and North-America.⁴³ Closely related to green consumerism - and in fact a helpful device for it - is the concept of "ecolabelling", which has received considerable theoretical attention (e.g. in the GATT) and practical application (e.g. in the German, Canadian, U.S. and E.U. labeling programmes).⁴⁴

The second approach is often used and thus quite a traditional one : the <u>command</u> <u>and control approach</u>, in which the national government - through legislation and regulation - sets certain standards relating to products, processes and technology used in order to protect the environment.⁴⁵ These measures aim at influencing environmental behavior by regulation and prohibition : certain practices may be banned by law, others may be tolerated but subject to ceilings or permits. They operate indirectly on prices (for instance by affecting indirectly the costs and benefits of production).⁴⁶ They help producers to anticipate clearly defined emission levels, and can accelerate technical innovation, but are often criticized for their lack of flexibility and risk of arbitrary setting.⁴⁷ At the national level, this approach is very common.⁴⁸

í

⁴³ See for details concerning the market-impact and reasons of success of green consumerism : N.Robbins, A.Trisoglio, "Restructuring industry for sustainable development", in J.Holmberg, ed., *Making development sustainable*, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1992), p.165 a.f.: T.Andersson et al., supra note 18, p.18-19; B.Hull, A.St-Pierre, *The market and the environment : using marketbased approaches to achieve environmental goals*, (Ottawa : Business and Environment Research Program, The Conference Board of Canada, 1990), p.1 a.f.

⁴⁴ N.Robins, A.Trisoglio, *supra* note 43, p.170; D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.134-135, p.171-172; Commission of the EC, *ecolabeling schemes : EC non-paper*, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996).

⁴⁵ These instruments tend to be mere control instruments, regarding only the result of the polluting activity, the end-of-the-line product.

⁴⁶ The economical appraisal of environmental projects and policies, supra note 32, p.159-161.

⁴⁷ International economic instruments and climate change, (Paris : OECD, 1993), p.14-15.

⁴⁸ For an interesting study of the feasibility for international environmental standard-setting (namely in the International Standards Organization, especially its ISO 14000 series), see N.Roth-Arriaza, "Shifting the point of regulation : the International Organization for Standardization and global lawmaking on trade and the environment" (1995) 22 Ecology Law Quarterly, p.479 a.f.

More and more, public environmental regulation around the world shifts away from this command-and control mechanism to the market-incentive based strategies⁴⁹. The same environmental standards can be enforced through economic incentive systems designed to get polluters to alter the technologies they use to manufacture products, or even to alter the products they produce, and to get consumers to realize that polluting products have higher market prices than nonpolluting ones.⁵⁰ Economic instruments try to persuade people, firms and states to adopt environmentally-friendly behavior by changing their economic incentives to do so⁵¹. They allow an element of choice, and operate directly on costs and prices. Moreover, they offer advantages such as flexibility, choice, and encouragement of (green) research and development.⁵² Economic incentive instruments include charges and taxes (especially the so-called *pigovian taxes*)⁵³, subsidies, deposit refund schemes, market creation for transferable emission permits⁵⁴, structural adjustment programmes⁵⁵, property rights⁵⁶ and other mechanisms such as financial and technological transfers⁵⁷ and issue linkage⁵⁸.

However, standard-setting on the international level appears to be difficult, and moreover, these ISO standards would be designed to be voluntary.

Another problem is the possibility that international standards might be set at the level of the lowest common denominator. For a factual example involving the Codex Alimentarius Commission, see K.Steininger, *Trade and environment : the regulatory controversy and a theoretical and empirical assessment of unilateral environmental action*, (Heidelberg : Physica-Verlag, 1995), p.10-11.

⁴⁹ N.Roth-Arriaza, supra note 48, p.486.

⁵⁰ D.Pearce, J.Warford, supra note 19, p.202 a.f.

⁵¹ T.Andersson et al., supra note 18, p.21 a.f.

⁵² The economic appraisal of environmental projects and policies : a practical guide, supra note 32, p.161-166.

⁵³ See for more details on pigovian taxes, *International economic instruments and climate change*, supra note 47, p.14-16, p.45 a.f.; *Environmental taxes in OECD countries*, (Paris : OECD, 1995); D.Pearce, J.Warford, supra note 19, p.205-214.

⁵⁴ International economic instruments and climate change, supra note 47, p.14-44; D.Pearce.

J.Warford, *supra* note 19, p.205-214.

⁵⁵ The economic appraisal of environmental projects and policies : a practical guide, supra note 32, p.164-166.

These instruments, representing the three approaches towards environmental protection, can be used in a positive way (to incite environmentally friendly behavior), and as a negative sanction (as a disincentive for environmentally harming behavior), on the national level (protecting the national environment) and on the international level (correcting environmental problems that are regional or global in nature).⁵⁹ As Chapter II will show, environmental problems are often trans-national in nature, thus requiring a form of international cooperation to find acceptable and efficient solutions to the problem. The international consensus however, necessary to build multilateral cooperation on regional and global issues is often obstructed by different interpretations of scientific evidence, by different national (or sectoral) priorities, by disagreement upon proposed inter-country (or inter-sector) allocation of responsibility for environmental damage⁶⁰ and by free-ride efforts of countries (wishing to profit on the efforts of others).⁶¹ To increase international cooperation, these obstacles therefore should be eliminated (sanctions or sticks), and the incentives to participate should be increased (carrots). Firstly, carrots remain a powerful and

ł,

⁵⁶ S.Hanna, M.Munasinghe, eds., Property rights and the environment : social and ecological issues, (Washington D.C. : Beijer International Institute of Ecological Economics & World Bank, 1995); Project and policy appraisal : integrating economics and environment, (Paris : OECD, 1994); D.Pearce, J.Warford, supra note 19, p.235 a.f.

⁵⁷ Promoting cleaner production in developing countries : the role of development cooperation, (Paris : OECD, 1995).

⁵⁸ One of the most remarkable and prominent instances of international issue linkage is the 'debtfor-nature swaps' idea. See L.Susskind, *Environmental diplomacy : negotiating more effective global agreements*, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1994), p.82 a.f.; H.French, *supra* note 25, p.23-24; *World debt tables 1996 : external finance for developing countries*, vol.1, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1996), p.87-92.

⁵⁹ See R.Blackhurst, A.Subramanian, "Promoting multilateral cooperation on the environment", in K.Anderson, R.Blackhurst, eds., *The greening of world trade issues*, (New York : Harvester Wheatsheaf, 1992), p.247 a.f.; and *infra*, Chapter II.

⁶⁰ See *infra*, Chapter II for more details on the principle of state-responsibility in international environmental law. A good example is Brazil, Indonesia, Malaysia, Zaire. They view the preservation of their tropical forests as a service rendered to other countries, and accordingly want to receive more financial assistance in exchange for these services.

mainly unopposed tool to increase cooperation : access to markets, to funding, to natural resources and to environmental technology and knowledge⁶² are powerful incentives.⁶³ Such carrots should be used - not just to be nice to other countries, but more fundamentally because they produce voluntary behavior - a key issue in international cooperation.

Secondly, the use of trade sanctions (sticks) to increase environmental cooperation is much more debated and often-opposed. Some argue they are much less likely to produce voluntary behavior, they engender trade distorting effects, and are thus less desirable and effective in the international context.⁶⁴ Others⁶⁵ on the contrary argue in favor of the use of trade sanctions to promote international cooperation to protect the environment.⁶⁶ They argue that trade measures can be used to (i) persuade a country to join international cooperation efforts for environmental

ŝ

⁶¹ R.Blackhurst, A.Subramanian, supra note 59, p.246 a.f.

⁶² Through access to commodity agreements, environmental trade preferences, financial assistance programmes, development assistance, North-South partnerships, improved management of resources, debt relief, new sources of finance, etc. See D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.189-203; J.Holmberg, "Financing sustainable development", in J.Holmberg, ed., *Making development sustainable*, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1992), p.306 a.f.

⁶³ A recent OECD study once again stressed the importance of clean technology transfer, participation and information, education, green investment funds, and the development of wellfunctioning domestic markets for international cooperation in the environmental realm - and in North-South relations. See *Promoting cleaner production in developing countries : the role of development cooperation*, (Paris : OECD, 1995), p.11 a.f.

⁶⁴ R.Blackhurst, A.Subramanian, *supra* note 59, p.260 a.f.; D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.185-192; *International trade 90-91*, vol.1, (Geneva : GATT, 1992), p.21: K.Steininger, *supra* note 48, p.18, 51.

⁶⁵ Such as H.Chang. He argues against a "carrots only" view, for instance as described in the GATT report of 1992, because the use of carrots alone is likely to create perverse incentives (namely countries would pollute *in order* to get carrots), and sticks are an effective deterrent to excessive exploitation of the environment. Instead, he argues for a simultaneous use of both carrots and sticks in order to increase the efficiency of international solutions. See H.Chang, "An economic analysis of trade measures to protect the global environment" (1995) 83 Georgetown Law Journal, p.2131 a.f; *International Trade 90-91*, vol.1. (Geneva : GATT, 1992). And K.Steininger, arguing for the use of trade sanctions in cases where trade itself contributes directly to environmental problems, and where the geographic scope of the problem requires sanctions of this kind. K.Steininger, *supra* note 48, p.51-58, 174-176.

⁶⁶ Trade sanctions, such as imports and exports restrictions, can be adopted to safeguard the domestic environment, as a policy tool to enforce international environmental agreements (protecting global resources), as controls on hazardous products, technologies and waste exports.

protection, (ii) deny a country benefits for failure to follow an internationallyestablished environmental norm. (iii) prevent a county's action from undermining the effectiveness of other countries' environmental efforts. and (iv) remove economic incentives for damaging activities.⁶⁷ Consequently. a combination of carrots and sticks is likely to increase efficiency in international law.⁶⁸

Although the best long-time response is multilateral cooperation on baseline environmental standards, this approach is likely to be achieved only within certain specific areas (e.g. ozone layer depletion). Most of the time, unilateral action will be the only feasible option.⁶⁹ Although these actions risk degrading international understanding and cooperation⁷⁰, many authors note that unilateral trade measures can be useful in progressing on international environmental agreements (e.g. in areas such as whaling, hazardous waste, endangered species and driftnet fishing).⁷¹ Moreover, one could imagine the case of *multilateral unilateralism* : cases where the imposition of environmental trade measures appear somewhat more unilateral, but still have some elements of multilateralism⁷² : the unilateral trade measure is backed up by the multilaterally

and as controls questioning the adequacy of environmental controls and standards in other countries. See T.Schoenbaum, *supra* note 13, p.703-705.

⁶⁷ M.Tuchband, supra note 30, p.2100.

⁶⁸ See *infra*, section 3, the discussion of the Montreal Protocol and other international environmental agreements.

⁶⁹ The US and the EU often pursue their environmental policies unilaterally. See D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.142 a.f.

For a study of unilateral declarations, and their value in general International Law, see D.Kennedy, *International legal structures*, (Baden-Baden : Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft, 1987), p.54-66.

⁷⁰ E.g. E.U.Petersmann. "International trade law and international environmental law" (1993) 27 Journal of World Trade, p.43 a.f.

⁷¹ D.Esty, Wirth, S.Charnovitz, T.Anderson, M.Schlagenhof, E.Hudec, S.Murase, L.Brinkhorst, A. van Buitenen. Charnovitz notes that "treaties do not appear like magic spirits. They must be laboriously negotiated ...". See *infra*, Bibliography.

⁷² Such as the case of US trade restrictions on Norway for violation of the International Whaling Commission's moratorium; the standard (no whale killing) had been set multilaterally, but the trade measures were imposed unilaterally.

agreed principle that causing global or transboundary environmental harm is unacceptable.⁷³

Of course, pure multilateral approaches to global issues remain by far superior.

SECTION 2 : TRADE REGIMES

The current multilateral and regional trade regimes reflect clearly this difficult relation between trade and the environment⁷⁴. The GATT/WTO, 'the legal and institutional foundation of the multilateral trading regime'⁷⁵, was established on January 1, 1995, as the embodiment of the Uruguay Round results⁷⁰. The WTO Agreements include the GATT 1994, along with all the ancillary agreements, as modified, relating to the GATT 1947, namely GATS, TBT, SPS, Trips, Understanding on dispute settlement : in total 29 texts.⁷⁷ The most relevant texts to the trade-environment debate will be shortly discussed.⁷⁸

Ę

⁷³ S.Charnovitz, "Free trade, fair trade, green trade : defogging the debate" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.459 a.f.; See *infra*, Chapter II, the principle of state-responsibility.

⁷⁴ Several authors argue that multilateral trading regimes such as the GATT/WTO can offer an *institutional contribution* to environmental politics (E.U.Petersman calls this the *constitutional function* of the GATT). See D.Esty, *supra* note 13. The GATT/WTO regime represents several important potential advantages for the purposes for environmental protection policies : worldwide membership, compliance, increasingly influential dispute settlement mechanisms, and international cooperation.

⁷⁵ WTO : trading with the future, (Geneva : WTO, 1995), p.1.

⁷⁶ Charnovitz notes that GATT/WTO governs 'only trade restrictions' rather than 'world trade'. See S.Charnovitz, *supra* note 73, p.466-467.

⁷⁷ H.Chang, *supra* note 65, p.2133.

⁷⁸ Several texts contain reference to the environment : WTO Agreement (preamble states Sustainable Development!), Agreement on Agriculture, TBT, SPS, GATS, Trips, Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing measures. See F.Weiss, "The GATT 1994 : environmental sustainability of trade or environmental protection sustainable by trade?", in K.Ginther *et al.*, eds., *Sustainable Development and good governance*, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995), p.398 a.f.

Many authors⁷⁹ argue that the GATT rules permit a broad latitude in pursuing environmental goals. In fact, GATT⁸⁰ does provide large possibilities for countries to pursue their *domestic* environmental policies, as long as the nondiscrimination strictures of the multilateral trading system are met.⁸¹ But environmentalists argue that the present rules (and their sometimes narrow interpretation) don't go far enough.

The heart of the existing trade regime is the non-discrimination requirement of article I and III : they oblige parties to treat imports from any GATT party no less favorably than other "like" imports (Most Favored Nation requirement), and no less favorably - after border duties are paid - than domestic "like" products (National Treatment requirement). This permits countries to use trade measures to protect their own domestic environmental standards. provided the restrictions imposed are aimed at *products*. not production processes.⁸²

Article XI prohibits the use of quantitative restrictions (quotas) on imports and

exports.83

However, the GATT itself provides for exceptions : environmental regulations who have a discriminatory effect (in regard to art. I and III) can be defended by

⁸¹ International trade 90-91, supra note 28, p.19 a.f.; T.Schoenbaum, supra note 12, p.713.

⁸² For more details concerning non-discrimination and 'like' products, see M.Schlagenhof, "Trade measures based on environmental processes and production methods" (1995) 29 Journal of World Trade, p.123 a.f.; E.U.Petersmann, *supra* note 70, p.43 a.f.; S.Charnovitz, "The GATT panel decision on automobile taxes" (1994) 17 International Environment Reporter. p.921-925.
⁸³ Certain exceptions apply. See J.McDonald, "Greening the GATT : harmonizing free trade and environmental protection in the new world order" (1993) 23 Environmental Law, p.404-405; D.Gerardin, R.Stewardson, "Trade and environment : some lessons from *Castlemaine Tooheys* (Australia) and *Danish Bottles* (European Community)" (1995) 44 International and Comparative law Quarterly, p.65.

⁷⁹ Like Schoenbaum, Charnovitz, Jackson, and the GATT secretariat itself.

⁸⁰ For a detailed description of the multilateral trading system and its environmental awareness, see S.Murase, "Perspectives from international economic law on transnational environmental issues" (1995), to be published in Receuil des Cours. The Hague Academie of International Law. 1995. p.46 a.f.

reference to the exceptions provided in article XX (b) and (g), or by reference to the Standards Code and certain Uruguay Round innovations.

Article XX allows countries to deviate from their basic GATT obligations for certain public policy goals. but under very strict conditions⁸⁴. Efficient environmental policies - with trade measures as last resort - have to meet the following criteria : (i) preambular requirements of non-arbitrary and non-unjustifiable discrimination allows discrimination up to some extent : the purpose of the measure must justify the distinct policy. and must not be a disguised (i.e. protectionist) restriction to trade; (ii) they must enter the scope of the article. This has been narrowly interpreted by GATT panels⁸⁵: (iii) they must be *necessary* or *related* to the stated objectives, again narrowly interpreted by the dispute resolution panels⁸⁶: (iv) they must not be unilateral extraterritorial actions.⁸⁷ Again, the most fundamental problem with article XX interpretation is that it makes the legitimacy of environmental regulations turn on what is produced (products). not on *how* it is produced (production).⁸⁸

Certain types of environmental measures can be justified under the Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade (TBT), the former Standards Code. Like GATT article

⁸⁴ J.Dunoff summarizes the stringent positioning of GATT article XX conditions as restricting the use of trade measures to protect the global commons, prohibiting trade restrictions on production processes, forbidding the use of unfair trade statutes to address environmental issues, and constraining trade policy as a tool for environmental protection. See J.Dunoff, "Institutional misfits : the GATT, the ICJ and trade-environment disputes" (1994) 15 Michigan Journal of International Law, p.1052-1063.

⁸⁵ S.Walker, *supra* note 21, p.55 a.f.; J.Kirton, S.Richardson, eds., *Trade, environment and competitiveness* (National Round Table on environment and economy, Ottawa, 1992), p.190 a.f.; D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.46 a.f.

⁸⁶ See supra, note 85.

⁸⁷ D.Esty, *supra* note 13. p.44 a.f.

⁸⁸ However, we should note here that the concept of "like product" might be undergoing changes. The recent GATT panel report of June 19, 1992 on US measures affecting alcoholic and malt beverages (i.e. beer), made it possible to distinguish a product for health reasons, upon its alcoholic content. See S.Murase, *supra* note 80, p.59-60, and the references in footnote 82.

XX, the code recognizes the precedence of public policy goals over free trade under certain circumstances : environmental regulations must not be more traderestrictive than necessary to fulfill a legitimate objective, are revisable if circumstances change, and must be based on relevant international standards. except where these would be ineffective or inappropriate means for the fulfillment of the legitimate objectives pursued.⁸⁹

í

The Uruguay Round results also refine the rules relating to food. plant and animal health standards - known as Sanitary and PhytoSanitary measures (SPS) - granting each nation the right to determine its own level of protection of human or animal or plant health, as long as the measures are not "arbitrary or unjustifiable distinctions". SPS standards must be necessary. based on scientific principles and on a risk assessment, and must be avoided if there is another measure reasonable available which is significantly less restrictive to trade⁹⁰.

But as S.Charnovitz notes, neither the TBT nor SPS agreements deal with import bans aimed at safeguarding the global commons or a foreign environment. Such unilateral measures remain GATT-illegal, although more and more voices are raised to promote such actions.⁹¹

The narrow interpretations of article XX and the Codes concerning productproduction standards, scope, unilateral action, extraterritorial action, and the dispute resolution procedure itself - in short the general subordination of environmental concerns to trade objectives - makes the present multilateral trading

⁸⁹ Articles 2.2, 2.3, and 2.4 of TBT: D.Gerardin, R.Stewardson, *supra* note 83, p.65; S.Charnovitz, *supra* note 73, p.479-480.

⁹⁰ Paragraph 6-20 of SPS: D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.50: D.Gerardin, R.Stewardson, *supra* note 83, p.65; S.Charnovitz, *supra* note 73, p.479-480.

⁹¹ See S.Charnovitz. *supra* note 73, p.459 a.f.; and the discussion *supra*, in section 1 of this Chapter.; T.Andersson *et al.*, *supra* note 18, p.81 a.f.
system in many views ill-equipped to address legitimate trade-related environmental concerns, lacking the balance necessary to adjudicate the relative merits of environmental and trade policies.⁹² The GATT/WTO must be updated to reflect environmental considerations⁹³.⁹⁴

A more balanced multilateral trading regime could be reached with the following procedural changes⁹⁵. Firstly, provisions for *environmental assessments* could make trade negotiators more aware of environmental issues and concerns on their agenda. Second, *openness, information dissemination* and *public participation* in trade negotiations and in the overall WTO structure would improve the public understanding of the policy-making process - and the policy! - and would generally improve the legitimacy of the process. Third, this openness should also be applied to the dispute settlement process : closed-door reviews by panels of trade experts and secrecy do not produce the needed public support or legitimacy.⁹⁶ Lastly, environmental staffing of the WTO and its committees. To go further than this procedural package, a more complicated reform is needed in order to green the GATT's substantive rules, adding environmental protection as a tool

⁹² E.U.Petersmann, "Settlement of international environmental disputes in GATT and the EC", in N.Blokker, S.Muller, eds., *Towards more effective supervision by international organizations*, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1994), p.173 a.f.

⁹³ A.St-Pierre, *Industrial competitiveness, trade and the environment*, (Ottawa : Business and Environment Research Programm, Conference Board of Canada, 1993), p.9 a.f.; D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.70-71;

⁹⁴ Because the environment was not part of the charge laid out at Punta del Este in 1986, the Uruguay Round negotiations did not advance the trade and environment agenda very far. It will take another round (Green Round) to proceed. However, such a Green Round could last very long before finding consensus since the issues to be addressed are complicated and politically charged. ⁹⁵ J.McDonald, *supra* note 83 p.462 a.f.: S.Charnovitz, *supra* note 73, p.468-470; J.Schultz, "The GATT/WTO Committee on trade and environment - toward environmental reform" (1995) 89 American Journal of International Law, p.433.

⁹⁶ Other issues in greater openness towards environmental concerns is a shift of the burden of proof (on the challenger of an environmental measure), and provisions for environmental expertise in dispute resolution panels (the Uruguay Round amendments make some small steps in this direction by giving panels optional access to experts, but do not make it a precondition).

in raising the quality and standards of human life and public welfare.⁹⁷ The many proposed ways to reform the trading regime's rules include interpretative rulings⁹⁸. re-interpretations by dispute panels⁹⁹, waivers¹⁰⁰, subsidiary agreements¹⁰¹, and amendments to the GATT¹⁰².

As we will see *infra* in the next section, the express recognition of international environmental agreements remains a key issue on the agenda of GATT reform. An express 'blessings' from the GATT/WTO would certainly clarify the situation. The addition of the word 'environment' to GATT article XX (and to the GATS) should also be considered¹⁰³, as well as restructuring its balancing test.¹⁰⁴

⁹⁷ D.Esty, supra note 13, p.205 a.f.; E.U.Petersmann, supra note 92, p.173 a.f.

⁹⁸ Interpretations of existing rules (e.g. GATT article XX) can be issued by the Contracting Parties. However, one has to remind that - when decided against the backdrop of the current GATT obligations - the exceptions always will be construed restrictively.

⁴⁹ Reinterpretations of existing rules and practices by dispute panels - which could be more environmentally staffed and use the reversed burden of proof - could be a flexible method to broaden the scope of article XX and its balancing tests, to clarify the bases on which environmental trade measures may be used to regulate production processes, and whether unilateral and extraterritorial action could be used. J.Schultz, supra note 95, p.433.

¹⁰⁰ Obligation waivers (GATT art. XXV) offer the possibility to lift existing rules and obligations. but cannot create new obligations. Moreover, they have to be taken by a two-thirds majority of the votes cast. A more fundamental objection to the use of waivers for accommodating environmental concerns in the trading regime, is that it would mean that no environmental concern could be assured of consistency with the trading regime unless the Contracting Parties had agreed to a waiver, thus confirming that environmental policies are at the mercy of free trade policies. J.McDonald, supra note 83, p.463-464.

¹⁰¹ Typically, when Contracting Parties recognize a deficiency or flaw in the existing rules, they draft separate agreements that operate alongside the GATT. Side-agreements or codes could result in new obligations, but such a code is only binding on the parties that accept it. Already-existing codes could be used to integrate more environmental concerns (such as the SPS and TBT agreements, and the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing measures). or new codes - such as a Green Code (developing guidelines for ecolabeling, packaging requirements, investment, etc.) or a Code on GATT article XX - could be concluded. However, since they operate within the GATT framework, their utility for environmental purposes is limited by the terms of the GATT itself. T.Schoenbaum, supra note 13, p.726-727; J.Schultz, supra note 95, p.433; J.McDonald. supra note 83, p.465.

¹⁰² Amendments (GATT article XXX) could include changes to articles I and III (to include production processes in the "like product" concept), article VI (to allow for environmental subsidies), and article XX (to allow for extra-territorial action). They are however very difficult to achieve, since they require a stringent majority of unanimity (article I, II. XXX) or two-thirds majority (while not binding the parties who disagree). This option, along with the theoretical option of replacing the trading system by a brand new treaty, is the least feasible to attain. J.McDonald, supra note 83, p.465-468. See e.g. infra, Chapter III, section 1, C.

¹⁰³ S.Murase, *supra* note 80, p.74-77. See *infra*, Chapter III, section 1, C.

The multilateral trading regime's very existence and ability to contribute to the management of international economic affairs depends on its perceived legitimacy, which in turn depends upon an ongoing political judgment in major trading countries that the regime is upholding important public values and balancing appropriately competing policy goals¹⁰⁵. This is not only true on the global level, but also at the regional level. Various regional trading agreements have in fact taken the lead in incorporating environmental protection concerns, thus proving the potential for integrating and balancing competing policy goals such as trade and environment concerns.

i

ί

The value of regional agreements lies in the fact (or belief) that a few likeminded countries might achieve higher levels of international cooperation on trade liberalization or environmental protection regionally, than those attainable through a more global multilateral process.¹⁰⁶ The North American Free Trade Agreement and its side-agreements, and the European Union both hold the pursuit of sustainable development and strengthened environmental policies to be key goals

For a concise description of the presence of environmental concerns in the various WTO agreements, see W.Benedek, "Implications of the principle of sustainable development, human rights and good governance for the GATT/WTO", in K.Ginthers *et al.*, eds., *Sustainable development and good governance*, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995), p.275-286; and F.Weiss, *supra* note 78, p.382-401.

¹⁰⁴ See D.Esty's suggestions in D.Esty, *supra* note 13, p.114 a.f. The 'necessary' condition as mandating the least GATT-inconsistent policy choice fails to give sufficient deference to the judgments of national policy-makers concerning environmental goals and how to pursue them. Esty suggests to interpret this 'necessary' condition. meaning that policies should "not clearly be disproportionate in relation to the putative environmental benefits and in light of equally effective policy alternatives that are reasonable available".

¹⁰⁵ A sense that GATT/WTO's rules have lost their necessary balance and are not sufficiently attentive to environmental considerations could therefore be damaging to GATT's credibility - and legitimacy.

¹⁰⁶ States with approximately similar policy concerns are more likely to cooperate.

A lot of regional trade agreements have emerged, up to the point that some 45 % of world trade flows now take place under preferential regional regimes. R.Green, *The enterprise for the Americas initiative : issues and prospects for a FTA in the Western hemisphere*, (Westport : Praeger, 1993), p.7 a.f.

of the agreements, on a par with liberalizing trade.¹⁰⁷ The main difference between these 2 regional trade regimes, is undoubtedly their institutional ('constitutional') structure : whereas the EU consists of a supranational commitment between 15 member states - with Community law taking direct precedence over national legislation, and the possibility of citizen appeal to Community institutions -, the NAFTA on the other hand is clearly not a supranational, but a mere intergovernmental arrangement, a tripartite agreement, based on the sovereign equality of the three parties. Where the member states of the EU may assign tasks to EU institutions and give them ultimate decision-making authority, the parties to NAFTA talks are restricted to designing trilateral mechanisms for intergovernmental cooperation. This institutional design has of course an impact on how the EU and NAFTA will be able to deal with the trade-environment issues : the EU structure permits to go further into the reconciliation of these concerns, whereas the ability of the NAFTA countries in this will be limited by the nature of the NAFTA package itself.¹⁰⁸

The NAFTA package enshrined environmental concerns in several ways. First of all, one of the most important examples of integrating environmental and trade issues was the high level of public participation and information during the negotiations.¹⁰⁹ Second, the NAFTA itself deals with trade-related environmental

ŧ

¹⁰⁷ An achievement that has yet to be matched by the GATT/WTO! See *supra*, and H.French. *supra* note 25, p.51.

¹⁰⁸ J.Gilbraeth, J.Tonra, "The environment : unwelcome guest at the free trade party". in D.Baer. S.Weintraub, eds., *The NAFTA debate : grappling with unconventional issues*, (London : Boulder, 1994), p.53-89; A. de Mestral, "Trade-related functions of NACE : building on NAFTA", in S.Richardson, ed., *Shaping consensus : the NACE and NAFTA*. (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1993).p.13-16.

¹⁰⁹ Participation by the environmental ministries, environmental groups (NGO's), sub-federal entities (who will have to implement part of the agreements), and the public; and through environmental assessments (however partial). See R.Housman, "The North American Free Trade Agreement's lessons for reconciling trade and the environment" (1994) 30 Stanford Journal of

concerns under several headings.¹¹⁰ Third, environmentalists' concerns over GATT dispute resolution procedures (no environmental expertise required, international (environmental) law not taken into account, no public participation, and the burden of proof often on the country defending the environmental measure) were included in the NAFTA dispute settlement procedure : in disputes among NAFTA parties concerning international environmental agreements named in article 104, or concerning measures taken under Chapter 7B or 9, the party has the right to have the case heard exclusively by a NAFTA panel (rather than a GATT panel). This provision ensures the applicability of more environmentally sensitive rules and procedures. In addition, the burden of proof is shifted toward the country *challenging* environmental standards, and allows panels to obtain advice from scientific experts.¹¹¹ Despite these advances, the dispute resolution process fails to provide greater public participation and transparency in trade disputes. No public involvement - neither from the general public nor from NGO's

International Law, p.384 a.f.; P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu, The environment and NAFTA : understanding and implementing the new continental law, (Washington D.C.: Island Press, 1996). p.24 a.f. However, Mark Ritchie notes that the participatory process could have been far more complete since public participation started quite late (after the NAFTA deal itself was concluded, the public urged the negotiation of the side-agreements on environment and social issues). M.Ritchie, "Democratizing the trade policy-making process : the lessons of NAFTA and their implications for the GATT" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.749 a.f. ¹¹⁰ Namely in the preamble (reference to Sustainable Development), in the investment provisions (pollution haven clause), in article 104 explicitly recognizing bilateral and 3 important Multilateral Environmental Agreements (concerning ozone depletion, hazardous waste movements and trade in endangered species), and in Chapter 7B and 9, pertaining to Sanitary and PhytoSanitary measures and Standards-Related Measures, and their impact on domestic environmental regulations and standards. Given the nature of this thesis research, this is only an introduction to the NAFTA agreement. For more details, see P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu, supra note 109; P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu, "NAFTA's green opportunities" (1994) 1 Journal of Environmental CoPractice, p.5 a.f.; R.Housman, Reconciling trade and the environment : lessons from the NAFTA. (Geneva : UNEP, 1994); R.Housman, supra note 109, p.394 a.f.; D.Magraw, "NAFTA's repercussions : is green trade possible?" (1994) 32 Environment; T.Andersson et al., supra note 18, p. 104 a.f. ¹¹¹ According to article 5 and Chapter 20 of NAFTA (article 2014 - 2015), the Free Trade Commission may call on technical advisors or create such working groups, and the Dispute Resolution Panel may seek information and technical advice from any person or body, or may request a written report from a Scientific Review Board on any issue concerning the environment.

(

- in the process' hearings or consultations is allowed. It seems that NAFTA actually seeks to consolidate secrecy and close-door processes.¹¹²

į

To address general environmental issues that were not trade-related, the North American Agreement on Environmental Cooperation was negotiated as a sideagreement of NAFTA. The parties commit themselves to tri-national cooperation on environmental issues, public participation and transparency, upwards harmonization and high levels of environmental protection, and most importantly the effective enforcement of their domestic environmental regulations.¹¹³ Moreover, the NAAEC establishes the <u>institutional structure</u> for regional cooperation on trade-environment related issues, in the Commission on Environmental Cooperation.¹¹⁴ This CEC could become one of the fora where trade and environment concerns could interact towards a more harmonious and integrated balance.¹¹⁵

The European Community - created in 1957 by the Treaty of Rome - has demonstrated through the balancing of fundamental principles, how the law can provide a structure for the successful resolution of trade, environment and

¹¹² R.Grinspun, M.Cameron, *The political economy of North American free trade*, (Montreal-Kingston : McGill - Queen's University Press, 1993).

¹¹³ P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu, *supra* note 109; P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu, *supra* note 110, p.10 a.f.; R.Housman, *supra* note 110; R.Housman, *supra* note 109, p.412 a.f.

The underlying and predominant issue of the side agreement is trilateral cooperation on these matters. Sarah Richardson, CEC programme manager NAFTA / Environment, views such international cooperation as the most important task in balancing trade and environment concerns. Interview with S.Richardson on August 12, 1996, at the CEC Secretariat, Montreal.

¹¹⁴ Its roles and functions will be discussed *infra*, Chapter III, section 1.

¹¹⁵ For instance, the CEC Secretariat publishes regularly reports, surveys and papers studying the impact of trade, trade liberalization and the NAFTA agreement on the environment. These reports study claims, arguments, analytic models and evaluation frameworks. They generally indicate that it is "critical to monitor macro-economic issues related to trade liberalization on an ongoing basis, in order to identify trade-induced environmental effects". See CEC, *NAFTA effects : a survey of recent attempts to model the environmental effects of trade*, CEC Environment and Trade series no.1, (Montreal : CEC, 1996); CEC, *NAFTA effects : potential NAFTA effects : claims and arguments 1991-1994*, CEC Environment and Trade series no.2, (Montreal : CEC, 1996); J.Kirton.

development concerns. The Community initially focused on trade liberalization: environmental concerns were only gradually taken into account during the following decades.¹¹⁶

The main objective of the Community, establishment of the Common Market and harmonization of the economic policies of the member states, are to be achieved through the four basic 'freedoms' of the EC : free movement of goods, services, capital and persons.¹¹⁷ The liberalization of goods was a long time the highest priority of the EC, and the articles 30 to 36 of the Treaty of Rome were interpreted by the European Court of Justice on several occasions, thus allowing broad exceptions for domestic environmental regulations.¹¹⁸

Besides these exceptions to free movement of goods (art.36 and jurisprudence),

environmental protection considerations were not taken into account until 1967.

From that moment on, community legislation¹¹⁹ on the environment has come

forth (under harmonization article 100, and the residual power article 235)¹²⁰. The

Single European Act of 1986 contains specific articles concerning the protection

of the environment, recognizing the Community's responsibility for the

ŧ

J.Soloway, Assessing NAFTA's environmental effects : dimensions of a framework and the NAFTA regime, CEC NAFTA effects working paper no.1, (Montreal : CEC, 1996).

¹¹⁶ See J.Cameron *et al.*, "Relationship between environmental agreements and instruments related to trade and development", in P.Sand, ed., *The effectiveness of international environmental agreements*, (Cambridge : Grotius Publications, 1992), p.474 a.f., B.Burns, "Everything's gone green : a brief guide on sources of information of EU environmental law and policy" (1994) 25 The law Librarian, p.61 a.f.: T.Andersson *et al.*, *supra* note 18, p.99 a.f.: E.U.Petersmann, *supra* note 92, p.165 a.f.; and the references in the footnotes *infra*.

¹¹⁷ Article 3, Treaty of Rome.

¹¹⁸ See for more details, S.Walker, *supra* note 21, p.23 a.f.; L.Kramer, *E.C.Treaty and Environmental Law*, (London : Sweet & Maxwell, 1995), p.41 a.f.; D.Gerardin, R.Stewardson, *supra* note 83, p.41 a.f.; e.g. the cases *EEC Commission v. Italy: Walloon waste* case; *Cassis de Dijon* case; and others.

¹¹⁹ Mostly under the form of directives, binding the member states as far as their purposes. More than 300 such regulations concerning the environment have been adopted since the early seventies.
¹²⁰ Restrained by the restrictions of those articles, namely these regulations had to be strictly "necessary" for the attainment of the Common Market. Moreover, they were taken by unanimity

environment.¹²¹ The Treaty of Maastricht complements this evolution, in adding the duty to promote sustainable growth respecting the environment, and international action. Furthermore, it contains cost-sharing principles (the Cohesion Fund) and establishes the Environmental Agency in Kopenhagen, designed to facilitate cooperation and coordination of environmental standards and efforts amongst the now-15 members of the EU, and to provide the member states and the EU with objective and reliable information.¹²² As such, the Maastricht Treaty confirms the environment as being an area of shared competence between the member states and the EU.¹²³

In summary, the EU gives institutional legitimacy to the goals of both environmental protection and economic integration through trade. The environment has gained more than an exemptive status in the EU, whose basic and long-time goal was that of economic integration. The EU structure permitted an evolution to more sensitivity toward the regulation of environmental problems and the balancing of this goal against trade liberalization.¹²⁴

ŧ.

{

voting, often turning into *minimal* requirements, a bottom level. S.Johnson, G.Corcelle, *The environmental policy of the European Communities*, (London : Graham & Trotman, 1989), p.4-5. ¹²¹ Article 100 A, and articles 130 R-S-T (the express, distinct and independent head of power regarding environmental protection), both containing the possibility for member-states to retain a higher level of environmental protection than the standardized Community level. ¹²² Other institutions that are involved in environmental policies and their relation to trade, are the European Court, and the Commission (through its different Directorate-Generals, especially DG XI). See *Administrative structures for environmental management in the EC*, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG XI, 1993). The Commission has decided to prepare the publication of a *Green Paper* on trade and the environment, another reflection of the evolution towards the development of a new consensus on the close inter-relationship between trade and environment concerns. See H.Ward, *supra* note 41, p.294. See *infra*, Chapter III, section 1. ¹²³ See *Administrative structures for environmental management in the EC*, (Brussels :

Commission of the EC, DG XI, 1993).

¹²⁴ S.Walker, *supra* note 21, p.26-27; J.Kirton, S.Richardson, *supra* note 85, p.153 a.f.: L.Kramer, *supra* note 118.

As we will see *infra*. Chapter II. a large number¹²⁵ of multilateral agreements to protect the environment has been concluded, covering the globe's atmosphere, watercourses and marine environment. waste trade, endangered species, etc.; and trade-restrictive measures have found their place into several of these agreements¹²⁶. Most of the international negotiations preceding these agreements have followed a two-step approach : an initial series of meetings is held to review scientific evidence and to draft a *framework convention*, containing the general principles; then, subsequent meetings of the convention signatories focus on the preparation of detailed *protocols*.¹²⁷ Probably the most known environmental protection agreement following this approach is the Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer (Vienna 1985), and its Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer (Montreal 1987; amended twice : London 1990 and Kopenhagen 1992).¹²⁸ The framework convention contained general principles¹²⁹.

ł

¹²⁵ According to the legal status and the sources, the number varies from 180 to over 800! See Chapter II, section 1.

¹²⁶ Approximately 20 international environmental agreements contain trade restrictions. The most known are the Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, the Washington Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), and the further discussed Convention protecting the ozone layer. See P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *Basic documents on international law and the environment*, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1995): T.Andersson *et al.*, *supra* note 18, p.96 a.f.; J.McDonald. *supra* note 83, p.450-462; J.Cameron, *supra* note 116, p.467 a.f.

The fact that several international environmental agreements contain trade measures to enforce their objectives seems to indicate that these measures are (if not GATT accepted) at least politically accepted. M.Schlagenhof, *supra* note 82, p.135.

Due to the introductory nature of this Chapter, the regime protecting the ozone layer will be taken as an example of environmental agreements using trade restrictions.

¹²⁷ See for a detailed description of this wide-used process, its strong points and its flaws, and the proposed alternative, L.Susskind, *Environmental diplomacy : negotiating more effective global agreements*, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1994), p.30 a.f.

¹²⁸ Receiving worldwide support : 137 countries in 1994, including all the major producers of ozone-depleting substances and 99 % of the earth's population. See R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, *Protecting the ozone layer through trade measures : reconciling the trade provisions of the*

came into force in 1988, and resulted in the Montreal Protocol (into force 1989) and its amendments.¹³⁰ The regime set up an institutional framework, with a Meeting of Parties (deciding on the obligations) and a Secretariat based in Nairobi (a forum for the development of constructive ideas, advice, and administration). The agreement contains a list of substances depleting the ozone layer, the consumption of which by the Parties will be controlled and reduced (first a reduction of 50 %, later of 75 to 100 % - according to the kind of substance). Moreover, the Montreal Protocol contains restrictions on trade with non-parties. These restrictions were considered necessary to increase incentives to participate to the convention-protocol¹³¹; and to prevent states from gaining a competitive economic or trade advantage over Parties, by becoming or expanding their capacity as suppliers of depleting substances¹³². Article 4 of the Protocol gradually prohibits trade in controlled substances with non-Parties.¹³³ Article 5 grants developing countries. Party to the protocol and with a per capita consumption of under 0.3 kilograms ('article 5 Parties'), a ten-year grace period within which they

(

Montreal Protocol and the rules of the GATT, (Geneva : Environment and Trade, UNEP, 1994), p.99.

¹²⁹ Such as the obligation of the parties to take appropriate measures to protect human health and the environment against ozone layer depletion, to cooperate in scientific research and to exchange relevant information, and to establish a framework for future protocols.

¹³⁰ For a detailed overview of the negotiation process of the several instruments, see R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, *supra* note 128, p.5 a.f.

¹³¹ Namely an incentive for countries to join the regime, in which trade in depleting substances initially was controlled (i.e. tolerated in certain circumstances). A ban on exports to non-parties would act as an effective inducement for them to join the agreement to ensure access to controlled substances.

¹³² In fact, without these trade restrictions, there would be an incentive for companies to move production of depleting substances to non-Parties.

¹³³ Containing a ban on imports of listed substances from non-Parties, and an export ban of these products to non-Parties (this export ban originally did not apply to exports coming from 'article 5 Parties', until the London amendment. From that time, the ban applied to exports from all Parties to non-Parties. Furthermore, any existing Party that did not accept the London amendment would be considered a non-Party). An important feature is article 4 paragraph 8, stating that imports and exports are <u>not</u> restricted to non-Parties to the protocol. <u>if</u> they are in full compliance with the

are entitled to delay compliance with the protocol. Moreover, to ensure compliance with the obligations, article 7 of the Protocol provides for reporting requirements : Parties are required to provide the Montreal Protocol Secretariat with annual data on production, consumption, imports and exports of controlled substances.¹³⁴ Furthermore, the Protocol encourages technology transfer and financial assistance to Parties who are developing countries, thereby offering economic incentives for them to join and comply¹³⁵, and the London amendment established the Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol to assist eligible Parties (i.e. the 'article 5 Parties') to comply with the control measures.¹³⁶ The activities of the Fund are implemented by its administrating agencies : UNEP, UNDP, World Bank, and UNIDO^{137,138}

Ł.,

(

The effort of the international community in protecting the ozone layer is

convincing evidence of the ability of the world to rally together to effectively deal

with a global environmental problem: and its trade measures have been significant

Protocol. As such, the trade restrictions look at compliance with international environmental standards, regardless of membership to the environmental agreement.

¹³⁴ The Secretariat furnishes these data to its Implementation Committee, which will report the cases of non-compliance to the Meeting of Parties to the agreement. The Meeting can then decide on steps to bring about compliance (e.g. specific assistance measures). See R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, *supra* note 128, p.29-30.

¹³⁵ Articles 5, 9 and 10 of the Protocol. However, the provisions on technological assistance did not contain any technology transfer on preferential terms, and thus did not entirely satisfy developing countries. *Ibid.*, p. 32.

¹³⁶ The Fund provides money for projects aimed at phasing out consumption and production of controlled substances, provides technical experience and assistance, information on new technologies, and training to article 5 Parties. The fund can also assist non-Parties to carry out country studies. *Ibid.*, p.44; M.Munasinghe, ed. *Environmental economics and natural resource management in developing countries*. (Washington D.C. : Committee of International Development Institutions on the Environment, World Bank, 1993), p.292 a.f.

¹³⁷ Countries that are not entitled to assistance from the Multilateral Fund (e.g. because they are not classified as 'developing countries' for the purposes of the Protocol) can rely on the Global Environmental Facility (GEF) - a UNEP. UNDP and World Bank programme - for financial and technical assistance.

¹³⁸ For details on the projects and their financial implications of both the Multilateral Fund and the GEF protecting the ozone layer, see the 1995 report of the Environmental Department of the World Bank, *Mainstreaming the environment : the World Bank Group and the environment since the Rio Earth Summit*, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1995), p.66-71, p.276-287.

contributory factors in achieving such necessary wide participation. However, the regime recognized as well that trade measures had to be combined with other. more positive measures such as the financial and technological assistance provisions and grace periods to allow developing countries to join.¹³⁹

Since several environmental agreements use trade restrictions, and the

GATT is aimed at limiting them, two sets of international agreements are in head-

to-head conflict.

The Montreal Protocol, for instance, is inconsistent with the present GATT-

structure¹⁴⁰ in several ways¹⁴¹ : the present GATT interpretation will likely find the

trade restrictions discriminatory (contrary to article I and III)¹⁴², extraterritorial,

(contrary to article XX), unnecessary¹⁴³, to mention only the most important

L.Campbell, supra note 128, p.64-65.

¹³⁹ C.Petsonk, "Recent developments in international organizations" (1990) 5 American University Journal of International Law and Policy, p.369; R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, *supra* note 128, p.48-49, 100.

¹⁴⁰ The consistency of certain international environmental agreements with the NAFTA structure has been dealt with in article 104 of NAFTA. See *supra*, section 2 of this Chapter. Although this approach at least provides some certainty about the mentioned agreements, it remains silent about other environmental agreements that use trade measures, whose recognition is still conditioned upon agreement of the parties to the trade agreement.

¹⁴¹ In fact, the GATT Group on Environmental Measures in International Trade (EMIT) has done considerable work to clarify the GATT position on trade related environmental measures. Several reports have been produced. E.g. "Report by the Chairman of the Group on EMIT presented to the Contracting Parties at their 49th session". *Basic instruments & selected documents supp.40, 1992-1993 and 48th session*, (Geneva : GATT, 1995). p.75-101; *International trade 90-91*, vol.1.
(Geneva : GATT, 1992), p.24; *GATT activities 1992-1993*. (Geneva : GATT, 1992 & 1993). p.81-83; p.93-96; EMIT, "Trade provisions contained in multilateral environmental agreements". found in Netscape, on the GATT homepage http://www.ustr.gov/reports/annualrpt/1994/gatt-wto.html
Presently, its work has been taken over by the WTO Committee on Trade and the Environment.
¹⁴² Although one could argue that according to article 4, paragraph 8, the discrimination is in fact not based on their membership to the agreement, but on their compliance with an environmental standard that is decided by the guasi-totality of the globe's countries. See R.Twum-Barina.

¹⁴³ A GATT report argues that "it is not clear that such departures from the non-discrimination principle are always necessary (...). The parties (...) could have structured the Montreal Protocol in such a way that it reduced consumption (...) without the necessity of including provisions for special restrictions on trade with non-parties." (!) See *International trade 90-91. supra* note 141, p.25. For a critique on this view, and arguing that trade sanctions are indeed necessary to effectively enforce environmental agreements, see Hamilton Southworth III. "GATT and the environment" (1992) 32 Virginia Journal of International Law, p.997 a.f.

potential inconsistencies.¹⁴⁴ At the same time, it is clear that a conflict will not arise unless a GATT/WTO member brings an official complaint against another member. Up to now, no complaint has been received contesting the Montreal Protocol, or in fact any other international environmental agreement.¹⁴³ According to international law, when two international agreements are in conflict. article 30 (3) of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties states that a new agreement takes precedence over a previous one on the same subject. and a specific agreement takes precedence over a general one.¹⁴⁶ However, it is difficult to date the GATT because it is constantly being re-negotiated (and GATT didn't come into force in the 'usual' way either since it has been applied for almost 50 years without ever being formally into force). The Montreal Protocol is beyond any doubt more specific than the GATT/WTO.¹⁴⁷ The issue is further complicated by the various side-agreements to the GATT, and by the question whether the negotiations in successive Rounds changed the date of the GATT¹⁴⁸.^{149 150}

ĺ

¹⁴⁴ For a very thorough overview of all the possible inconsistencies, including the TBT and SPS agreements, subsidies, intellectual property, GATT article XX and its interpretative restrictions, see R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, *supra* note 128, p.58-80.

¹⁴⁵ T.Andersson *et al., supra* note 18, p.96-98; E.U.Petersmann, *supra* note 92, p.173; M.Schlagenhof, *supra* note 82, p.147.

¹⁴⁶ T.Schoenbaum, *supra* note 13, p.700 a.f. See for a detailed description of applicable rules of international law, J.Cameron. *supra* note 116, p.489 a.f.

¹⁴⁷ T.Andersson *et al., supra* note 18, p. 97: However, it can be said that the conflicting provisions of the two agreements deal with the same subject matter. R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, *supra* note 128, p.82-85.

¹⁴⁸ If one admits this, than logically the same reasoning applies to environmental agreements, and their constant renegotiation through the Meeting of Parties. This could lead to constant renegotiations of both trade and environment regimes, and will not resolve the problem of the date. ¹⁴⁹ E.U.Petersman suggests a solution other than referring to art.30 of the Vienna Convention : the well-established principle of State Responsibility in the field of harm to the environment (nl. principle 21 Stockholm Declaration, principle 2 Rio Declaration : see *infra*. Chapter II, p.2, 8.) could help in interpreting the GATT/WTO (especially GATT article XX), so as to allow "national and internationally agreed measures for the protection of the global commons (...) and other environmental resources outside the national jurisdiction of the importing county (...)". The

Montreal Protocol would then be perfectly consistent with the GATT/WTO. See E.U.Petersman, *supra* note 92, p.180; M.Schlagenhof, *supra* note 82, p.150-151.

¹⁵⁰ See S.Murase. *supra* note 80, p.72-77, proposing several ways of accommodating such environmental agreements containing trade restrictions in the trade regimes. See *supra*, p.21-22.

In reality however, a large number of GATT/WTO members is in fact party to the international environmental agreements protecting the ozone layer (and others). This explains why it is very unlikely to see a complaint emerge before the GATT/WTO. As T.Schoenbaum notes : "Obviously, (...) multilateral agreements such as the Montreal Protocol and CITES should be upheld in their entirety. There should be no doubt about their validity under the GATT^{-,151}

EPILOGUE : INSTITUTIONALIZING THE BALANCE

Ę

ł

Several existing institutions¹⁵² on the global and the regional level have been the forum where the trade and environment debate has been held. They often served to clarify positions, encourage studies and research, present information on the subject, and develop constructive ideas on how trade objectives and environmental concerns could interact toward a more harmonious - and needed! integrated balance. Chapter III will take a closer look at, and provide more information about these institutions.

¹⁵¹ T.Schoenbaum, *supra* note 13, p.720.

¹⁵² Such as the Group on Environmental Measures in International Trade (GATT EMIT), the WTO's Committee on Trade and Environment, NAFTA's Commission on Environmental Cooperation, EU's Environmental Agency, the Montreal Protocol's Secretariat, the Basel Convention's Secretariat, the World Bank, OECD, the UN system.

CHAPTER II : THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK

This Chapter will provide for a legal framework relating to the broad concerns of the environment, trade and development. It will stress the need for international cooperation in favor of international problems (whether they be trade or environment related), and will introduce the concept of Sustainable Development as the leading principle towards the balancing and reconciling of various trade and environment concerns.

SECTION 1 : INTERNATIONAL LAW

¢,

The framework of the international community accepts the current organization of the world into sovereign nation-states. In fact, sovereignty is one of the key concepts of International Law.¹⁵³ The principle of sovereignty, as the backbone of public international law, contains several elements, amongst which territorial sovereignty (a state is sovereign within its territory), sovereign equality (all states are equal in international law), and external sovereignty (a state is not

¹⁵³ N.Schrijver, "The dynamics of sovereignty in a changing world", in K.Ginther, E.Denters, P.De Waart, eds., *Sustainable Development and good governance*. (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995), p.80-89.

For a detailed analysis of the concept of sovereignty, its legal meaning and historical evolution, see M.Koskenniemi, *From apology to utopia : the structure of international legal argument*, (Helsinki : Finnish Lawyers' Publishing Company, 1989), p.192-263.

subjected to another state or higher authority).¹⁵⁴ Moreover, the concept of sovereignty includes the right of every state to dispose of the natural wealth and resources within its territory, and the resulting right to pursue its own socialeconomic environmental and development policies. However, it is increasingly recognized that these rights have duties and obligations as their corollaries.¹⁵⁵ Sovereignty is a dynamic concept, evolving along the international society's evolution. Since the second World War, states have accepted many restrictions to their sovereignty through the bias of international law, and the increasing relations of global interdependence are likely to continue this trend. Emerging principles of international law¹⁵⁶ will constitute these responsibilities and obligations of states as corollary to their sovereign rights.

During the same period, global interdependence¹⁵⁷ among nations has increased sharply : technological, social and cultural changes have reduced distances among nations, and as a result many of the stringent policies inhibiting transfrontier contacts have been relaxed, promoting trade, migratory and capital movements. Technological innovations have reduced the costs of, and thereby facilitated the moving of goods, people, capital and information, uniting the globe

í.

i,

¹⁵⁴ International Law imposes certain limits to sovereignty, such as the duty to refrain from the use of force, and the duty among states to cooperate. See UN Charter, and the 1970 Declaration on Principles of International Law (GA Res. 2625 (XXV), 24 October 1970).

¹⁵⁵ N.Schrijver, *supra* note 153, p.86-87.

¹⁵⁶ E.g. in the field of international trade : the basic principle of non-discrimination and fair trade. E.g. in the field of environmental protection law : Principle 21 and 22 of the 1972 Stockholm Declaration, confirming state sovereignty over their natural resources, and the obligation to "cooperate to further develop international law protecting the environment": thus confirming the concept of State Responsibility in the field of the environment. See *infra*, p.8. See P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *Basic documents on international law and the environment*. (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1995), p.1-9.

For a discussion on the legal value of such principles, see *infra*, p.10 a.f.

¹⁵⁷ Be it economic, political, social or ecological interdependence. See J.Dunoff, "Resolving tradeenvironment conflicts : the case for trading institutions" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.620.

and forcing governments to lower their separationist and protectionist border policies.¹⁵⁸ Successive multilateral negotiation Rounds under the GATT have clearly demonstrated this need for "lowering the separation fences", as well as the proliferation of regional free trade areas, customs unions or common markets everywhere on the five continents.

i.

4

However, as trade issues became globalized or internationalized by this movement towards an increasingly interdependent and interconnected world, so did environmental concerns. Literature generally describes three ways in which environmental concerns become international (even when they appear initially purely domestic in nature) : concerns can generate over the impact of environmental policies on international competitiveness; concerns over the assertion of jurisdiction over other nations' environmental priorities and practices: and the obvious concerns over transborder spill-over of pollution into another country or into the global commons (such as air, high seas, outer space, and the Antarctica region).¹⁵⁹ As a result of this problem-globalization, it is no longer possible for a country to act entirely on its own. Because of society's and ecosystems' interconnectedness, more and more environmental issues should be regarded as global, crossing national boundaries : disturbances and modifications

¹⁵⁸ R.Cooper, *Environment and resource policies for the world economy*, (Washington D.C. : The Brookings Institution, 1995), preface; N.Roth-Arriaza, "Shifting the point of regulation : the International Organization for Standardization and global lawmaking on trade and the environment" (1995) 22 Ecology Law Quarterly, p.479 a.f.

¹⁵⁹ See International trade 90-91, vol.1, (Geneva : GATT Secretariat, 1992), p.19 a.f.; S.Charnovitz, "Free trade, fair trade, green trade" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.459 a.f.

in ecosystems easily spread out over the whole region, causing regional and ultimately global concern.¹⁶⁰

į

1

Even when environmental problems are still in their *domestic phase* (i.e. the above-described movement towards globalization did not *yet* occur)¹⁶¹, countries need to cooperate multilaterally to create appropriate environmental policies, in order to avoid badly-aimed unilateral actions (such as unilateral trade measures). National action without global multilateral planning will probably prove insufficient¹⁶² and counter-productive¹⁶³. Global and globalized problems need international solutions.¹⁶⁴ The resolution of environmental problems and the promotion of environmental stability requires international cooperative action.¹⁶⁵

It is the pursuit of this mutual cooperation among nations that is the task every time environmental negotiations are undertaken. Reluctance towards this kind of action is often stimulated by a country's sovereignty concerns (or rather a country's *perception* of its sovereign rights rather than the corollary responsibilities), making it difficult to create effective international regimes.

¹⁶⁰ T.Andersson *et al.*, *Trading with the environment : ecology, economics, institutions and policy*, (London : Earthscan, 1995), p.17-21. Environmental damage not only negatively influences other countries' environment, but also their social and economic structure.

¹⁶¹ It must be noted that most environmental problems have international implications : pollution, effluents and emissions recognize no boundaries and are easily transported into other nations' territory. Damage to the resource base has implications on the global level. Clearly, solutions to such problems should be sought on the international level. L. Wenner, "Transboundary problems in international law", in S.Kamieniecki, ed., *Environmental policies in the international arena : movements, parties, organizations and policy*, (Albany : State University of New York Press, 1993), p.165 a.f.

¹⁶² A.Bennet, *International organizations : principles and issues*, (New Jersey : Prentice Hall, 1991), p.318.

¹⁶³ Even the GATT warns for trade frictions and unilateral trade restrictions against countries who decide to "go alone on environmental policies". *International trade 90-91*, vol., 1, (Geneva : GATT Secretariat, 1992), p.20.

¹⁶⁴ The environment and emerging development issues. (Tokyo: WIDER, UN University, 1992), p.3 a.f.

¹⁶⁵ C.Petsonk, "Recent developments in international organizations" (1990) 5 American University Journal of International Law and Policy, p.351 a.f.; D.Pearce, J.Warford, *World without end* : economics, environment and Sustainable Development, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1993).

institutions and measures. It is the (often-difficult) task of international negotiators to find sufficient incentives for countries to revise their sovereignty based claims and convince them to join the international system of rights and obligations towards the world's resource base.¹⁶⁶

i

;

In a historical perspective, the negotiation of international regimes concerning the environment has known a gradual movement from bilateral towards regional and multilateral of international instruments.¹⁶⁷ This movement of course is partly explained by the perception of the negotiating states of their state sovereignty, as discussed above. Only when responsibilities and obligations come to qualify the concept of sovereign rights, states undertake negotiations and value international cooperative problem-solving. In the field of the environment, negotiations are increasingly being supported by public participation of the various parties concerned (from environmental NGO's to private citizen pressure). This approach is still in stark contrast with the entire international trade community, where trade negotiations and dispute resolution proceedings tend to be preferable dealt with in complete secrecy.¹⁶⁸

An important aspect of international regimes¹⁶⁹ is institutional.

International cooperation among states will not likely result in the imposition of a

p.327 a.f.; P.Haas, R.Keohane, M.Levy, Institutions for the earth. (London : MIT Press, 1993), foreword by J.Nye.

¹⁶⁶ It is often emphasized that especially developing countries need such incentives in order to be able to support or join cooperative action. Especially in the trade, development and environment debate, the importance of tangible assistance through financing, technology transfer, increased development assistance and access to markets for the South is being stressed. See S.Vaughan, "Trade and environment : some North-South considerations" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p. 591 a.f.

¹⁶⁷ For a more detailed survey of this evolution, see L.Wenner. *supra* note 161, p.165 a.f.

¹⁶⁸ H.French. *Costly trade-offs : reconciling trade and the environment*, (Washington D.C. : Worldwatch Institute, 1993), p.60.

¹⁶⁹ For the most topic definitions of 'international regime', see L.Jurgielewicz, "International regimes and environmental policy : an evaluation of the role of international law", in R.Bartlett *et*

"World Government" over them: sovereign states will - at the present configuration of international relations - not subject themselves to such form of government.¹⁷⁰ International organizations resemble more intergovernmental cooperation schemes among nations. balancing sovereignty and cooperation needs. providing a bridge between the national and the international.¹⁷¹ The increasing interdependence and interconnectedness of today's world and problems urges the international community to cooperate together in creating the organizations needed to manage the global reality.¹⁷² A rapid growth of such international organizations has consequently occurred.¹⁷³ International organizations are usually defined as a *formal, continuous structure established by agreement between members (governmental and/or non-governmental) from two or more sovereign*

¹⁷¹ A.Bennet, *supra* note 162, p.413 a.f.

ł

ĺ

al., eds., International organizations and environmental policy, (Westport : Greenwood Press, 1995), p.139 a.f.; S.Murase, "Perspectives from international economic law on transnational environmental issues" (1995) to be published in the Receuil des Cours, The Hague Academy of International Law, 1995, p.164 a.f.

On international regimes and their establishment (contractual approach, evolutionary approach, and piecemeal process), see W.Feld *et al.*, *International organizations*, (Westport : Praeger, 1994), p.251 a.f.

¹⁷⁰ R.Keohane, P.Haas, M.Levy, "The effectiveness of international environmental institutions", in P.Haas *et al.*, eds., *Institutions for the earth*, (London : MIT Press, 1993), p.4; A.Bennet, *supra* note 162, p.318.

Several schools of thought study and describe the inter-relatedness of state sovereignty and internatinal cooperation and organization (e.g. realism; neorealism; globalism - or idealism?). For a detailed discussion, see M.Malik, "Do we need a new theory of international organizations?", in R.Bartlett, ed., *International organizations and environmental policy*, (Westport : Greenwood Press, 1995), p.223 a.f.

As such, internatinal organizations respect the principle of state sovereignty. See R.Keohane *et al.*, *supra* note 170, p.6.

¹⁷² Whether they be peace, security, trade, environment, development, transportation or other issues.

¹⁷³ O.Young, "International organizations and international institutions : lessons learned from environmental regimes", in S.Kamieniecki, ed., *Environmental politics in the international arena*. (Albany : State University of New York Press, 1993), p.146 a.f.; D.Stevis, C.Wilson, "The institutionalization of international environmental policy : international environmental law and international organizations", in R.Bartlett *et al.*, eds., *International organizations and environmental policy*, (Westport : Greenwood Press, 1995), p.125 a.f.

The number of international governmental organizations has reached the number of approximately 300, the majority of them having specific purposes such as trade (e.g. GATT). health (e.g. WHO). environment (e.g. UNEP), finance (e.g. IMF), education, etc. See C.Archer, *International organizations*, (London : Routledge, 1992), p.135.

states with the aim of pursuing the common interest of the membership.¹⁷⁴ As such. membership, common aim, and formal permanent structure are its key-elements. International Organizations play the role of instrument being used by its members for a particular end; the role of a forum or arena within which actions and meeting take place; or sometimes even the role of independent actor (meaning that it can act through a stable and coherent decision-making process in a certain independent way).¹⁷⁵ They can play a catalytic role (influencing the conception and framing of issues, principles and guidelines), a coordinating role or even take on the role of leadership in a negotiating process.¹⁷⁶ Their functions are (amongst others) : contributing to the norm- and rule-making process; the rule-enforcement process; and the rule-adjudication and information process. Overall, they contribute to more efficient and appropriate international and national policy conception and implementation.¹⁷⁷ However, their effectiveness corresponds directly to the degree of state cooperation : problems of underfunding and paralysis, cooptation by national or special interests, and state intrusiveness and bureaucratization undermine highly their work¹⁷⁸, underlining once again the necessary condition of intergovernmental cooperation. New approaches and initiatives, such as the increasing of government concern (by providing access to information, public pressure¹⁷⁹ and issue linking), enhancing the negotiation process (by providing monitoring and information services, and negotiation fora), and increasing national capacity (especially for the less developed countries : technical training.

(

¹⁷⁴ C.Archer, *supra* note 173, p.33-37; W.Feld, *supra* note 17, p.10 a.f.

¹⁷⁵ C.Archer. *supra* note 173, p.135 a.f.

¹⁷⁶ O.Young, *supra* note 173, p.150 a.f.

¹⁷⁷ R.Keohane et al., supra note 170, p.8.

¹⁷⁸ O.Young, *supra* note 173, p.158 a.f.

assistance, grants, etc.) are necessary steps to take in architecting better international organizations.¹⁸⁰

International organizations do not come alone. They are part of the international regime or system¹⁸¹, embedding norms and rules outlined in international legal instruments, such as treaties, agreements, protocols, etc. These international legal instruments - whether they be binding agreements or non-binding guidelines - constitute important mechanisms for achieving international cooperation in various fields.¹⁸² It should be stressed that the international trade, environmental protection and development regimes are not self-contained or autonomous systems, but all part of general International Law, as various

specialized fields of International Law.¹⁸³

ŧ,

ĺ

In the field of the environment¹⁸⁴, as the realization has grown that protection of

the environment must be addressed on a global basis, the number of environmental

instruments has proliferated, and more than 250 agreements have been

concluded.¹⁸⁵ Methodologically, academic writing construes a difference between

49

¹⁷⁹ International organizations often promote state cooperation by magnifying public pressure on recalcitrant states.

 ¹⁸⁰ M.Levy, R.Keohane, P.Haas, "Improving the effectiveness of international environmental institutions", in P.Haas *et al.*, eds., *Institutions for the earth*, (London : MIT Press, 1993), p.98 a.f.
 ¹⁸¹ In fact, as mentioned, international organizations - as magnifiers of concern. facilitators of agreement and builders of capacity - play a predominant role in construing international regimes. See *Ibid.*, p.408 a.f.

¹⁸² C.Petsonk, *supra* note 165, p.351 a.f.

¹⁸³ See on this S.Murase, *supra* note 169, p.46-47.

¹⁸⁴ The major sources of international law are : customs, general principles, treaties, judicial decisions, and certain decisions of international organizations. International environmental law is mostly treaty law. See D.Stevis, C.Wilson, *supra* note 173, p.123 a.f.; P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *International law and the environment*, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1992), p.11 a.f. Customary environmental law is yet in an embryonic state of development. See J.Dunoff, "Institutional misfits : the GATT, ICJ and trade-environment disputes" (1994) 15 Michigan Journal of International Law, p.1093 a.f.

¹⁸⁵ 194 of them accompanied by some sort of organizations structure. D.Stevis, C.Wilson, *supra* note 173, p.125-127.

Other sources propose the number of approximately 180 international environmental treaties. If one counts not only the environmental treaties, but also the less-binding declarations, action plans

traditional and *modern* international environmental law.¹⁸⁶ The traditional approach, based on the principle of unconditional state sovereignty, stressed the limited scope of application (purely neighborly relations, protection of specific concerns such as human health, economic interests and property), significant harm as condition, and equitable use. The whole is characterized by an anthropocentric perspective of the environment. Gradually, however, this view started to shift towards a more modern approach, stressing wide-scope protection of all aspects of the environment, the perception of a reality of a multitude of states having an impact on the environment, and of the erosion of the traditional view of sovereignty - only rights - towards more joint responsibilities, cooperation and global concern.¹⁸⁷ This modern environment-centered approach emerged in the late sixties - early seventies, and began appearing in environmental instruments such as the 1972 Stockholm Declaration.¹⁸⁸ This modern approach towards the environment - contrary to the traditional view - not only stresses the cooperation

į

1

and accords containing provisions addressing the environment, the number of international environmental instruments tops over 800! See H.French, *Partnership for the planet : an environmental agenda for the UN*, (Washington D.C. : Worldwatch Institute, 1995), p.9-11; E.Brown-Weiss, "Global environmental change and international law : the introductory framework", in E.Brown-Weiss, ed., *Environmental change and international law*, (Tokyo : UN University Press, 1992), p.7 a.f.

 ¹⁸⁶ H.Hohmann, Precautionary legal duties and principles of modern international environmental law, (Dordrecht : Graham & Trotman / Martinus Nijhoff Publishers. 1994), p.34 a.f., p.184 a.f.
 ¹⁸⁷ See supra, p.45, sovereignty as a dynamic concept. See for a general description of the concept of State Responsibility in International Law, D.Kennedy, International legal structures, (Baden-Baden : Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft, 1987), p.173-188; and for its application in the field of the environment, see W.Lang, H.Neuhold, K.Zematek, Environmental protection and international law, (London : Graham & Trotham / Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1990), p.187-203.

¹⁸⁸ Principles 21 and 22 clearly introduced the right-duty concept of sovereignty, management and preservation of natural resources and state cooperation in favor of the environment. They were reiterated on several occasions, including in the 1992 Rio Declaration (principles 2, 5 and 7). See *supra* footnote 156 on page 45. See Chowdhury, "Common but differentiated state responsibility in international environmental law : from Stockholm (1972) to Rio (1992)", in K.Ginther *et al.*, eds., *Sustainable Development and good governance*. (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995), p.325 a.f.

among states, but also cooperation among different policy sectors and concerns¹⁸⁹ : the cooperative management of the earth's resources is most efficiently done by integrating environmental concerns into other policy areas, and vice versa. As such, the view that environmental and development policies, trade policies, health policies, agriculture policies, financial policies etc. need to be coordinated and integrated became more and more accepted.¹⁹⁰

ŧ,

í

As noted above, many international environmental agreements have been negotiated.¹⁹¹ The negotiation process is often a difficult one, obstructed by North-South problems, sovereignty concerns and the lack of incentives to cooperate. Procedural betterment, such as NGO participation, issue linkage¹⁹² (e.g. with trade, or debt issues), and prenegotiation assistance for less-developed countries could facilitate the process. Moreover, new approaches in international treaty law have been developed : the emerging use of soft-law instruments, non-binding texts and guidelines, participation in the creation of new international rules, by formulating emergent values that later on may be formally confirmed in hard-law instruments. or technical details. The trend of "pactum contrahendi", a cooperation scheme that will lead to more precise obligations: the method of relative standards (standards varying from country to country, e.g. based on their respective grade of

¹⁸⁹ H.Hohmann, *supra* note 186, p.35-40; H.French. *supra* note 185, p.7-8; S.Chowdhury, *supra* note 188, p.325 a.f.

¹⁹⁰ See *infra*, the concept of Sustainable Development, p.61 a.f.

¹⁹¹ For more details about the negotiation process, see L.Susskind, *Environmental diplomacy : negotiating more effective global agreements*, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1994); and L.Susskind, C.Ozawa, "Negotiating more effective international environmental agreements", in A.Hurrell, B.Kingsbury, eds., *The international politics of the environment : actors, interests and institutions*, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1992), p.142 a.f.

 ¹⁹² For a theoretical analysis of issue linkage and its capacity to broaden the environmental coalition, see I.Goldwin, A.Winters. eds., *The economics of Sustainable Development*. (Cambridge : Centre for Economic Policy Research, OECD, Cambridge University Press, 1995). p.264-288: and L.Susskind, *supra* note 191, p.82-97.

development); the use of umbrella conventions (agreements proclaiming the principles - protocols with more concrete obligations); regional conventions: etc.¹⁰³ However, negotiating treaties is one thing, making them work is another. The effectiveness of environmental instruments depends on different factors : use of carrots - financial assistance, technology transfer, aids and grants - and sticks - penalties such as trade sanctions -, assessment and public information schemes¹⁰⁴. public participation, enforcement and monitoring provisions¹⁰⁵, and most recently, the use of market or economic incentives, such as pollution taxes and the creation of markets for tradable emission permits¹⁹⁶. Here lies an important task for secretariats and like-wise institutional bodies accompanying the agreement.¹⁹⁷ As noted above, these international organizations as supportive institutions for the surveillance and implementation of treaty obligations are increasingly numerous and more and more used, and not only in the field of the environment.¹⁹⁸ The above-mentioned trend towards more use of soft-law instruments has opened the door to yet another discussion : their legal status. Generally, soft-law

i

{

¹⁹³ A.Kiss, "The implications of global change for the international legal system", in E.Brown-Weiss, ed., *Environmental change and international law*, (Tokyo : UN University Press, 1992), p.315 a.f.

 ¹⁹⁴ Environmental awareness is a very important factor of compliance : this means the exploitation of accountability of states by rendering their performance transparent to scrutiny by the international community. C.Petsonk, *supra* note 165, p.351 a.f.; L.Jurgielewicz, *supra* note 169, p.144 a.f.; E.Brown-Weiss, *supra* note 185, p.20-21; and A.Kiss, *supra* note 193, p.334 a.f.
 ¹⁹⁶ T.Carrol-Foster, ed., *A guide to Agenda 21 : issues, debates and Canadian initiatives*. (Ottawa : International Development Research Center, 1993), p.110-111; L.Susskind, *supra* note 191, p.99 a.f.; H.French, *supra* note 189, p.10 a.f.

¹⁹⁶ Abundant literature exists concerning the use of market incentives. Given the introductory nature of this Chapter, these incentives will not be treated here, but in Chapter I of this thesis, with the appropriate references.

¹⁹⁷ See *supra*, international organizations.

¹⁹⁸ E.g. in the field of trade law, where numerous regional free-trade areas have emerged with certain institutional structure (EU, NAFTA, Mercosur, Asean, ...); and of course the multilateral trading system of the WTO/GATT.

E.g. in the field of Human Rights, with UN bodies (where NGO's can participate in the discussions), and regional bodies such as the European Court/Commission and the American Court of Human Rights.

declarations and guidelines are considered as non-binding instruments; at best, they are recognized as playing the role of "pré-droit", a fore-runner to the development of new international law. But could one assume that they could in part contain legally binding duties or principles of customary law?¹⁹⁹ Here, the usual objection raised is that customary law only arises when a *continual state* practice supported by opinio iuris can be shown to exist. In this view, such softlaw could hardly be recognized as customary law, since so many states acted - and sometimes still act - without any considerations for several soft-law principles.²⁰⁰ However, upon closer examination of the conditions of customarv law, disagreements seems to exist regarding the requirements for the formation of customs²⁰¹: two theories - the theory of 'spontaneous law', and the 'instant custom' theory - are more skeptical of the high value accorded to state practice, as states often act against their legal convictions²⁰²; these theories would permit the acceptation of soft-law declarations and guidelines as possibly containing obligations and principles of customary law.

Finally, the new directions taken by the modern approach of international environmental law - as opposed to the traditional view, centered on a narrow-

í

{

A.Kiss, supra note 193, p.326 a.f.

¹⁹⁹ For a general introduction on the role of customs in international law, see D.Kennedy, *supra* note 187; M.Koskenniemmi, *supra* note 153, p.342-421; P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 184, p.15 a.f.

²⁰⁰ The question of state compliance is in environmental law (and in international law in general) very topic; the continued divergence between rhetoric and practice, and between the principles and substantive provisions does not incite the creation of customary law. See J.Moffet, F.Bregha, "The role of law reform in the promotion of Sustainable Development" (1995) 6 Journal of Environmental Law and Practice, p.1-2.

²⁰¹ E.g. the continuous long-term and consistent practice requirement seems to be subject to redefinition. See H.Hohmann, *supra* note 186, p.167-168.

²⁰² It is more the continuing violation of a rule that places doubt on its customary value. Declarations of states can have a great influence on the formation of customary law, since unilateral declarations can be legally binding, provided that states rely upon them. Accordingly, every state must assume that its solemn declarations can become part of the reciprocal expectations upon which customary law relies. *Ibid.*, p.166 a.f.

focused interpretation of state sovereignty - are likely to amplify in the future negotiation of, and dealing with environmental problems.²⁰³ The most important of these trends is, in my view, certainly issue linkage. The environment cannot be looked upon as a distinct sector of our society. Rather, environmental problems are qualified by their inter-relatedness and inter-connectedness with all other sections of our society. Consequently, policies addressing these problems will have to take into account all their interdependent aspects : links between the environment and human rights²⁰⁴, environment and development/poverty concerns, environment and ever-increasing. Human awareness of these links is emerging into an approach towards integrating and coordinating policies to address those concerns. The next section will examine more closely these links between poverty, development and environment concerns, and will conceptualize the notion of Sustainable Development.

SECTION 2 : DEVELOPMENT LAW

ť

(

There exists a powerful link between poverty, population growth and environmental degradation²⁰⁵. To put it schematically : environmental degradation

²⁰³ E.Brown-Weiss, *supra* note 185, p.3-23.

²⁰⁴ The growing link between environmental issues and human rights concerns can be illustrated by conceptualizing the rights to information, freedom of speech, citizen participation, environmental refugee and indigenous people concerns, rights of future generations and of present generation, the right to the environment. See *lbid.*, p.19.

²⁰⁵ For an analytical discussion of various interactions between the three concepts. see R.Baldwin. "Does sustainability require growth?", in I.Goldwin, L.Winters, *supra* note 192, p.51 a.f.

contributes to poverty²⁰⁶, and poverty restricts the poor to acting in ways that are environmentally damaging. The poor often live in places that are environmentally vulnerable, threatened or degraded, and they generally lack the means to avoid or mitigate the negative effects of degradation. Moreover, the very poor have often very short time-horizons, meaning that their ability to plan ahead is jeopardized by their preoccupation with day-to-day survival provoking short term action²⁰⁷ poverty as a disabling factor.²⁰⁸

It is clear that the poor suffer the consequences of environmental degradation the most, since they are most vulnerable and least able to avoid the degradation.²⁰⁹ In addition, high population growth rates directly exacerbate the problems of environmental degradation, and thus of poverty²¹⁰. As more and more people exploit open-access resources²¹¹ - sometimes the poors' only resource base - the environment is further degraded (through soil erosion, desertification, deforestation, depleted fishing grounds, loss of biodiversity, polluted groundwater and silted rivers, and so forth), and the cycle starts all over again. Several solutions to contain this vicious cycle have been proposed, among which the interesting

(

²⁰⁶ Through worsened health, reduced productivity of natural resources upon which the poor rely, and lowered labor productivity of the poor. See S.Mink, *Poverty, population and the environment*, (Washington D.C.: World Bank, 1993), p.1-10.

²⁰⁷ A "caveat" exists in this line of reasoning, however : short horizons are not exclusive to the poor; but the specific circumstances of their situation leaves them no choice, pushing them towards the kind of short-sighted plans endangering their environment. *Ihid.*, p.13.

²⁰⁸ Poverty could be analyzed as a mechanism by which the true underlying causes are transformed into actions degrading the environment. Poverty reduces the options available to the poor, and determines their responses to outside pressures; it removes their ability to respond and adapt because the time horizon is typically short, and few feasible options are available. D.Pearce, J.Warford, *supra* note 165, p.272 a.f.

²⁰⁹ M.Munasinghe, W.Shearer, *Defining and measuring sustainability*, (Washington D.C.: World Bank, 1995), p.21 a.f.

²¹⁰ More people means more energy needed, more pollution and waste emitted, and in general a greater pressure on the earth's resource base.

²¹¹ It is mostly these open-access renewable resources (such as air, water, forests, fisheries, etc.) that are most vulnerable because they are underpriced. For a general description of price mechanisms and market/policy failures, see *supra* Chapter I, section 1.

proposal of the raising of the level of education - which raises income and reduces fertility²¹² and health care.²¹³

One of the necessities in this debate is the reduction of poverty, and the raising of general income. This is the aim of Development - which is not to be reduced to economic growth alone, although that forms a part of it²¹⁴. Furthermore, economic growth and development do not necessarily affect negatively the environment : growth can generate technological improvements changing the economic output (the product) and the production process, a more efficient restructuring of resource use, and prosperity in the standard of living affecting the above-mentioned time-horizons of people²¹⁵.²¹⁶ It becomes clear that growth must be based on *quality* improvements rather than on quantitative rise.²¹⁷

ţ

(

²¹² R.Baldwin, "Does sustainability require growth?", in I.Goldwin, L.Winters, eds., *supra* note 192, p.76.

Again, the importance of education, training, access to information and public participation in the field of environment and development is being stressed.

²¹³ Reducing population growth rates is, of course, only part of the solution. For other solutions, such as reducing market failures, policy failures, institutional failures, see *supra*. Chapter I, section 1.

²¹⁴ I.Goldwin, L.Winters, supra note 192, p.1 a.f.

²¹⁵ For instance in expressing greater pressure in demands for a cleaner and healthier environment - market pressure (green consumerism) and political pressure (green awareness). G.Grossman, "Pollution and growth", in I.Goldwin, L.Winters, eds., *supra* note 192, p.20-21.

²¹⁶ These elements are dear to the people who advocate free trade. See for instance *International trade 1990-91*. (Geneva : GATT Secretariat, 1992). p.19. The same source admits even that "unrestricted trade can be harmful for the environment. especially when a country's environmental policies are weak ...". The general view is that trade is not the cause, but merely a magnifier of environmental degradation. Trade liberalization can hurt the environment, but only in the absence of appropriate environmental protection policies.

²¹⁷ T.Andersson *et al.*, *Trading with the environment : ecology, economics, institutions and policy*, (London : Earthscan, 1995), p.14 a.f., noting that "irreversible changes in the ecosystem as a result of production and consumption should be avoided" : "Growth and technical development by themselves cannot guarantee solutions. It is *how economic growth occurs* and in what direction technology develops which determine if ecologically sustainable economic development will take place".

Of course, on the other hand, growth is likely to exacerbate the pressure on natural resources and their assimilative and carrying capacity²¹⁸, hence the need for appropriate and sufficient environmental protection policies²¹⁹. Once again, the need for the coordination, integration and balancing of growth concerns (i.e. the main concern of free trade advocates) and environmental protection is being stressed over and in replacement of the growth-environment conflict view.

ŧ

í

A central issue in development law, and strongly related to population and growth concerns, is the all-important division between rich and poor, developed and developing, North and South. The North-South divide is often depicted as a conflict over money and technology, yet there is more to this conflict than mere economic and scientific ascendancy : the question of cultural hegemony is what underlies these debates. The South views a lot of its problems - deforestation, food shortages, urbanization - as by-products of the dominant economic culture, and wants the North to accept - at least join - responsibility in causing these problems by pursuing an economic and development pattern that is at odds with the ways of the South.²²⁰ This attitude is the general approach of the South in the negotiation of international legal instruments relating to development, economy and the environment.²²¹

Another issue in the North-South confrontation relates to population (mostly concentrated in developing countries) and consumption (concentrated in

²¹⁸ Carrying capacity marks the capacity to sustain a maximum population within a specific area and under given technological capabilities; assimilative or regenerative capacity marks the capacity of the area to assimilate and break down waste and pollution. *Ihid.*, p.10 a.f.

²¹⁹ Such environmental policies can play a role in avoiding or extending the reaching of the potential limits to growth (a high agenda point of certain environmentalists, such as the "limits to growth" school).

D.Pearce, J.Warford, supra note 165, p.3 a.f.

²²⁰ L.Susskind. *supra* note 191, p.18-21.

developed countries). While the North emphasizes population growth rates as a major concern, the South argues that it is the *product* of both population and consumption levels that cause global problems such as resource degradation and development concerns, thus linking the population concern with equally concerning consumption patterns.²²²

The participation of the South in development and environment negotiations is of major importance for the success of the resulting instruments. Sufficient incentives to join, such as technology transfers, access to markets, debt-relief and other financial incentives should be construed in order to enable developing countries to participate. These incentives are necessary, not only economically but also psychologically, as the North's acceptance of its involvement in the South's problems.²²³

Lastly, we remark that the eternal division of countries into 'developed' or

'developing' seems to be a poor basis on which to build a global partnership for

sustainable development.

As discussed above, there is a growing recognition of the fact that it is the *quality* of development rather than the quantity of economic growth that is important. This view is emphasized by the concept of "Sustainable Development".

²²¹ M.Grubb et al., The earth summit agreements : a guide and assessment, (London : Earthscan, 1993), p.26 a.f.

²²² *Ibid.*, p.30 a.f.; J.Rowley, J.Holmberg, "Living in a sustainable world". in J.Holmberg, ed., *Making development sustainable*, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1992), p.334 a.f.
²²³ The South, with its weak economic base, sometimes irrational economic structures. overpopulation, indebtedness and its lack of modern technology, is not only a cause of environmental degradation, but also its principal victim. What they need is to reduce their dependence, and to develop their economies, agricultural methods and technologies. Financial and technological assistance, development banks, education and training, environmental funds, and increased participation in negotiation could alleviate some of these problems. L.Cheng, "The legislation and implementation of international environmental law and the third world : the example of China", in E.Brown Weiss, ed., *Environmental change and international law*, (Tokyo : UN University Press, 1992), p.184 a.f.

The term gradually emerged literature since the mid-seventies²²⁴, but came to fame - and received political weight - by the work of the World Commission on Environment and Development (chaired by Gro Harlem Brundtland) in its report Our Common Future²²⁵. The report - accepted by the UN General Assembly on 11 December 1987 and reiterated in several successive international instruments, such as the 1992 UNCED Declaration (or Rio Declaration)²²⁶ - defines "Sustainable Development" as 'development which satisfies the basic needs of the present generation without compromising the capability of future generations to satisfy their basic needs'²²⁷. This goal signifies the integration of environmental concerns into the entirety of economic and development policies - environmental protection is recognized as a *cross-sectional* responsibility, affecting policies concerning population, agriculture, forestry, energy, industrial development, urban settlement, and trade; in short the entire development scene. In addition, the goal of sustainable development requires the inclusion of equity - intra- and intergenerational equity - into public policy. Finally, sustainable development indicates

í.

²²⁴ See J.Holmberg, R.Sandbrook, "Sustainable development : what is to be done?", in J.Holmberg, ed., *Making development sustainable*, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1992), p.19.

²²⁵ WCED, Our common future, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1987).

²²⁶ H.Hohmann, *supra* note 186, p.77 a.f.: K.Hossain, "Evolving principles of sustainable development and good governance", in K.Ginther *et al.*, eds., *Sustainable development and good governance*, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995), p.18 a.f.: M.Grubb *et al.*, *supra* note 221, p.87-89. For an introduction to that other UNCED document, Agenda 21, see T.Carrol-Foster, *supra* note 195.

In fact, Sustainable Development has become a notion around which "legally significant expectations regarding environmental conduct have begun to crystallize". It is being increasingly used in the development-trade-environment debate, at the national and international level, and in binding agreements. In time, Sustainable Development, the obligation to protect the environment and the right to a sound environment might become *preremptory norms* of International Law (i.e. *ius cogens*). See P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 184, p.5-14; B.Simma, ed., *The Charter of the UN : a commentary*, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1994), p.779.

²²⁷ WCED, *supra* note 225, p. 43.

the need to emphasize policies that are consistent with the planet's endowments, i.e. consistent with the earth's resource base.²²⁸

At the most basic level, dictionaries define the verb sustain as 'keep up. prolong. nourish', and development as 'the improvement of human well-fare and the quality of life'²²⁹. As noted above, development is therefore not entirely synonymous with economic growth, but is a far wider concept : development takes place on several levels, in several systems; and it intrinsically involves trade-offs between these levels. Development will become increasingly sustainable when system goals overlap.²³⁰

Moreover, theoreticians from those three systems or disciplines place varying interpretations on the concept of Sustainable Development. The biophysical or ecological view focuses on a development process that respects and improves the *stability of the biophysical system* : the natural environment could become unstable as a result of stresses resulting from 'unsustainable' activities. Protecting the environment then means limiting the stresses on the ecosystem to 'sustainable' levels. Maintaining nature's biodiversity, the carrying and assimilative capacities of the resource base, and its capacity to adapt to change are essential. Second. the socio-cultural approach emphasizes the maintaining of the *stability of social and cultural systems* - ethics, beliefs, institutions, etc. In this view, it is crucial to develop 'sustainable' social practices to help manage the resource base. In this approach social equity and cultural diversity are essential. Third, the economic

²²⁸ H.Hohmann, *supra* note 186, p.78-79; I.Goldwin, L.Winters, *supra* note 192, p.147 a.f.

²²⁹ Such as advances in the realm of education, health, self-esteem and utilities. See D.Pearce.
J.Warford, *supra* note 165, p.42-43.

²³⁰ J.Holmberg, R.Sandbrook, *supra* note 224, p.23-27.

school bases sustainability on the *improvement* of the economic living standard *while at least maintaining* the stock of assets that yield these benefits. These different interpretations of the same concept illustrate the theoretical possibilities of sustainable development.²³¹ Furthermore, they are merely accents that are being placed on the same concept. It is clear that these social as well as ecological and economic elements all constitute Sustainable Development. A useful²³² practical definition of Sustainable Development, containing the three elements, could read : "the maximization of benefits of social and economic development, subject to maintaining the services from and quality of natural resources over time".²³³

Out of the preceding, several "Core Sustainable Development Principles" can be put forward²³⁴. First, sustainable development requires a development process that respects ecological integrity, i.e. the conservation of the earth's life-supporting systems (such as atmosphere, climate, water, soil, etc.). In practice, this means avoiding irreversible harm to the ability of the resource base to act as a provider of inputs (carrying capacity) and as a "sink" to absorb waste (assimilative or regenerative capacity), and to respect the earth's biodiversity. Second, sustainable

²³¹ But it also shows its difficulty : various authors catalogue 'Sustainable Development' as a "buzz word", because of the lack of agreement on its precise meaning, noting that the discussion over its substance has produced a variety of often difficult-reconcilable themes. See P.Malanczuk, "Sustainable development : some critical thoughts in the light of the Rio Conference". in K.Ginther *et al.*, eds., *Sustainable development and good governance*. (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995), p.25 a.f.: P.Dasgupta, "Optimal versus sustainable development", in I.Serageldin, A.Steer, eds., *Valuing the environment*, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, Proceedings of the 1st annual international conference on environmentally sustainable development, 1993), p.35-46.

²³² Offering at least a general orientation and direction for action.

²³³ See for a concise description of the different theoretical approaches : M.Munasinghe,
J.McNeely, "Key concepts and terminology of sustainable development", in M.Munasinghe,
W.Shearer, eds., *Defining and measuring sustainability*, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1995),
p.19-55; and I.Serageldin, "Promoting sustainable development : toward a new paradigm", in
I.Serageldin, A.Steer, eds., *supra* note 231, p.13-21.

development stresses the necessity of the most efficient use of capital (natural, social and manufactured) : it means using the resource as to prolong its availability, through preventative and anticipatory policies. and full-cost accounting (i.e. the internalization of all costs in the price)²³⁵. Third, sustainable development requires that the benefits of development be shared equitably, among the present generations and with the future ones : equity within - *inter*generational equity.²³⁶ Fourth, public participation and access to information, allowing meaningful involvement and self-empowerment. Fifth, the principle of stewardship and individual responsibility, based on the idea that each individual's action has environmental, social and economic significance, and that environmental awareness begins at the individual level. Sixth, sustainable development requires international cooperation among states, among all sectors and at all levels of policy.

In conclusion, we can say that Sustainable Development requires the integration and coordination of environmental, social and economic considerations in decision-making. Such a *holistic approach* takes into account a multiplicity of factors of scientific, economic, social, political and ecological nature in the development process : every state - on the basis of sovereign equality - and every generation - on the basis of social equity within or between generations - is to

²³⁴ See J.Moffet, F.Bregha, *supra* note 200, p.1 a.f.; *Trade and sustainable development principles*, (Winnipeg : International institute for sustainable development, 1994), p.14 a.f.

²³⁵ M.Pinto, "Reflection on the term sustainable development and its institutional implications", in K.Ginther *et al.*, eds., *Sustainable development and good governance*. (Dordecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995), p.72 a.f.: T.Andersson *et al.*, *supra* note 160, p.13-15.

²³⁶ I.Goldwin, L.Winters, *supra* note 192, p.148 a.f.: D.Pearce, J.Warford, *supra* note 165, p.44 a.f., proposing several solutions on how to put intergenerational equity into practice, for example the idea of an intergenerational fund, or non-declining capital stocks.

participate in the process towards global cooperation in the field of the environment, economy and development.²³⁷

²³⁷ M.Pinto, *supra* note 235, p.76-79; H.French, *supra* note 189, p.7-8; M.Munasinghe, W.Cruz, *Economywide policies and the environment : lessons from experience*, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1995), p.1 a.f.
CHAPTER III : INSTITUTIONS I : THE EXISTING INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS RELATING TO TRADE AND ENVIRONMENT.

Chapter III will focus on the already-existing organizational structures that deal with trade and environment issues. The institutions of trade regimes and environmental protection regimes will be discussed, as well as the UN structure, including the International Court of Justice. Development Banks and NGO participation. We will provide for a general understanding of the functioning and role played by these various institutions, their organizational structure, and their respective ability (or lack of) to deal with the variety of trade-environmentdevelopment issues at stake.

The aim of the Chapter is to provide a factual overview of how existing institutions deal with the trade-environment debate, and how these institutions have undergone organizational changes in order to deal with these issues. We will see what progress has been made in creating institutions that deal with the environment, and in integrating environmental concerns into trade and development organizations. In sum, Chapter III will furnish us with the necessary factual elements that will permit us to assess these institutions' respective capacities and abilities to deal with the trade-environment-development debate the assessment itself will be made in Chapter IV.

A.: WTO/GATT.

Before the advent of the WTO, since the General Agreement did not explicitly provide any formal structure²³⁹, the organizational structure of the multilateral trade regime evolved pragmatically : the Contracting Parties meeting once a year, they quickly created the GATT Council²⁴⁰, several committees and a small secretariat, and assigned much work to this structure. With the creation of the WTO on January 1st, 1995, these organizational infirmities are remedied.²⁴¹

The WTO's functions are to administer. facilitate the operation, and further the objectives of the Multilateral Trade Agreements (i.e. the GATT and its side agreements)²⁴²; to serve as a forum for international trade negotiations: to administer the dispute settlement system; to oversee national trade policies: and to cooperate with other international institutions involved in global economic decision-making (e.g. those listed in this Chapter).²⁴³

The Agreement Establishing the WTO (the WTO Agreement) provides for the structure of the organization it creates. The highest authority is the Ministerial

 $^{^{238}}$ As with the environmental protection regimes in section 2, the discussion in section 1 will be limited to the three most relevant regimes to our research.

²³⁹ It was intended that the GATT would be subsumed under the - deadborn - International Trade Organization.

²⁴⁰ In 1960.

²⁴¹ See P.Pescatore *et al., Handbook of WTO/GATT dispute settlement*, vol.1, (The Hague : Kluwer Law International, 1995), p.11 a.f.

²⁴² Certain side agreements (those on government procurement, dairy products, bovine meat and civil aircraft) are not included in the Multilateral Trade Agreements (which are binding on all WTO members). They are referred to as *plurilateral agreements*, and are not binding on WTO members not party to them. They are administered by their own respective management bodies, which report to the WTO General Council. See "About the WTO". Netscape

http://www.unicc.org/wto/about_wpf.html

²⁴³ Trading into the future : the WTO, (Geneva : WTO, 1995): "About the WTO", supra note 242.

Conference, to be held every two years.²⁴⁴ However, the day-to-day work of the WTO falls to a number of subsidiary bodies, principally the General Council, which also functions as the Dispute Settlement Body (DSB) and the Trade Policy Review Body. Three bodies are situated under - and report to - the General Council : the Council for Trade in Goods, the Council for Trade in Services, and the Council for Trade-related aspects of Intellectual Property Rights. Other bodies, such as the Committee on Trade and Development, the Committee on Balance of Payments, and the Committee on Budget. Finance and Administration also report to the General Council.²⁴⁵ The General Council established a **Committee on**

Trade and Environment, which reports to the Ministerial Conference. The small

and rather passive GATT secretariat is subsumed by the WTO secretariat.²⁴⁶

One of WTO's declared objectives is to seek to avoid and resolve trade disputes²⁴⁷. The dispute settlement mechanism²⁴⁸ under the WTO Agreement. including dispute settlement under GATS. TRIPS and the other side-agreements. is still based on the principles of the GATT articles XXII-XXIII. In addition, the 1994 Dispute Settlement Understanding establishes procedures for dispute

²⁴⁴ The next Conference will be held in December 1996, in Singapore.

²⁴⁵ See Trading into the future : the WTO, supra note 243.

²⁴⁶ Staffed with around 450 people, the WTO secretariat's responsibilities include servicing the WTO bodies, providing technical support to developing countries, assisting in the resolution of trade disputes, and reviewing national trade policies. See "About the WTO", *supra* note 242; P.Pescatore *et al.*, *supra* note 241, p.14-15.

²⁴⁷ This is one of the major functions of the WTO, since dispute settlement and their procedures are seen as core measures for effective enforcement of the obligations found in the Multilateral Trade Agreements. See J.Jackson, "The legal meaning of a GATT dispute settlement report : some reflections", in N.Blokker, S.Muller, eds..*Towards more effective supervision by international organizations*, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff, 1994), p.151; P.Pescatore *et al., supra* note 241, p.70. The aim of the WTO dispute settlement procedure is to secure a positive and mutuallyacceptable solution to a problem. See for more details, *Trading into the future : the WTO*, (Geneva : WTO, 1995), p.18-19: updated information on panel procedures can be found in WTO's newsletter *Focus*, (Geneva : WTO).

²⁴⁸ Its task being not only to settle disputes, but also by doing so further develop International Trade Law, E.U.Petersmann, "International trade law and international environmental law" (1993)
27 Journal of World Trade, p.53.

settlement under a new entity, the above-mentioned Dispute Settlement Body²⁴⁹. If negotiations and consultations fail²⁵⁰, a party may request the DSB to establish a panel - or an Appellate Body - to consider the dispute and make findings that will assist the DSB in making recommendations or rulings²⁵¹, their reports being adopted by the DSB unless it decides by consensus not to do so. This WTO procedure has been greatly strengthened and judicialized compared to its predecessor, the procedure under the GATT (which stressed more negotiation, consensus, and compromise).²⁵² This predecessor has since 1980 been more frequently used for the settlement of international environmental disputes than the procedures of any other world-wide organization²⁵³, however in such a manner that it reinforced the tendency to subordinate environmental considerations to trade interests : panel members often are chosen for their expertise in trade matters (with less or no regard to their expertise in other relevant areas, such as the environment); panels place the burden of proof on the party relying upon the article XX exception; panelists typically do not apply International Law other than GATT law; and the procedure remains a largely closed, secret, confidential process.²⁵⁴ None of this seems to have changed in the new procedure.²⁵⁵

É

(

²⁴⁹ Which is in fact the WTO General Council acting in a dispute settlement role.

²⁵⁰ In International Law (and International Trade Law is no exception), the importance of negotiations and consultations as means to solve a conflict is continuously stressed, e.g. by the International Court of Justice. See S.Murase. "Perspectives from international economic law on transnational environmental issues" (1995) to be published in the Receuil des Cours. The Hague Academy of International Law, 1995, p.107-108.

²⁵¹ In assessing the relevant provisions, the Antidumping Code (but not the Dispute Settlement Understanding) provides that the panel shall interpret them *in accordance with customary rules of interpretation of* (general) *public international law*. Including principles of international environmental law?!? See *infra*. Chapter IV. section 1. P.Pescatore *et al.*, *supra* note 241, p.72-73. ²⁵² *Ibid.*, p.104 a.f.; J.Jackson, *supra* note 247, p.155.

²⁵³ E.U.Petersmann. supra note 248, p.43 a.f.

²⁵⁴ See supra. Chapter I: and J.Dunoff, "Institutional misfits : the GATT, the ICJ and tradeenvironment disputes" (1994) 15 Michigan Journal of International Law, p.1063-1066. GATT panels have been empowered to call upon the assistance of bodies of experts for a long time (since the 1979 Understanding on Dispute Settlement, further strengthened by the 1994 WTO

Another forum where the multilateral trading system considered the relationship between trade and the environment is inside its non-dispute related organs. GATT's initial response to the trade-environment controversy came from the GATT Secretariat²⁵⁶, and from the GATT Council, who established in November 1971 a Group in order to examine - upon request - matters relevant to the trade policy aspects of pollution control measures. Never active, this group was reactivated in 1991 as the Group on Environmental Measures and International Trade (EMIT). The mandate of the Group was to study the trade effects of packaging and labeling requirements, transparency issues and - most importantly - the use of trade restriction in Multilateral Environmental Agreements.²⁵⁷ The Group made substantial progress in examining the tradeenvironment relationship in the context of the GATT, and was given - along with the Committee on Trade and Development, and the GATT Council - a remit to follow-up on trade-oriented decisions of the UNCED held in Rio de Janeiro. June 1992 (the Earth Summit).²⁵⁸ The Marrakech Decision on Trade and the Environment (adopted at the first Ministerial Conference on April 14th, 1994).

Ū

١.

Agreement on Dispute Settlement). However, to date panels have refused to do so in environmental matters. See A.De Mestral, *Dispute avoidance: weighing the values of trade and environment under the NAFTA and the NAAEC*, CEC Environment and Trade Series, no.3, (Montreal : CEC, 1996), p.16.

 ²⁵⁵ More transparency, openness and NGO representation should be built in. See L.Brinkhorst,
 A.van Buitenen, *Focus on environment and trade*, (Leiden : Europa Institute, 1994), p.16-17.
 ²⁵⁶ See e.g. its report on trade and environment in *International trade 1990-1991*, vol.1, (Geneva : GATT secretariat, 1992), p.19 a.f.

In addition, the Secretariat organized the public GATT symposium on trade, environment and sustainable development in June 1994. See "GATT/TWO activities on trade and environment". Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/Trade-Env/te2.html

 ²⁵⁷ See GATT activities 1992-1993 : an annual review of the work of GATT. (Geneva : GATT. 1993-94), p.81-83; 93-96; Basic instruments and selected documents, supp.40, 1992-1993 and 48th session, (Geneva : GATT, 1995), p.75-101; "Group on environmental measures and international trade". Netscape http://www.ustr.gov/reports/annualrpt/1994/gatt-wto.html
 ²⁵⁸ W.Benedek, "Implications of the principle of sustainable development, human rights and good governance for the GATT/WTO", in K.Ginther et al., eds., Sustainable development and good governance, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff, 1995), p.277 a.f.

decided on the creation of a permanent WTO Committee on Trade and Environment, which was established in early 1995 by the General Council.²⁵⁹ The Committee will continue the work of the defunct EMIT Group²⁶⁰, with the aim of making international trade and environment policies <u>mutually supportive</u>.²⁶¹ However, two important assumptions guide the work of the Committee : WTO competence for policy coordination in this area is limited to trade: and the permanent upholding of the fundamental principles of the multilateral trading system.²⁶²

Following the WTO's objective of 'promoting cooperation with other international institutions involved in global economic policy-making'. 11 inter-governmental organizations have obtained observer status in this Committee on Trade and Environment.²⁶³

²⁵⁹ In the mean time, the work was carried out by a Sub-Committee of the Preparatory Committee of the WTO. W.Benedek, *supra* note 258, p.278; G.Handl, ed., *Yearbook of international environmental law*, vol.5, 1994, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1995), p.283 a.f.

²⁶⁰ Including its work concerning the follow-up of the UNCED, packaging and labeling requirements, standards, competitiveness concerns, trade restrictions in environmental agreements. transparency, market access, exports of domestically prohibited goods, and the relationship between dispute settlement procedures in trade regimes and in environmental protection agreements. It will consider the work program envisaged by the Decision on Trade in Services and the Environment, the relevant provisions of the TRIPS Agreement, and the arrangements for relations with intergovernmental and Non-Governmental Organizations. See G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p.283-284, and p.608 a.f.; and "WTO committee on trade and environment" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/Trade+Env/tocte.html

²⁶¹ Its objectives are the identification of the relationship between trade measures and environmental measures in order to promote sustainable development, and the making of appropriate recommendations on whether modifications to the multilateral trading system are required. See *Trading into the future : the WTO, supra* note 243, p.34.
²⁶² Ibid., p.34.

²⁶³ Amongst others, the UN Commission on Sustainable Development, UNEP, UNDP, UNCTAD, the World Bank, OECD, EFTA, FAO. Document "WTO trade and environment bulletin no.1". Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/Trade+Env/te1.html

No NGO's have received observer status (an argument of the US in favor of NGO observers was rejected by a large majority; WTO proceedings will remain private and secretive). NGO's look at these observers as precedents for their own inclusion. See R.Page. "International trade and the environment : the WTO and the new beginning", in J.Kirton, S.Richardson, eds., *The Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform*, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1995), p.66-69: and *infra*, Chapter IV, section 1, p.118.

B.: NAFTA/NAAEC.

The institutional aspect of the NAFTA trade deal that is the most related to the trade-environment debate is its dispute settlement procedure headed by the Free Trade Commission, which is a bit more affirmative towards environmental concerns (choice of forum, burden of proof, and panelist expertise) than the GATT/WTO procedure, but still looks at environmental objectives as subordinated to trade interests.²⁶⁴

The parallel North American Agreement on Environmental Cooperation addresses the environmental perspective, and aims at strengthening trilateral environmental cooperation, the effective enforcement of domestic environmental regulations, the promotion of sustainable development and of transparency and public participation in the policy process.²⁶⁵ The NAAEC establishes the **Commission for Environmental Cooperation (CEC)**, comprising a governing Council, a central Secretariat, and a Joint Public Advisory Committee (JPAC). The Council, composed of cabinet-level representatives of the Parties (thus a truly intergovernmental body), will oversee the implementation of the Agreement, serve as a forum for discussion of environmental matters, develop recommendations on them, promote and facilitate cooperation. oversee the Secretariat, and govern the NAAEC's specific dispute settlement provisions. The Council equally maintains a list of (environmental) experts who could provide technical advice to NAFTA

²⁶⁴ See supra, Chapter I, section 2, p.30-31.

J.Dunoff, supra note 254, p.1072 a.f.

²⁶⁵ Preamble of NAAEC.

institutions such as the Free Trade Commission (e.g. in the dispute resolution procedures).²⁶⁶

i

{

The Secretariat is responsible for providing administrative, technical and operational support to the Council or other committees. It will prepare an annual budget and program. The Secretariat will consider submissions from any person or non-governmental organization (NGO) or association alleging a Party's failure to effectively enforce its environmental law.²⁶⁷

The Joint Public Advisory Committee includes 5 members of the public (mainly NGO representatives) from each country, and will advise the Council and provide technical, scientific or other information to the Secretariat.

NAAEC's dispute resolution (articles 22 to 36 NAAEC) - a pure inter-party or intergovernmental procedure - aims at ensuring that each Party effectively enforces its domestic environmental laws. Again, if consultations and negotiations cannot bring a solution, any Party can request the Council (by a two-thirds vote) to establish an arbitral panel. Panelists will include environmental experts, they can seek technical advice and information from any appropriate body, and the reports (but not the hearings!) of the panel will be made public. At the end, 'monetary

²⁶⁶ Art. 9 par.5, and art. 10 par. 6 reveal that the Council *may* establish ad hoc committees or working groups, *may* seek the advice of NGO's or experts, and that the Council *shall* cooperate with the NAFTA Free Trade Commission to achieve environmental goals and objectives of the NAFTA, by (c) contributing to the prevention or resolution of environment-related trade disputes. by (iii) identifying experts able to provide information or technical advice to NAFTA committees. working groups and other NAFTA bodies. However, S.Richardson, CEC Programme Manager NAFTA / Environment, indicates that a lot more use could be made of this provision in the future. At the present time, this provision is not being frequently used. Interview with S.Richardson, August 12, 1996, at CEC Secretariat, Montreal.

²⁶⁷ This would initiate the procedure of articles 14 and 15 of NAAEC, giving the Secretariat under stringent conditions - the power to redact a factual report, which could - under a two-thirds Council majority vote - be made public. This publicity is however <u>the onlv sanction available</u> in this "NGO participation procedure" - in stark contrast with the Intergovernmental Dispute Resolution procedure of articles 22 to 36 NAAEC.

enforcement assessments' and even the suspension of NAFTA benefits $(!)^{268}$ - a real trade sanction - are possible sanctions.

Overall, the drafters of the NAAEC have responded to a pressing concern in the environmental area, namely the NGO preoccupation with accessible trade and environment institutions. Compared to other organizations, the CEC offers a great deal of openness and transparency, although not completely. Can the CEC go beyond public participation in the JPAC?²⁶⁹

C.: EUROPEAN UNION.

Ĺ

ŧ,

As much as NAFTA is focused on trilateral intergovernmental cooperation. the EU goes significantly further in its (supranational) commitments. This expresses itself not only in the substantive rules²⁷⁰, but also in the structure and strength of its institutions.

The institutional structure comprises a Parliament, a Commission, a Council of Ministers, and a Court of Justice. The Parliament, originally a mere

²⁶⁸ Only in the case of US and Mexico. In the case of Canada, the monetary enforcement assessment is enforceable in the Canadian Courts. However, given the many opportunities for compliance in this subtly crafted procedure, it is quite unlikely that these remedies will ever be used. See G.Grayson, The NAFTA : regional community and the new world order, (Lanham : University Press of America, 1994), p142-143; J.Dunoff, supra note 254, p.1085. 269 P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu, The environment and NAFTA : understanding and implementing the new Continental law, (Washington D.C.: Island Press, 1996), p.70-73, 136-169, 171-240; NAAEC/NAALC : background information. (Ottawa : Government of Canada, 1993); B.Condon. "The impact of the NAFTA, the NAAEC and constitutional law on environmental policy in Canada and Mexico", in S.Randall, H.Konrad, eds., NAFTA in transition, (Calgary : University of Calgary Press, 1995), p.282-286; G.Grayson, supra note 268, p.133-144; J.Gilbraeth, J.Tonra, "The environment : unwelcome guest at the free trade party", in D.Baer, S.Weintraub, eds., The NAFTA debate : grappling with unconventional trade issues, (London : Lynne Rienner Publishers, 1994), p. 80-88; P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu. "NAFTA's green opportunities" (1994) 1 Journal of Environmental CoPractice, p.5 a.f.; R.Housman. "The NAFTA's lessons for reconciling trade and the environment" (1994) 30 Stanford Journal of International Law, p.379 a.f. ²⁷⁰ See supra, Chapter I, Section 2. For a summary for the EU's recent action on the environment,

²⁷⁰ See *supra*. Chapter I, Section 2. For a summary for the EU's recent action on the environment, see G.Handi, *supra* note 259, p.501 a.f.

advisory body with few legislative powers, acquired additional powers (mostly of consultation) by the Single European Act and the Maastricht Treaty. The Commission has no legislative powers either, but is the initiator and coordinator of Community policies, and as the executive organ it is the guardian of its Community Law. The Commission has organized itself into 23 Directorates-General (DG). DG XI is responsible for environment, nuclear safety and civil protection, and was created in 1981. It employs a staff of 350, and is sub-divided into several directorates (who are responsible for waste management, environmental quality, natural resources, economic instruments, etc.)²⁷¹. Since the Single European Act and its article 130 R. all DG's have the obligation to integrate the environment into their policies. This has led to the creation of units responsible for environmental policy in a number of DG's.²⁷² The Commission is also increasingly involved in international environmental policy-making : it participates in the work of international organizations such as the OECD, several UN institutions, and the WTO Committee on Trade and Environment, and receives negotiation mandates from the Council for the negotiation of environmental agreements, where it coordinates the definition of a common Community position.²⁷³ In the Commission. DG XI is the prime responsible for the implementation of intra-Community policies related to the environment. Regarding the EC's environmental policies and positions towards extra-Community affairs, DG XI cooperates closely with, and under the leadership of, DG I, the responsible Directorate-General for extra-Community economic

ŧ

ť

 ²⁷¹ See Administrative structures for environmental management in the EC, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG XI, 1993).
 ²⁷² Ihid

relations. Together DG I and XI represent the Community in the International institutions that deal with the question of Trade-Development-Environment. Especially in the WTO's Committee on Trade and Environment (CTE) they participate very actively, by preparing and submitting numerous background studies and policy papers on issues such as ecolabeling, market access, and environmental benefits of the removal of trade distortions. On the most important issue of the CTE agenda, namely the relationship between the multilateral trading system, and trade measures for environmental purposes (including those pursuant to Multilateral Environmental Agreements), they submitted an innovative proposal : the Commission proposed to amend GATT Article XX, so as to "form a legal and procedural framework, which aims at reconciling the need for the WTO to accommodate the legitimate goals of Environmental Protection when it is the expression of international consensus and cooperation, whilst at the same time preserving the open, equitable and non-discriminatory character of the Multilateral Trading System". This initiative, submitted to the CTE at its 26-29 February 1996 session, contains two possible proposals of amending article XX. Both ways refer to an "Understanding on the relationship between trade measures taken pursuant to Multilateral Environmental Agreements (MEA) and the WTO rules": the Understanding defines an MEA as "an international written instrument, adopted in conformity with the customary International Law as codified by the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, creating legal obligations (...) and aimed at solving environmental problems the solution of which requires action on the international level". If the MEA is "open to participation by all parties concerned

ť

²⁷³ A topic example is the Commission's role in the coordination of the implementation of the

(...)", and "reflects, through adequate participation, the interests of all parties concerned (...)", measures taken pursuant of the MEA shall be <u>presumed to be</u> <u>necessary</u>. Any WTO dispute settlement panel will review whether the measures satisfy the preambular requirements of article XX, but shall <u>not</u> test if the measures were 'necessary' to achieve the objectives of the MEA. In addition, the first amendment-proposal only refers to measures taken pursuant to the thusdefined MEA's. The second amendment-proposal goes even further, by adding the word 'environment' in article XX (b), thus even allowing for measures protecting the environment taken outside the framework of an MEA to be WTO-consistent: however, such measures taken outside the framework of an MEA remain under full panel scrutiny, including the 'necessary' test! Furthermore, the Understanding would encourage consultation and cooperation between the WTO Secretariat and the Secretariats of the MEA's.

į į

1

However, this progressive and innovative approach of the Commission of the EC was totally frustrated, challenged and contested by virtually all other members of the CTE, especially by many developing countries and even by the US. In this and other issues, the EU's positioning was most of the time put aside, and not much progress has been made in the CTE. In fact, it is feared by the Commission that the report of the CTE to the WTO Ministerial Conference in Singapore will be totally void of concrete recommendations or legally meaningful results.²⁷⁴

Montreal Protocol on substances that deplete the ozone layer for the Community as a whole. ²⁷⁴ Commission of the EC. non-paper by the EC : The relationship between the provisions of the multilateral trading system and trade measures for environmental purposes, including those pursuant to Multilateral Environmental Agreements, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996); Commission of the EC, Ecolabeling schemes : EC non-paper, (Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996); Commission of the EC, non-paper by the EC : The effect of environmental measures on market access, especially in relation to developing countries, and environmental benefits of

The Council of Ministers is the principal decision-making body. The articles 100A and 130S²⁷⁵ allow qualified majority voting for environmental regulations²⁷⁶. The Council also decides on the famous *Environmental Action Programmes*, which began in 1973, and which define the basic principles and objectives of the EU towards the environment.²⁷⁷ These Programmes are a perfect example of how the Commission initiates, coordinates and participates in Community Policies. decided by the Council. The current Programme of 'Policy and Action in Relation to the Environment and Sustainable Development' focuses on achieving Sustainable Development, "economic and social development for current and future generations which ensures the continuity of our ecosystems". On January 10th, 1996, the Commission adopted a Progress Report on the Implementation of the fifth Programme. The report identifies the major areas of concern and highlights key-concepts of EU's Environmental Policy.²⁷⁸

Ļ

í

The European Court of Justice has the task to settle disputes and conflicts, thereby interpreting and developing Community legislation. The procedure can be initiated by Community institutions (principally the Commission), member states, and in some cases individuals concerned. The Court has been very active in interpreting

²⁷⁷ The current Action Programme is the fifth, and runs from 1993 to 2000.

removing trade restrictions and distortions. (Brussels : Commission of the EC. DG I. 1996); Interview with Allessandro Paolicchi. Commission of the EC. DG I. Brussels, October 8th, 1996. ²⁷⁵ See *supra*, Chapter I. Section 2.

²⁷⁶ Except for regulation involving fiscal matters, urban and rural planning, and energy supplies structures, where unanimity voting persists. See Article 130 S. Treaty of Rome.

²⁷⁸ Key-concepts such as policy integration, shared responsibility, policy instruments (e.g. funding, fiscal and market-based incentives), implementation and international cooperation. The progress report aims to reinforce the existing Action Programme, and thus the EU policy

towards Development and Environment. Commission of the EC. Taking European Environment Policy into the 21st Century. (Brussels : Commission of the EC. 1996).

regulations that could have an impact on the environment. especially in the early years.²⁷⁹

Finally, a new European Environmental Agency (EEA) - accompanied by its 'environmental information and observation networks' - has been established in Kopenhagen. Their purpose is to provide the Community and the member states with objective, reliable and comparable information at European level, and technical and scientific support and assistance in the development of environmental policies and the assessment of their implementation, thus facilitating cooperation among the member-states. Although totally independent from the Commission, the EEA will collaborate closely with EU and relevant international organizations.²⁸⁰

(

²⁷⁹ E.g. Cases Commission v. Italy; Walloon waste case; Cassis de Dijon case; Commission v. Denmark (Danish bottles case). See S.Walker, Environmental protection versus trade liberalization : finding the balance. (Bruxelles : Publications des Facultes Universitaires Saint-Louis, 1993), p.23 a.f.; L.Kramer, EC Treaty and Environmental Law, (London : Sweet & Maxwell, 1995), p.99 a.f.; D.Gerardin, R.Stewardson, "Trade and environment : lessons from Castlemaine Tooheys (Australia) and Danish Bottles (EC)" (1995) 44 International and Comparative Quarterly, p.41 a.f.

The ECJ has the express mandate to balance trade and environment considerations, and can seek expert advice from environmental assessors to complete the information received from the arguments of the Parties, and the Advocate General to the Court. See A.De Mestral. *supra* note 254, p.18-19.

²⁸⁰ See generally on the EU structure, Administrative structures for environmental management in the EC, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG XI, 1993); P.Birnie, A.Boyle, International law and the environment. (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1992), p.65 a.f.; J.Gilbraeth, J.Tonra, supra note 269, p.66 a.f.; S.Walker, supra note 279.

SECTION 2 : THE INSTITUTIONAL ASPECTS OF ENVIRONMENTAL AGREEMENTS²⁸¹

Upon negotiation of environmental protection agreements, the real task of ensuring that paper commitments are translated into real policy changes fall largely on the institutions that are created by the agreements. These institutions include a Conference of Parties-annex-Secretariat, and a structure to deal with non-compliance (i.e. dispute settlement mechanisms).

At a minimum, each individual treaty spawns a Conference of Parties, and a Secretariat.²⁸² Conferences of Parties are regular Meetings of treaty members. at which the Parties can alter, strengthen, assess the agreement, and review its implementation.²⁸³ Secretariats are the offices set up to service these meetings of signatories, but although they could play a potential important role in overseeing the implementation of agreements, all too often Parties vest them with too limited a mandate and funding.²⁸⁴ Their mandate generally does not permit them to verify

ł

 ²⁸¹ The Washington Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), the Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, and the Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer and its Protocol will serve as the most known examples of multilateral environmental agreements.
 ²⁸² See H.French, *Partnership for the planet : an environmental agenda for the UN*, (Washington D.C. : Worldwatch Institute, 1995), p.22 a.f.

²⁸³ For instance, the Meeting of Parties to the Vienna Convention for the protection of the ozone layer met several times, to explore the possibility of, and negotiate the implementing Protocol and its amendments. The CITES Conference of Parties established a panel of experts to undertake a review of interpretative problems of the Convention. See R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, *Protecting the ozone layer through trade measures : reconciling the trade provisions of the Montreal protocol and the rules of the GATT*, (Geneva : UNEP, Environment and Trade series, 1994), p.11-42; K.Christie, "Stacking the deck : compliance and dispute settlement in international environmental agreements", in K.Christie, ed., *New directions : environment, labour and the international trade agenda*, (Ottawa : Carleton University Press, 1995), p.56.

²⁸⁴ A typical secretariat employs fewer than 20 staff, and has an annual budget of \$1 to 3 (U.S.) million, "a drop in the bucket compared to the budgets of US federal agencies charged with implementing domestic environmental laws". See H.French, *supra* note 282, p.22. For instance, the Secretariat to the Basel Convention has primarily been given information gathering and transmitting powers, without however any real oversight possibilities. As such, the

the information governments are supposed to supply. Moreover, governments often even fail to provide any complete and timely information as is required.²⁸⁵ Another problem is the scattered location of these secretariats all over the globe. Centralizing these bodies under one roof would offer enormous opportunities for the exchange of information, ideas, and the coordination of their activities. Although Agenda 21 endorses the idea of centrally locating secretariats, countries still remain reluctant to do so. Further on, the problem of underfunding leaves a lot of good intentions unexplored : shortages of resources to provide financial and technological assistance render many developing countries unable to comply with some treaty requirements, a critical issue for the success or failure of such treaties. The ozone protection regime's Secretariat is based in Nairobi, and its functions are critical for the effectiveness of the regime protecting the ozone layer. The Secretariat arranges the meeting of the Parties, takes the initiative in conceptualizing new and constructive ideas, and provides advice to the Parties. These are obliged to submit data on their consumption of controlled substances. and on their scientific research and the exchange of information. The Secretariat carries out the administrative role in the non-compliance procedure by receiving the submissions of non-compliance by a Party (see *infra*). It also provides information and advice to the Funding mechanisms (the Multilateral Fund).²⁸⁶

1.1

Basel Convention was left without any viable enforcement mechanisms. M.Amlak, *African* countries and the conventions on the control of transboundary movements of hazardous wastes. (Montreal : McGill University, 1992), p.68-77.

²⁸⁵ While 80% of the parties to the Montreal Protocol had presented the required information, only 30% of the members of the London Dumping Convention, and less than 25% of the CITES parties had done so. See H.French. *supra* note 282, p.22-23. A notable exception is the CITES secretariat. which has the power to demand explanations from non-complying countries.

²⁸⁶ R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, *supra*, note 283, p.42-43.

The regime protecting the ozone layer also provides a model on mechanisms for financial and technological assistance and cooperation. The Multilateral Fund provides financial support for projects aimed at phasing out the use of controlled substances, and technological experience and assistance. including information on new technology and training, to the so-called `article 5 Parties`.²⁸⁷ Parties who are not eligible for the Multilateral Fund, can rely on the Global Environmental Facility (GEF), as discussed below (in section 4).

The activities of the Multilateral Fund are administered by its 4 implementing agencies, the UNEP, UNDP, UNIDO, and the World Bank, thus forging a global and sector-wide cooperation between international organizations.

With this model in mind, countries created the Global Environmental Agency

(GEF) in 1991 with a mandate to address the following environmental issues :

ozone layer depletion, biodiversity, international waters, and global warming.²⁸⁸

The GEF is not a new international institution, but rather a joint undertaking of the

World Bank, UNEP and UNDP, and constitutes the funding arm of the

environmental agreements that cover one or more areas of the GEF's mandate.

More than one-third of the multilateral environmental agreements contain dispute settlement provisions destined to solve conflicts concerning noncomplying Parties.²⁸⁹ Disputes between Parties to the regime protecting the Ozone layer can be settled through either the Convention or the Protocol provisions.

1

(

²⁸⁷ See *supra*, Chapter 1, Section 3.

²⁸⁸ Initially a pilot programme, in 1994 governments made the GEF permanent, replenishing its resources, creating an independent secretariat, and introducing a 'double majority' voting system (first round one nation - one vote; second round one dollar - one vote). H.French, *supra*, note 282, p.25-27.

²⁸⁹ It should be noted that <u>Non-Parties</u> are <u>not</u> governed by these dispute settlement procedures. Instead, they face often-vigorous sanctions (such as the trade restrictions of article 4 of the Montreal Protocol, article 4 of the Basel Convention, article XIV of CITES). Non-Parties often are

Article 11 of the Convention provides for negotiation. good offices. and mediation. A member state may agree to arbitration or resolution by the ICJ, but only if it chooses to. The last option under the Convention is the establishment of a "Conciliation Commission". charged with making recommendations *which the parties shall consider in good faith*. Hardly a stringent procedure! Article 8 of the Protocol provides for its own non-compliance procedure, adopted in 1992 by the 4th Meeting of Parties in Kopenhagen (Kopenhagen Amendment). Any Party may. through the Secretariat, submit reservations regarding another Party's (non-)implementation of the Protocol. The Secretariat sends them to the Implementation Committee, which will seek 'amicable solutions' and report to the Meeting of Parties, who then finally *may* decide on further action. However, no time limits, and a tradition of the Meeting to decide by consensus. renders this procedure not a bit more effective. Moreover, a Party undergoing eventual sanctions remains a Party; and Article 4, which covers trade sanctions, remains reserved for Non-Parties.²⁹⁰

÷

ţ

Equally weak dispute settlement procedures regarding non-complying Parties are found in the Basel Convention and CITES. Basel's article 16 allows the Secretariat to prepare reports on non-compliance, and to render them public. If public pressure alone does not suffice, negotiations, and ultimately arbitration and the ICJ (again if both Parties agree) could settle the matter. Under CITES as well,

in a sense presumed guilty by the mere fact of being a non-Party, and severely sanctioned. See K.Christie, *supra* note 283, p.58-69.

²⁹⁰ R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, supra note 283, p.91-94.; K.Christie, supra note 283, p.58-60.

negotiation, good offices, consultations, and arbitration (again by mutual consent) are preferred.²⁹¹

It is obvious that compared to trade regimes, the dispute settlement provisions in environmental agreements remain underdeveloped.²⁹²

SECTION 3 : UN INSTITUTIONS

ŧ

Í

For several years, the United Nations have been building structures and institutions to manage many types of conflicts. Initially established to deal with the prevention and removal of threats to peace, the UN system has been working increasingly with social, economic, development, trade, culture, humanitarian and environment issues.²⁹³ A number of UN institutions have pronounced themselves on development, trade and environment issues.

The General Assembly discusses any matter within the scope of the Charter, and can make recommendations in the form of resolutions to either the Security Council or the Member States. Following its adoption of the 1972 Stockholm Declaration of Principles on Human Environment, it has assessed a

²⁹¹ Under CITES, a more stringent process through the Secretariat and a Standing Committee of Parties is being established, yet more questions (e.g. about procedural balances) need to be answered before the advent of an elaborate and effective dispute settlement procedure. H.Christie, *supra* note 283, p.60-63.

 ²⁹² The Commission of the EC adopts the position of expressly favouring the development of proper and equally-efficient dispute settlement and enforcement mechanisms for Multilateral Environmental Agreements, and encourages information and experience exchange on dispute settlement with the WTO Secretariat. Commission of the EC. Communication to the Council and the Parliament on Trade and Environment, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996), p.17.
 ²⁹³ J.Trolldalen, International environmental conflict resolution : the role of the UN, (New York : UNITAR, 1993), p.13 a.f.; P.Birnie, A.Boyle, International law and the environment. (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1992), p.32 a.f.; B.Simma, ed., The Charter of the UN : a commentary, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1994), p.759-779, discussing UN Charter article 55.

considerable number of environmental issues, including the convocation of several Conferences relating to the environment (see *infra*, the Stockholm and Rio de Janeiro Conferences).²⁹⁴

The Security Council - the central security organ - is primarily responsible for maintaining peace and security. Some have recently put forward the idea that 'ecological threats' could fall under its responsibility, however with no practical result (yet).²⁹⁵

The Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) is a principal organ of the UN, and has wide-ranging responsibilities on social, economic and development issues. Lately, its role in environmental matters is rapidly expanding given the policy of sustainable development, and its environmental and social implications²⁹⁶. ECOSOC could play a more active and even coordinating role on environmental matters in the future.²⁹⁷

There have been some proposals to turn the Trusteeship Council into an Ecological Council, but the present functions of the Council have little to do with environmental issues. Neither does the Secretary General have a greater role to play in environmental issues than elaborating innovative and constructive policy proposals in areas of UN concern.²⁹⁸

During the last 25 years, the UN has used major Conferences to develop policies and positions on environmental matters, encourage international cooperation, and simultaneously and parallelly develop legal principles and

Í.

ţ.

²⁰⁴ P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 293, p.38; J.Trolldalen, *supra* note 293, p.17-18; G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p.559 a.f.

²⁹⁵ J.Trolldalen, *supra* note 293, p.16-17.

²⁹⁶ See supra, Chapter II, Section 2.

²⁹⁷ J.Trolldalen, supra note 293, p.18; P.Birnie, A.Boyle, supra note 293, p.38-39.

concepts on the environment. The first UN Conference of this kind was held at Stockholm in 1972, and considered specifically problems relating to the human environment. It was convened by the General Assembly, attended by a large number of states²⁹⁹, and resulted in the adoption of a Declaration and an Action Plan. The Stockholm Declaration, although not *prima facie* binding on states, does establish basic rules and principles of special importance of international environmental law. Of special legal significance are certainly its Principle 1, 7, 21 and 22.³⁰⁰ The Stockholm Action Plan was the further elaboration of the Declaration.³⁰¹

Twenty years later, a second major UN Conference, on Environment and

Development (UNCED) was held at Rio de Janeiro in 1992. Convened by the

General Assembly, it was attended by 176 (!) states, and resulted in the Rio

Declaration, an action program called Agenda 21, the Convention on Biological

Diversity (secretariat in Bonn), and the Framework Convention on Climate

Change (secretariat in Montreal).³⁰² The Rio Declaration, though not formally

²⁹⁸ J.Trolldalen, *supra* note 293, p.21; "Institutional arrangements to follow up the UNCED", Netscape UN homepage http://www.un.org/

²⁹⁹ Namely 113 states.

³⁰⁰ Take for instance Principle 21. It has been referred to in a number of multilateral environmental agreements, and even in the Rio Declaration. As such, it is thought to represent a basic principle of international environmental law. P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *Basic documents on international law and the environment*, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1995), p.1. See *supra*, Chapter II, Section 1.

³⁰¹ P.Thatcher, "The role of the UN", in A.Hurrell, B.Kingsbury, eds. *The international politics of the environment : actors, interests and institutions*, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1992), p.183 a.f.; H.Hohmann, *Precautionary legal duties and principles of modern international environmental law*, (London : Graham & Trotman/Martinus Nijhoff, 1994), p.34 a.f.

³⁰² Moreover, a non-binding Statement of Consensus on Forest Principles was reached, and later building on the Rio Conference - the Convention to Combat Desertification (in 1994) and the Agreement relating to Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks (in 1995) were signed. For more details, see "Institutional arrangements to follow up UNCED", *supra* note 298.

binding, again is a particularly important instrument³⁰³. reaffirming existing principles (e.g. Stockholm Declaration Principle 21), and introducing new principles such as precautionary action, public participation, impact assessment. polluter pays principle - in short : sustainable development³⁰⁴. Agenda 21 again elaborates further on these fundamental principles.³⁰⁵

Į,

ţ

Since the concept of sustainable development insists on the integration of environmental considerations into broader economic and development policies. various UN bodies got involved with environmental issues in their policymaking.³⁰⁶ However, considerable confusion about the respective roles of these bodies exists, hence the creation of various coordination organs³⁰⁷. The Inter-Agency Committee on Sustainable Development (IACSD) was created by the Administrative Committee on Coordination (ACC), on the recommendation of UNCED. Composed of representatives of several UN agencies, its task is to deal with the vexed problem of coordinating the proliferation of numerous UN bodies and agencies dealing with environment and development. The High-Level Advisory Board on Sustainable Development consists of 21 experts of environmental and development expertise, and serves as a source of expert advice to the Secretary General (e.g. in matters of intergovernmental or inter-agency coordination).³⁰⁸ The new Department for Policy Coordination and Sustainable

 ³⁰⁵ T.Carroll-Foster, ed., A guide to Agenda 21 : issues, debates and Canadian initiatives, (Ottawa : International Development Research Centre, 1993); P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 300, p.9.
 ³⁰⁶ Those various bodies (e.g. UNEP, UNDP, UNCTAD, WMO, CSD, ...) will be discussed infra.

³⁰³ Because adopted by a consensus of 176 states, its normative character, and its prolonged negotiations process. P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 300, p.9.

³⁰⁴ See for a detailed description of the concept of sustainable development, its components, its evolution and its relationship to UNCED, *supra* Chapter II, Section 2.

³⁰⁷ However, the creation of these coordinating bodies has not ended the confusion. Quite on the contrary, even these coordinatory bodies have proliferated, maintaining the confusion.

³⁰⁸ H.French, *supra* note 282, p.31: "Institutional arrangements to follow up UNCED", *supra* note 298; P.Malanczuk, "Sustainable development : some critical thoughts in the light of the Rio

Development provides staff for the IACSD and the CSD, and a focal point for promoting sustainable development throughout the UN.³⁰⁹

Following the Stockholm UN Conference on Human Environment, the General Assembly established the UN Environment Program (UNEP). located in Nairobi, as the center-piece of the world organization's environmental effort. UNEP's purpose was to 'promote international cooperation in the field of the environment, to recommend policies, and to provide general policy guidance for the direction and coordination of environmental programmes within the UN system'.³¹⁰ UNEP consists of a political organ, the Governing Council, and of a small Environment Secretariat (small budget - small staff), which will serve as a focal point for environmental action and coordination within the UN system. The Secretariat administers the Environment Fund³¹¹, financed through voluntary - thus modest - contributions.³¹² UNEP reports to the GA through the ECOSOC.

Ę

ĺ

Convention", in K.Ginther et al., eds., Sustainable development and good governance, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995), p.49.

³⁰⁹ See H.French, "Forging a new global partnership", in *Preliminary discussion paper and* background material : the Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform, (Ottawa: National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1995), p.11. ³¹⁰ UNEP aims to "provide leadership, courage and partnerships in caring for the Environment, by inspiring, informing and enabling nations and people to improve their quality of life". UNEP is to serve as an integrative and interactive mechanism through which separate efforts by intergovernmental, Non-Governmental, national and regional bodies in the service of the environment are reinforced and interrelated.

Document "UNEP in brief", Netscape

http://unep.unep.no/unep/about.htm ³¹¹ A small and 'additional' fund, based on the principle that each operating element of the UN system has its own environmental responsibilities, and that modest additional funding should be available to help them better discharge these responsibilities. See P.Thatcher, supra note 301, p.192; and B.Gosovic. The quest for world environmental cooperation. (London : Routledge. 1992), p.20.

³¹² An Environment Coordination Board was also established by the same GA resolution. Inoperative, it was in effect replaced by the Interagency Board of Designated Officials on Environmental Matters (DOEM), a "UNEP-created quasi-subsidiary of the Administrative Committee on Coordination (ACC)". See P.Szasz, "Restructuring the international organizational framework", in E.Brown-Weiss, ed., Environmental change and international law, (Tokvo : UN University Press, 1992), p.341.

UNEP serves as the central catalyzing, stimulating and coordinating body in the field of the environment³¹³. Pursuant to this mandate, it has actively concerned itself with the promotion and development of international environmental law.³¹⁴ Besides this policy mandate, other UNEP priorities are environmental assessment and environmental management.³¹⁵ Furthermore, since its formation. UNEP serves as the secretariat for over 24 international environmental agreements, thus becoming the foremost international organization in coordinating international environmental agreements.³¹⁶

In the effort to increase coordination and cooperation between various institutions, and thus to bring organizations and public closer together, UNEP's Governing Council decided to create and strengthen its regional representation through Regional and Liaison Offices, adopted a program ensuring that UNEP "should

i

Ł

³¹³ J.Trolldalen, supra note 293, p.21-22.

³¹⁴ In areas as diverse as protection of the ozone layer, climate change, hazardous wastes, marine environment, fresh water. land degradation, deforestation, biodiversity, and monitoring and information systems. See "UNEP in brief". Netscape http://unep.unep.no/unep/about.htm UNEP has played an extraordinary important role in the development of interest, unified policies, guidelines and recommendations in the preparations of several international environmental agreements, such as the regime protecting the ozone layer, the Basel Convention on Hazardous Waste Movements, the London Guidelines for the exchange of Information on Chemicals in International Trade, the Conventions relating to Biodiversity and Climate Change, thus contributing greatly to the development of international environmental law. For a specially interesting overview of UNEP's activities in this area, the evolution of its approaches and the Montevideo Programme adopted by the UNEP Governing Council on the Development and Periodic Review of Environmental Law, see C.Petsonk, "Recent developments in international organizations : the role of UNEP in the development of international environmental law" (1990) 5 American University Journal of International Law and Policy, p.351 a.f.; and H.Hohmann, *supra* note 301, p.42 a.f.

The UNEP Governing Council, by a 1993 decision concerning a "Programme for the Development and Periodic Review of Environmental Law for the 1990's", commonly referred to as "Montevideo II", reiterated, reframed and strengthened many of its objectives, strategies and activities relating to the development of International Environmental Law, addressing items such as effective state participation, effective implementation, dispute avoidance and settlement, and prevention of environmental damage. See G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p.546 a.f.

³¹⁵ Examples of action undertaken are the Earthwatch system (assessment). World Environment Day (public awareness), information exchange, natural resource accounting promotion, technical advice provision to organizations and governments, etc. See "Institutional arrangements to follow up UNCED", *supra* note 298.

cooperate with all relevant international organizations", and established the Inter-Agency Environment Coordination Group^{317,318}

€_ :

UNEP's greatest strengths lie in the areas of monitoring, assessing, reporting, developing action plans, and developing international environmental law. However, since it is not a full agency of the UN, it has very little power beyond that of simply watching over the other agencies and commenting wherever appropriate. It can influence others, but in the end UNEP has little power to compel other UN agencies - or national governments - to take action.³¹⁹

The idea for a **Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD)** emerged during PrepCom IV (a preparatory committee of the Rio Conference (UNCED)). The CSD was called for to ensure effective follow up of UNCED, to enhance international cooperation, and to examine the progress in the implementation of Agenda 21.³²⁰ CSD began meeting in 1993, and reviewed implementation progress of Agenda 21 items such as environmentally sound technology transfer, capacity building, international cooperation, trade, development and environment³²¹,

 ³¹⁶ D.Stevis, C.Wilson, "The institutionalization of international environmental policy : international environmental law and international organizations", in R.Bartlett *et al.*, eds., *International organizations and environmental policy*, (Westport : Greenwood Press, 1995), p.131.
 ³¹⁷ As a flexible consultative and advisory body, the IAECG is to focus on assisting the Secretariat in coordinating the activities of the UN system. See "Institutional arrangements to follow up UNCED", *supra* note 298.

³¹⁸ Another coordinating institution was created, the Committee of International Development Institutions in the Environment (CIDIE), to improve coordination between UNEP, UNDP, FAO and several development banks (e.g. World Bank, Asian Development Bank, Inter-American Development Bank, etc.). See P.Thatcher, *supra* note 301, p.191-192.

³¹⁹ J.McCormick, "International NGO's : prospects for a global environmental movement", in S.Kamieniecki, ed., *Environmental politics in the international arena*, (Albany : State University of New York Press, 1993), p.136.

³²⁰ Cross-sectoral issues such as Trade. Environment and Sustainable Development received considerable attention in the CSD, especially in the wake of the successful conclusion of the Uruguay Round of multilateral trade negotiations. In particular, the CSD supported the Marrakech Decision on Trade and Environment, and indicated its intention to interact with the WTO Committee on Trade and Environment. See G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p.494 a.f.

³²¹ On May 25, 1995, the CSD discussed the relationship of the CSD and other international organizations involved in these issues, and called to be represented in the WTO Committee on

education, and public participation of major groups³²².³²³ Concerning this last item, the CSD invites governments, international organizations as well as major groups to participate actively in the work of the CSD.³²⁴

Ļ

í

Perhaps the major strength of the CSD is that its mere existence has served to keep Agenda 21 and the Rio agreements alive : governments and agencies are forced to look at their implementation efforts. which will be publicly displayed by CSD. Another positive aspect of CSD is that it constitutes a permanent forum for the discussion of new and emerging issues on sustainable development. Furthermore, the active participation of major groups in CSD has induced greatly public participation and support.³²⁵ However, it is not clear if CSD can actually <u>take</u> action : until now, CSD seems more a talk show than an action program. In addition, lack of interest and time made that real discussions did not materialize :

Trade and Environment - a request acknowledged by the WTO Committee (granting CSD and other organizations observership status). See *supra*, section 1, p.70-71.

³²² The following major groups were identified : women, children and youth, NGO's, local authorities, trade unions, business and industry, scientific community, and farmers. See "Major Groups", Netscape http://www.unep.no/unep/partners/un/scd/home.htm

³²³ In June 1997, a special UN General Assembly session will evaluate Agenda 21 after the first 5year period following UNCED. The CSD is responsible for preparing this session. All these issues will be discussed and evaluated. See "UNCED Update", Netscape

http://www.prosus.nfr...ter/1996-01/unced.html and "Upcoming meetings related to CSD", Netscape http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/csd/upcoming.html

This CSD evaluation will be preceded by an Independent Review of the Rio Summit by the Civil Society, including the business sector, the Governments of Brazil and the State of Rio de Janeiro. Earth Council, the Brazilian NGO forum, a number of National Councils for Sustainable Development, and the UN Department for Policy Coordination and Sustainable Development (DPCSD), in March 1997, under the name "Rio + 5".

[&]quot;Rio + 5, an assessment of past performance". Netscape

http://www.ecouncil.ac.cr/rio/rio5a.htm

³²⁴ Document "Major Groups", *supra* note 322; "Institutional arrangements to follow up UNCED", *supra* note 298; G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p.496 a.f.

In a report of May 1996, the CSD examines the role and contributions of major groups in implementing Agenda 21. It found that major groups contribute to Agenda 21 follow up through dissemination, collection and analysis of information, through networking, technical assistance, consensus building, participation in various programmes and the identification of common priorities. See "CSD : role of major groups in implementation of agenda 21", Netscape on the CSD homepage http://www.unep.no/unep/partners/un/csd/home.htm

³²⁵ Document "Strengths", Netscape on the CSD homepage

http://www.unep.no/unep/partners/un/csd/home.htm

government and agency representatives just read their prepared statements, and NGO's were not particularly effective due to lack of funding.³²⁶ However, overall, there is still a great opportunity for the CSD to become the central coordinating and evaluating body on issues such as public participation, consumption patterns. trade and environment, information, poverty alleviation and development.³²⁷

Ę

I,

The UN Development Programme (UNDP) was established in 1965. pursuant to a resolution of ECOSOC approved by the GA. The UNDP is headed by an Administrator, who is responsible to the Governing Council of the UNDP. which reports to the GA through ECOSOC. UNDP is the world's largest multilateral source of grant funding for development cooperation. The UNDP works with governments and agencies to build up the capacities for sustainable human development.³²⁸ Pursuant to Agenda 21. UNDP has integrated environmental considerations into its development policies. and it assists countries to do alike.³²⁹ With the World Bank and UNEP. UNDP is one of the managing partners of the GEF; and along with the UNIDO, those three implement together the Multilateral Fund for the implementation of the Montreal Protocol.³³⁰

The UN Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) was established by the GA in 1964, and meets every 4 years. It is a universal forum, focused on economic development. Its permanent organ is the Trade and

³²⁶ Document "Weaknesses", *supra* note 325; H.French, *supra* note 282, p.32-34.

³²⁷ Document "Opportunities", supra note 325.

³²⁸ In priority fields such as technology transfer, poverty eradication, private sector development, grassroots participation, empowerment of women. See "UNDP : organizational descriptions". Netscape on the UNDP homepage http://www.undp.org/undp/

³²⁹ For instance, UNDP established Capacity 21 Unit as a direct response to the Rio Conference. Its mandate is "to assist the integration of sustainable development issues in development policies, to assist the involvement of all stakeholders in development and environmental planning, and to build capacity for sustainable development". See "Institutional arrangements to follow up UNCED", *supra* note 298.

³³⁰ Document "UNDP", supra note 328.

Development Board³³¹, which in 1994 established an Ad Hoc Working Group on

Trade, Environment and Development. in order to examine the interlinkages between the three major areas.³³² Together with the Standing Committee on Commodities (which discusses the polluter pays principle and environmental cost internalization), this Working Group provides reports to the Trade and Development Board, which in turn provides reports to the CSD. Trade and Environment also figured on the agenda of UNCTAD IX. held in Midrand. South Africa, 27 April - 11 May 1996.³³³ Moreover, the UNCTAD Secretariat upholds close ties with other international organizations on these issues : the UNCTAD is observer in the WTO Committee on Trade and Environment (where the output of

See "UNCTAD IX - final outcome". Nescape

ĺ

http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/u9final.htm

"UNCTAD IX - Ministerial Round Table - International Trade as an instrument for development in the Post-Uruguay Round World". Netscape

http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/mrtrade.htm

"UNCTAD IX - Ministerial Round Table - Future work of UNCTAD in accordance with its mandate : institutional implications". Netscape

http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/mruwork.htm

³³¹ There are 7 Committees to the Board, and a Secretariat. See "UNCTAD : organizational descriptions", Netscape on the UNCTAD homepage http://gatekeeper.unicc.org/unctad/ and "UNCTAD IX - basic facts", Netscape http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/u9facts.htm The 43rd session of the Trade and Development Board will be held on 7-18 October 1996, in Geneva, and discuss several matters related to Trade, Development and Environment. "UNCTAD IX : Trade and Development Board 43rd session", Netscape

http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/tb43agen.htm

and http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/tb43work.htm

³³² More precisely, the Working Group will study issues concerning market access. competitiveness, green consumerism, ecolabeling, and environmental policy instruments with trade impact (e.g. the trade sanctions in multilateral environmental agreements). See "Terms of reference of the ad hoc working group on trade, environment and development", supra note 331. ³³³ UNCTAD IX brought together over 2500 participants from 135 states, intergovernmental and Non-Governmental Organizations, and stressed above all the need for and commitment to a "Global Partnership for Development". The delegations discussed the Uruguav Round implementation, stressed some basic principles of the Multilateral Trading System (e.g. nondiscrimination, non-trade distortion, fairness), and talked about the new challenges the trading system is meeting, such as the proposals to include environment, labour and Human Rights issues in the trading rules. Again, key-principles such as trade liberalization, non-discrimination, least trade restrictiveness and the development needs of developing countries were stressed. The Conference concluded that there is more than ever place for UNCTAD as a forum for consensusbuilding on development and trade issues, and argued for active participation of the Civil Society (e.g. NGO's, Trade Unions, women's groups) in UNCTAD's work. However, it was added that their participation would be limited to development issues.

the Working Group has been fed directly into the discussions³³⁴). in the OECD Joint Session of Trade and Environment Experts. and as a liaison organization in ISO Technical Committee 207 on ecolabeling. UNCTAD operates closely with UNDP, UNEP, ASEAN, and participates in numerous academic institutions and NGO's.³³⁵

Other UN bodies who carry out one or more tasks on the array of environment - development - trade arena are numerous, and come to burden this already complex institutional set. The most important among them are the FAO (agriculture, fisheries, forests), UNESCO (education). WMO (climate), IMO (oceans), IAEA (nuclear energy), UNSO (desertification and drought). UNIDO (industrial development), and WHO (human health).³³⁶

Lastly, the UN, realizing the appropriateness of a more specialized regional approach in certain policy-areas, has created several regional structures, namely the regional economic commissions³³⁷, coordinated through ECOSOC. These regional commissions have been variably successful in integrating environmental concerns into their agendas. In the case of the ECLA and the ECA, the environment is not mentioned neither in its mandate nor policy work. The ECWA has established an Environmental Coordination Unit. The ESCAP and the ECE

í

ł

[&]quot;UNCTAD IX - Basic facts", supra note 331.

³³⁴ "Institutional arrangements to follow up the UNCED", *supra* note 298.

³³⁵ "UNCTAD activities on trade, environment and development", *supra* note 331; and "UNCTAD IX - basic facts", *supra* note 331.

³³⁶ From time to time, these various institutions come together and establish a joint organ, such as the CIDIE (see *supra*, note 318). See for a more detailed description of these institutions. P.Szasz, *supra*, note 312, p.347-351; P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 293, p.53 a.f.; "Institutional arrangements for follow up of UNCED", *supra* note 298.

³³⁷ They include the Economic Commission of Europe (ECE), the Economic Commission for Latin America (ECLA), the Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP), the Economic Commission for Africa (ECA), and the Economic Commission for Western Asia (ECWA).

specifically mention and emphasize the environment in their mandate, and cooperate with the other agencies such as UNEP.³³⁸

SECTION 4 : DEVELOPMENT BANKS

At the global level, the World Bank Group³³⁹ is responsible for aiding countries in their development. The main functions of the Bank are to provide capital for development purposes, to promote private foreign investment, to

identify urgent projects supporting social and economic development, and to

ensure that such projects are given appropriate priority.340

From the end of the eighties on, the World Bank has become increasingly

aware of the potential side-effects of its policies and endeavors on the

environment.³⁴¹ Since 1988, the Bank has organized itself for a more responsible

role on environmental questions. It's activities to protect and enhance the

³⁴⁰ "World Bank : organizational descriptions", Netscape

1

³³⁸ J.Trolldalen, *supra* note 293, p.26; "Institutional arrangements for follow up of UNCED", *supra* note 298; G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p.565-571.

³³⁹ The Group consists of the World Bank *sensu stricto* (including the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) and the International Development Association (IDA)), the International Finance Corporation (IFC), and the Multilateral investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA).

Besides the World Bank Group, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) has less relevance in the field of the environment. See J.Trolldalen, *supra* note 293, p.22-23.

http://www.worldbank.org/html/extdr/glance.html

³⁴¹ Both the World Bank and its critics launched major efforts to evaluate and reevaluate the Bank's record and ability to face today's challenges. One of the largest campaigns is certainly the "Fifty years is enough" campaign (allusion on the Bank's period of existence), in which environmental, social and development groups question the efficiency of the Bank's projects and models. See G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p. 291.

For instance, the Bank organizes an Annual World Bank Conference on Environmentally Sustainable Development. On September 25-27 1996, the Fourth Annual Conference was held in Washington D.C., on "Rural well-being : from vision to action". "Fourth Annual WB Conference". Netscape

http://www-esd.worldbank.org/esdcnf/home.htm

environment are based on a fourfold agenda : assisting countries in setting priorities, strengthening institutions and implementing programmes: minimizing potential adverse social and environmental impacts of development projects: building on the positive linkages between poverty reduction. economic efficiency and environmental protection (see *supra*. Chapter II): and addressing global challenges.³⁴²

ţ

ŕ

As the World Bank has assisted its member countries in making development sustainable, so has it undergone its own 'greening' : a series of operational policies addressing the environmental aspects of Bank projects and activities has been put into place; operational departments are strengthening their capacity for environmental analysis (an Office of Environmental Affairs - or Environmental Department - has been created, which will provide environmental impact studies, long-term planning, training and coordination. The Bank has also introduced environmental divisions in its regional offices)³⁴³; the number of technical environmental staff has increased fivefold since the end of the eighties: the amount of specific environmental lending has gone up: and a new Vice presidency of Environmentally Sustainable Development (charged with providing overall policy guidance and technical support to projects) has been created. As a result, the Bank's entire lending portfolio is being adjusted in the light of new knowledge and concern about the environment, making broad use of

³⁴² Making development sustainable : the World Bank Group and the environment, fiscal 1994.

⁽Washington D.C. : World Bank. 1994). p.2 a.f.

³⁴³ P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 293, p.62.

environmental assessments to screen projects for their potential environmental impacts.³⁴⁴

Furthermore, the Bank has also begun to introduce the concept of Sustainable

Development into its operations. The Bank's activities cut across many sectors of

the development spectrum. and thus is extremely well-suited to implement

Sustainable Development's devise of integration of environmental considerations

into all policy areas. Moreover, as a global institution it is equally well-suited to

deal with problems of a cross-border nature.³⁴⁵

ŧ

ł

The World Bank cooperates closely with other international organizations.

such as UNEP and UNDP, and with the regional development banks.³⁴⁶ As the

³⁴⁴ Mainstreaming the environment : the World Bank Group and the environment since the Rio Earth Summit, fiscal 1995, (Washington D.C. : Environment Department, the World Bank, 1995), p.1-20; Making development sustainable : the World Bank Group and the environment, fiscal 1994, (Washington D.C. : the World bank, 1994), p.2-23.

The World Bank now has operational polices and procedures in place concerning environmental assessments, action plans, agriculture, water resources management, indigenous people, forestry, dam and reservoir projects, cultural property, poverty reduction, technical assistance, NGO participation. See *Mainstreaming the environment : the World Bank Group and the environment since the Rio Earth Summit, fiscal 1995*, (Washinton D.C. : Environment Department, the World Bank, 1995), p.207 a.f.

These World Bank studies show that Bank lending projects with a particular environmental impact continue to grow. By 1994, 120 environmental projects (for a value of over \$ 9 billion US) were being implemented. A good example of the Bank's improving concern over the environmental impacts of its lending commitments can certainly be found in the area of forest management : since the adoption of its new forest policy in 1991, the Bank has significantly increased its lending to the sector, and given special emphasis to 4 basic principle of sustainable forestry : rectify market and policy failure that encourages deforestation: expand public participation: promote sustainable forest management; and expand protected forest and the precautionary principle. For more details on the environmental assessment procedure, see P.Thatcher. *supra* note 301, p.202-221.

³⁴⁵ B.de Vries, "Challenges and opportunities for the World Bank", in O.Kirshner, ed., *The Bretton Woods - GATT system : retrospect and prospect after 50 years*. (London : M.E.Sharpe, 1995), p.224 a.f.

³⁴⁶ Regional Development Banks, such as the Asian Development Bank, Caribbean Development Bank, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development. Inter-American Development Bank, face similar developments. They formed in conjunction with the World Bank, UNEP, UNDP, OAS and the EC the CIDIE (Committee of International Development Institutions on the Environment), and adopted a Joint Declaration of Environmental Policies and Procedures Relating to Economic Development. See P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 293, p.63: "Institutional arrangements to follow up the UNCED", *supra* note 298.

Bank's attention to global environmental concerns has expanded, new channels are being used to fund these global issues. The largest of these new entities is certainly the GEF³⁴⁷.

The **Global Environmental Facility**, initially established in 1991 as a pilot programme, has been restructured as a permanent organ in 1994, based on principles of transparency, accountability, cost-effectiveness, and universality. Its general function is to provide funding to help developing countries meet their obligations under international agreements regarding the ozone layer, climate change, biological diversity and international waters.³⁴⁸ Through its financial and technical assistance, the GEF has become an important instrument for promoting participation and implementation by developing countries of policies and conventions intended to protect the global environment, and as such has emerged as an important tool for enabling development countries to address global concerns.³⁴⁹

The GEF is governed by a Council, and its polices are reviewed by an Assembly (the Meeting of Participants). Both are serviced by a Secretariat. The Council is composed of 32 members with a balance of developed and developing countries.

ί

For an overview of several regional development banks, and their activities relating to environmental protection and sustainable development, see G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p.294-297, 528-546.

³⁴⁷ Another such new funding entity is the Multilateral Fund of the Montreal Protocol. see *supra* Section 2.

Making development sustainable : the World Bank Group and the environment, fiscal 1994, supra note 342, p.18 a.f.

³⁴⁸ GEF has been confirmed as the main operating funding entity of the Framework Convention for Climate Change and the Convention on Biological Diversity. In addition. GEF provides additional funding to the implementation of the regime protecting the ozone layer. See *supra*. Chapter I. Section 3; R.Twum Barina. L.Campbell. *supra* note 283, p.43-47: *Mainstreaming the environment* : the World Bank Group and the environment since the Rio Earth Summit, fiscal 1995, supra note

^{344,} p.62 a.f.

³⁴⁹ P.Birnie, A.Boyle, supra note 300, p.666 a.f; See Mainstreaming the environment : the World Bank Group and the environment since the Rio Earth Summit, fiscal 1995, supra note 344, p.66

and decisions - if not taken by consensus - require a double majority of 60 % of all members (one state, one vote), and 60 % of all donors (one dollar, one vote).³⁵⁰ Each of the three implementing agencies have distinct areas of responsibility. UNEP will catalyze scientific and technical analysis, advance environmental management policies, ensure that the global policy-framework of GEF is consistent with environmental agreements, and organize the Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel (STAP). UNDP will provide technical assistance, and is responsible for capacity building. The World Bank - as Trustee and Administrator of GEF - will ensure the development and management of investment projects, encourage the inclusion of GEF investment areas in national environment programmes of recipient countries, and mobilize private sector resources.³⁵¹ The implementing agencies shall be accountable to the Council for their GEF-financed activities.

Although initiatives like the GEF prove that there is nothing marginal about the environment in the World Bank's policy processes³⁵², the GEF disposes over quite limited resources, and limited accommodation and participation of the public, in particular NGO's. However, these financial limitations can be overturned by increased cooperation with its three implementing agencies and by cooperation through co-financing arrangements with other organizations (such as the IDA and

ł,

a.f., and p.276 a.f., for an extensive list of projects financed and implemented by the GEF, and by the Multilateral Fund of the Montreal Protocol.

³⁵⁰ P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 300, p. 666; H.French, *supra* note 282, p.26.

³⁵¹ "UN Bodies, the Banks, and overseas development assistance", Netscape on the World Bank homepage http://www.worldbank.org/ : D.Reed, "The Global Environment Facility and Non-Governmental Organizations" (1993) 9 American University Journal of International Law and Policy, p.198-199.

³⁵² P.Thatcher, *supra* note 301, p.219.

the IFC).³⁵³ Concerns over the explicit exclusion of NGO's from the GEF Council. the Implementation Committee and the STAP have resulted in increased public pressure and NGO lobbying efforts. which in turn led to the convocation of an NGO-Participants Consultation. days prior to each formal Meeting of Participants to the GEF (the Assembly).³⁵⁴ NGO's now pressure in favor of observer status at the Meeting of Participants.³⁵⁵

SECTION 5 : ADJUDICATION

Those who seek a more balanced resolution of the competing demands of trade, environment and development have not only looked for using trade institutions, environmental regimes or development organizations. More and more believe that besides economic, technical and scientific instruments, legal instruments should play a major role : international adjudication.³⁵⁶ International adjudication involves the submission of a dispute to either a permanent judicial body or an arbitral tribunal for binding decision, typically on the basis of international law.³⁵⁷ The primary forum for resolving international

Ę

- "Notification of NGO Consultation on the GEF". Netscape http://www.worldbank.org/html/gef/ngo/ngo1096.htm
- ³⁵⁵ D.Reed, *supra* note 351, p.201-213.

³⁵³ H.French, *supra* note 282, p.27.

³⁵⁴ For instance, the next GEF Council Meeting takes place on October 8-10 1996, and the NGO consultation takes place on October 7, 1996. All accredited NGO's are invited to attend, and the notification, invitation and even details on registration and accreditation are available on the Worldbank homepage. Internet. "GEF Council Meeting", Netscape

http://www.worldbank.org/html/gef/meetings/council8.htm

³⁵⁶ A.Postiglione, "An international court for the environment?" (1993) 23 Environmental Policy and Law, p.73 a.f.

³⁵⁷ J.Dunoff, "Institutional misfits : the GATT. the ICJ and trade-environment disputes" (1994) 15 Michigan Journal of International Law, p.1085 a.f.

legal disputes is the International Court of Justice (ICJ), the principal judicial organ of the UN (and one of the six principal organs of the UN)³⁵⁸. The ICJ is competent to decide environmental disputes, and has repeatedly declared its willingness and readiness to deal with such cases fully and promptly.³⁵⁹ Consequently, to "be prepared to the fullest extent to deal with any environmental cases falling within its jurisdiction", the ICJ has formed a special seven-member Chamber for Environmental Matters in 1993.

Although the Court and its Chamber could play a useful role, several major impediments persist that make the use of the ICJ less attractive. First, international courts do not have compulsory jurisdiction, needing the consent of all the disputing parties. States have always been very reluctant to accept the authority and jurisdiction of the ICJ. This lack of international support, based on the states' unwill to limit their sovereignty³⁶⁰, and a general reluctance of states towards "judicial" solutions typically producing a winner and a loser (states generally prefer negotiated compromises). result in major political impediments to the use of the ICJ. Second, a variety of doctrinal and procedural impediments remain. including uncertainties evolving around international environmental law, and the Court's stringent standing requirements which only allow States to be parties in

Ę

³⁵⁸ Its 15 members are selected by the Security Council and the General Assembly. All UN members are automatically party to the ICJ. Although the ICJ carries out its judicial functions independently of the other UN organs, given the very nature of international law and dispute settlement, it is and continues to be heavily influenced by politics. See J.Trolldalen. *supra* note 293, p.19-20.

³⁵⁹ Indeed, several commentators and countries have called for greater use of the ICJ in environmental disputes. For instance, nations as diverse as New Zealand, Colombia and Mexico called for a strengthening of the ICJ's role in these matters at the Rio Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED). See J.Dunoff, *supra* note 357, p.1086-1087.

³⁶⁰ An often recurrent problem in the international realm of environment and development. See *supra*, Chapter II.
cases before the Court³⁶¹. Lastly, it is argued that the disputes at stake often exceed the bilateral, adversarial nature of adjudication. The multiplicity of the actors, the complexity of the problems caused by the world's interdependence and interrelatedness, and scientific uncertainties make that these problems are more often than not *polycentric* and multilateral, thus making the adjudication procedures as they now exist quite ill-suited.

These impediments, however do not mean that international adjudication is *in se* incapable of addressing the issues at stake. Rather, a number of scholars and politicians have proposed certain changes and innovations to the adjudication process³⁶², so as to accommodate environmental and development concerns. However, given the numerous political obstacles, it is unlikely that a new international environmental court will be formed.³⁶³

³⁶¹ Other major players in disputes on development, environment and trade issues, such as NGO's, private individuals and multinational corporations thus are *a priori* excluded from the ICJ procedures. Giving them standing before the ICJ would require a "significant, and unlikely, revision of the ICJ statute". J.Dunoff, *supra* note 357, p.1098-1099.

³⁶² Such as the participants to the International Congress held at the National Academy of Lincei, Rome, and the States issuing the The Hague Declaration (promoting a human rights based approach towards environmental matters, linked to the establishment of a new institutional authority in these matters. See *infra* Chapter IV, section 2, p.121-122.). J.Trolldalen, *supra* note 293, p.20; J.Dunoff, *supra* note 357, p.1106-1107.

One of the most eminent advocates of the adjudication concept for environmental disputes is certainly A. Postiglione, who is well-known for advancing the idea of an International Court for the Environment. His Court would be based on a general International Convention on the Environment, which recognizes the human and individual right to the environment, and which gives individuals access to it. The International Court for the Environment would then come to protect and implement this "human right", this fundamental right of every individual. In this view, individuals as well as NGO's would have standing before the Court. And Postiglioni to conclude : "By systematic application and interpretation of existing and emerging rules in international environmental law, the International Court of the Environment will play an invaluable role in helping to introduce certainty, predictability and stability in international relations." A.Postiglione, *supra* note 356, p.73-78: A.Postiglione, "A more effective international law on the environment and setting up and international court for the environment within the UN" (1990) 20

Environmental Law, p.321-328.

³⁶³ J.Dunoff, *supra* note 357, p.1107-1108.

Ļ

(

NGO's or Non-Governmental Organizations have proliferated in modern times. Their aims and activities are as wide and diverse as human interest. Environmental and Development concerned NGO's equally abound. Some operate in the scientific field, others have exclusively educational or research purposes³⁶⁴. others advocate particular courses of action³⁶⁵, some mix various interests, all provide forums for discussion and aim at influencing policy makers.³⁶⁶ These nonstate actors are a major instrument in making policy more open, available to the public, and make public participation and awareness possible. Their role in international organizations is increasing, and they have been focusing a lot on UN institutions and Development facilities.³⁶⁷ However, this openness towards the public and NGO's of the UN system has only just begun : no formal provisions are yet made for public review or comment on international treaties. nor is there a mechanism for citizen standing before the ICJ, and international negotiations are often closed to public participation.³⁶⁸ Furthermore, no NGO has yet obtained access to the GATT/WTO.369

³⁶⁴ Such as the World Resources Institute, or the International Institute for Environment and Development.

³⁶⁵ Such as Friends Of the Earth, Greenpeace International, the Sierra Club, World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF).

³⁶⁶ P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 293, p.76 a.f; G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p. 577 a.f..

³⁶⁷ As we have seen *supra*, they play an increasing role in the UN CSD, the GEF and the World Bank. See H.French, *supra* note 282, p.45; "CSD : role of major groups in implementation of Agenda 21", *supra* note 324; D.Reed, *supra* note 351, p.201-213.

There was also a great participation of NGO's at the Rio Summit (UNCED), where they had unprecedented access to the Preparatory Committees (PrepComs), and consequently made major contributions to the Summit's results. So does Agenda 21 encourage more transparency and publication of information, which automatically gives NGO's greater access. See M.Grubb *et al.*, *The Earth Summit Agreements : a guide and assessment*, (London : Earthscan, 1993), p.44 a.f. ³⁶⁸ H.French, *supra* note 282, p.45-46.

³⁶⁹ NGO's do not even have observer status in the WTO Committee on Trade and Environment. See *supra*, Section 1: "GATT/WTO activities on trade and environment", *supra* note 256.

Many a studygroup and think-tank on environment, trade and development issues has been created along the road.³⁷⁰ The more important one is undoubtedly the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), which coordinates, negotiates, discusses and debates the economic and trade policies of its member countries. The OECD established in 1970 an Environment Policy Committee, and in April 1991, a Joint Trade and Environment Working Group, in which many of interesting ideas and proposals were discussed³⁷¹. The OECD cooperates with several organizations, such as the EU (the Commission has observer status at OECD meetings), the WTO (especially with its Committee on Trade and Environment, where the OECD has observer status³⁷²), and UNCTAD. In fact, the OECD as a forum for discussion on trade, environment and development interlinkages has considerable weight, especially because of its expertise, historical record, its involvement in economic as well as environmental

÷,

í

³⁷⁰ E.g. the NATO's Committee on Challenges on Modern Society; and the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE). P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 293, p.72 a.f.

³⁷¹ Such as the famous polluter pays principle, the harmonization principle, the role of technology transfer, economic instruments such as environmental taxes and tradeable emission permits, property rights. See K.Steininger, *Trade and environment : the regulatory controversy and a theoretical and empirical assessment of unilateral environmental action*, (Heidelberg : Physica-Verlag, 1995), p.36 a.f.; *Promoting cleaner production in developing countries*, (Paris : OECD, 1995); *The economic appraisal of environmental projects and policies*, (Paris : OECD, 1995); *Environmental taxes in OECD countries*, (Paris : OECD, 1995); *International economic instruments and climate change*, (Paris : OECD, 1993); *Project and policy appraisal : integrating economics and environment*, (Paris : OECD, 1994), p.1-24.

The Environmental Policy Committee and the Joint Trade and Environment Working Group report to the OECD Council, which in turn adopts the appropriate decisions. See G.Handl, *supra* note 259, p. 526-528.

Other OECD Committees have been established, such as the Joint Working Party of the Environment Policy Committee and of the Committee for Agriculture. Its task is to study sustainable forms of agriculture (e.g. the impact of agricultural subsidies). The Joint Party cooperates closely with the FAO, CSD, Economic Commission for Europe (ECE), and the World Bank.

The OECD's Environment Policy Committee, created in 1971, cooperates closely with UNEP, UNCTAD and the WTO's Committee on Trade and Environment.

[&]quot;OECD/Food, Agriculture and Fisheries", http://www.oecd.org/agr/age_pueb.htm

[&]quot;Meeting of OECD Environment Policy Committee"

http://www.oecd.org/news_and_events/reference/nw96-15a.htm ³⁷² See *supra* Section 1.

interests, and its flexibility to adapt to new issues and priorities on the international agenda. However, for the OECD to become the major seat of tradeenvironment discussion, and not to be perceived as the 'rich-persons' club. it should open up to developing countries.³⁷³

í

³⁷³ C.Stevens, "The OECD", in J.Kirton, S.Richardson, eds., *Trade, environment and competitiveness*, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1992), p.209-213; and J.Kirton, "Canada's contribution to a new trade-environment regime", in J.Kirton, S.Richardson, eds., *Trade, environment and competitiveness*, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1992), p.256-258; P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *supra* note 293, p.71-72.

<u>CHAPTER IV : INSTITUTIONS II : INTERNATIONAL</u> <u>ORGANIZATIONS FOR THE FUTURE.</u>

ţ.

í.

Whereas integrating environmental protection objectives and sustainable development considerations into the world's economic, trade and development institutions - such as the WTO, regional trade regimes, global and regional development banks, IMF, and UNDP - is a very important step in balancing trade and environment concerns (see *supra*, Chapter III), further steps are required and specific institutional arrangements should be made in order to accommodate these concerns. Strengthening the existing institutional structure (by a further greening of development and trade regimes, and a substantial strengthening of environmental protection institutions such as the UNEP and CSD) will most likely be a less difficult job than creating entirely new institutions on the global level (such as a new Environmental Agency, a kind of 4th 'Bretton Woods pillar', ³⁷⁴ that would be for the protection of the environment what GATT/WTO is for trade liberalization, the World Bank for development objectives, and the IMF for monetary stability concerns). Any change to the institutional agenda, however, requires the necessary political will and international cooperation - its absence being more often than not a major obstacle and impediment.

³⁷⁴ Idea set forth by D.Esty, in D.Esty, "A Global Environmental Organization : the fourth Bretton Woods pillar?", in J.Kirton, S.Richardson, ed., *The Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform*, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1995), p.75-79.

SECTION 1 : STRENGTHENING AND IMPROVING EXISTING INSTITUTIONS

As Chapter III shows, the extraordinary proliferation of organizations that deal with trade, environment and development questions has given the world a disorganized system of institutions, a 'patchwork quilt' rather than a cohesive and coordinated system. To come up with an organized, streamlined system capable of balancing basic concerns of the world community, several avenues of change and improvement could be envisaged to strengthen development institutions, trade regimes and environmental organizations.

The idea that the **United Nations'** environmental capacities need to be strengthened is not a new one³⁷⁵ : most importantly, the 1992 Earth Summit held at Rio (UNCED), and its Agenda 21, backed up the idea of strengthening the UN system³⁷⁶ - although this endorsement of strengthening <u>existing</u> structures was probably more due to the continuing reluctance of governments to consider new institutions (reluctance that was continuously illustrated by the UNCED's participants), than to their firm and honest allegiance towards the existing

ĺ

³⁷⁵ E.g. ideas to strengthen UN capacity in the field of the environment were present in the 1989 The Hague Declaration (which will be discussed in more details *infra*, section 2): and in the idea to reform the Trusteeship Council into an Ecological Council that would exercise trusteeship over the global commons in the collective interest of humanity, e.g. by administering environmental protection agreements protecting the global commons. See *supra*, Chapter III, section 3 p. 84: *Preliminary discussion paper and background material : the Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform*. (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1995), p.47-48.

³⁷⁶ Chapter 38 of Agenda 21 states that "the integration of environment and development issues (...) and thus sustainable development (...) necessitates strengthened cooperation and coordination in the UN system and with national, intergovernmental, and nongovernmental organizations, as well as an effective exchange of information". See T.Carrol-Foster, ed., *A guide to Agenda 21 : issues, debates and Canadian initiatives*, (Ottawa : International Development Research Centre, 1993), p.108.

institutional system.³⁷⁷ Either way, the emergence of the idea of improving the UN system, along with the establishment of several new and innovative institutional structures³⁷⁸, and the initiative of more than 80 countries to establish National Councils of Sustainable Development or similar bodies in which representatives of the governments and of various sectors of the business and civil society can consult, advise, negotiate and discuss any issues related to Sustainable Development³⁷⁹, are all hopeful signs, but they are not enough : there is a fundamental need to make substantial change in the dynamics and direction of the UN system. Global interdependence and global risks result in implications for global governance, making global cooperation more and more necessary : the UN system needs to reflect the new configuration and reality of economic and political power, by providing more say for developing countries, and the "losers" of 50 years ago (i.e. Japan and Germany); and in addition, greater provision must be made for dialogue and cooperation with the NGO's of civil society.³⁸⁰ Global cooperation among all states and among the representatives of civil society are the key guidelines in improving the UN structure.

The UN system, as briefly introduced in Chapter III, displays several organs responsible for environment and development concerns. We will here focus only on the most important of them in assessing how they could be institutionally

³⁷⁷ See M.Grubb *et al.*, *The Earth Summit Agreements : a guide and assessment*, (London : Earthscan, 1993), p.40-43.

³⁷⁸ Such as the GEF and the CIDIE. See *supra*, Chapter III, sections 3 and 4.

³⁷⁹ For instance, for Canada, the National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, established in 1988; for the UK, the UK Round Table for Sustainable Development, created in 1994; for the US, the President's Council for Sustainable Development, established in 1993; and (interesting) for the European Union, the General Consultative Forum on the Environment, created in 1993. See *Preliminary discussion paper and background material : the Halifax Summit*, *Sustainable Development and international institutional reform, supra* note 375, p.35.

improved.³⁸¹ These institutions generally suffer from narrow mandates. small budgets, limited support and lack of coordination.

UNEP - UN's first environmental organ - is a very good example of how UN institutions can be ill-designed for their task. Although UNEP has contributed considerably to supply significant impetus to global environmental protection activities and sensitivity³⁸², it suffers from serious handicaps. The UN Environmental Programme's principal institutional difficulty is its insufficient clout and support, both among nations and organizations.³⁸³ It has a far too narrow mandate to effectively coordinate across the spectrum of global issues. Its budget is small (about 0.1 % of the US Environmental Protection Agency), and its staffing is inadequate for the many tasks that need to be undertaken. Moreover, its location in Nairobi, Kenya, compromises a great deal (bad communications, political instability, and low ability to attract a high-level staff).³⁸⁴ Lack of funding, poor internal management and lack of power (UNEP is a mere

³⁸⁰ M.Strong, "After Rio: the question of international institutional reform", in *Preliminary* discussion paper and background material: the Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform, supra note 375.

³⁸¹ P.Szasz provides for an analysis of the powers and the abilities of the principal organs of the UN in relation to sustainable development concerns, and an assessment of the institutional changes that could - or could not - improve their potential to deal with these issues. So would neither the composition nor the voting system of the GA and the Security Council allow much room for the design of effective sustainable development policies, and the idea of reforming the Trusteeship Council into an Ecological Council seems even more of a challenge. given the Council's composition (too large) and its current powers (too small). See P.Szasz, "Restructuring the international organizational framework", in E.Brown Weiss, ed., *Environmental change and international law : new challenges and dimensions*, (Tokyo : UN University Press, 1992), p.357-369.

³⁸² See supra, Chapter III, section 3: A.Berret. International organizations : principles and issues, 5th ed., (Englewood Cliffs : Prentice Hall, 1991), p.317: H.French. Partnership for the planet : an environmental agenda for the UN, (Washington D.C. : Worldwatch, 1995), p.28 a.f.

³⁸³ Its creation in 1972 was at best somewhat half-hearted, reflecting a lack of conviction on the part of the developed countries about the importance of environmental issues on the one hand, and the opposition of certain developing countries, perceiving environmental issues as contradictory to the needs of rapid development, on the other hand. P.Szasz, *supra* note 381, p.351-352.

³⁸⁴ D.Esty, greening the GATT : trade, environment and the future, (Washington D.C. : Institute for International Economics, 1994), p.91.

programme, not a full agency of the UN) are its main weaknesses.³⁸⁵ It will be these impediments that have to be addressed in upgrading and strengthening UNEP : greater financial resources. a more central location (for instance Geneva or New York) that will facilitate contacts and cooperation with other organs - UN or others -, and a clearer mandate as to the functions UNEP is to fulfill are essential to the needed and necessary transformation of UNEP into a more independent organization : preferably a UN agency.³⁸⁶

The UN Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD), the institutional legacy of the 1992 Rio Earth Summit (UNCED), has even more limited authority than UNEP : it has an almost impossible mandate of trying to follow up Agenda 21 - the 700 page compendium of environmental needs and concerns, covering every imaginable environmental issue without differentiating priorities and often reflecting contrary points of view³⁸⁷ -, suffers (as does the UNEP) from lacking political support and a tiny budget, and of the belief in many developed countries that it has been 'captured' by developing countries, and as a result will not act in the general global interest.³⁸⁸ Furthermore, the mere creation of the CSD resulted in a loss of prestige for the UNEP and the confusion of its mission³⁸⁹, and added

³⁸⁵ J.McCormick, "International Nongovernmental Organizations : prospects for a global environmental movement", in S.Kamieniecki, ed., *Environmental politics in the international arena*, (Albany : State University of New York Press, 1993), p.136.

³⁸⁶ P.Szasz, *supra* note 381, p.370-371.

Agenda 21 stresses the need for UNEP and its Governing Council to have an enhanced and strengthened role, including in its involvement in the development of international environmental law, and UNEP's performance of Secretariat duties for environmental protection agreements. See G.Handl, ed., *Yearbook of international environmental law*, vol.5, 1994, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1995), p.546 a.f.

³⁸⁷ D.Esty compares this mission "as being told to follow up the Bible". D.Esty. *supra* note 384, p.91.

³⁸⁸ D.Esty, "A case for a Global Environmental Organization", in *Preliminary discussion paper* and background material : the Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform, supra note 375, p.4-5.

³⁸⁹ H.French, *supra* note 382, p.32.

even more to the complex and clouded multitude of institutions dealing with development and environment issues. At the end of the day, the result of these deficiencies is that the CSD is acquiring a reputation as a talk shop, a mere gathering place, where not much of real significance happens.³⁹⁰ In order to change this and to improve the CSD, more financial and political support should be available, along with a more focused mandate, especially taking up a coordinating role as a top priority.

The UNDP - the UN's main development organization - on the other hand does have a well-funded and broader budget, and is a full agency of the UN. It has increasingly moved into the environmental arena by integrating environmental considerations into its policies (as a result of the concept of Sustainable Development), has created in early 1995 a new Sustainable Energy and Environment Division, and works actively together with development banks and the UNEP (e.g. in structures such as the GEF and the Multilateral Fund for the implementation of the Montreal Protocol).³⁹¹ At the Rio Earth Summit. UNDP was entrusted with "capacity building" for Sustainable Development. UNDP thus remains a main actor in the area of Sustainable Development. However. throughout the UN, and thus also in the UNDP, a sizable gap persists between rhetoric and practice. An independent review commissioned by the agency itself concluded that many of its country offices disregard the concepts of Sustainable Development and environmental sensitivity in the inception and implementation

 ³⁹⁰ Ibid., p.34; M.Strong, "Post-Rio sustainable development and the Summit", in J.Kirton,
S.Richardson, ed., *The Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform*, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1995), p.14.
³⁹¹ See *supra*, Chapter III, sections 3 and 4; H.French, *supra* note 382, p.35.

of their projects.³⁹² Moreover, UNDP's focus on development issues leaves only minor space for related concerns (such as environment and trade) as additional topics.

Building on the UN system and all of its organs that have direct or indirect impact on environment and development policy-making (see Chapter III, section 3), and in advance to the next section of the present Chapter, one could conceive the idea of a constructive consolidation and redirection of several of these organs into one principal organ, or at least into one agency (and not a simple programme) of the UN : as such, political support could be more easily canalized, financial resources could be directed into one direction - without wasteful overlaps of action projects and scientific research - and a clear and sufficient mandate could be designed coordinating automatically all efforts done in the field of environment and development.³⁹³ One could easily imagine rechartering and consolidating three or four existing organs, such as the UNEP, the CSD, the UNDP and the UNCTAD, which could channel together and canalize the necessary resources. mandate and experience in the fields of global development, environment and trade.³⁹⁴

Despite the manifest inadequacy of the existing, utterly decentralized institutional structure, some international observers still argue in favor of **issueby-issue management** of global environmental problems, characterized by individual *ad hoc* international environmental protection agreements : a

³⁹² H.French, *supra* note 382, p.35.

³⁹³ D.Esty, *supra* note 384, p.89-91; D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p.6.

³⁹⁴ Idea discussed during the interview with S.Richardson, CEC Program Manager NAFTA/Environment, on August 12, 1996. in the CEC Secretariat, Montreal. D.Esty adds other institutions such as the UNIDO, WMO, and UNITAR to the list. See D.Esty, *supra* note 384, p.90. and D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p.16.

convention, a protocol, and separate secretariats for each environmental problem that manages to get enough support. The problem with this ad hoc decisionmaking is that it does not exploit the advantages linked to the interconnectedness and interdependency of global environmental problems : without a comprehensive approach to solving these problems, opportunities for efficiency and synergies across issues will be lost.³⁹⁵ A lot of improvement and strengthening of this institutional structure could be obtained by centralizing and coordinating the negotiation of international environmental law, and the work of these secretariats under one agency.

As Chapter III has shown, global as well as regional **development banks** have changed dramatically since the end of the eighties. Especially the World Bank has taken major steps towards directing the Bank's activities, policies and programmes to more environmentally sound development.³⁹⁶ New structures and new policies have been instituted to reflect the principles of sustainable development and environmental protection, reflecting into real changes in the Bank's lending programmes. But despite this progress, most of the Bank's investments are still devoted to large infrastructure projects, and in addition its policies are often breached³⁹⁷ - in the World Bank as well there seems to exist a large gap between policy and practice.³⁹⁸

If the Bank were to promote truly sustainable development, it would place far less emphasis on large infrastructure projects (which are often environmentally and

.

i

³⁹⁵ D.Esty, *supra* note 384, p.90-91, and D.Esty. *supra* note 388, p.5-6.

³⁹⁶ See supra Chapter III, section 4.

³⁹⁷ A 1994 internal review suggests that policy guidelines are routinely violated. For instance, only 2 out of 46 power sector loans in the pipeline have been found compatible with the new policy papers on energy. H.French, *supra* note 382, p.37-38.

socially disruptive). and far more on smaller efforts carried out in close cooperation with local communities. Another way to improve and strengthen development banks, is to ensure that they develop policies that ensure compatibility between major environmental protection agreements (CITES, Ozone protection regime, Basel convention, Biodiverstiy convention, Climate change treaty, etc.), and the lending programmes of development banks.³⁹⁹ In addition, the size and complex structure of the World Bank Group (which includes a number of agencies)⁴⁰⁰, comprising close to 10,000 individuals and many different cultures mitigate against rapid, thorough and sometimes necessary change.⁴⁰¹ Finally, there consists considerable overlap and duplication between the World Bank on the one hand, and certain UN institutions (such as UNDP), the regional development banks, and the IMF on the other hand. There is substantial room for improvement in the coordination and cooperation between these institutions.⁴⁰²

Chapter III has equally shown that **trade regimes** such as the GATT/WTO have gone some way in institutionalizing the consideration of environmental concerns : at the end of the Uruguay Round, as part of the deal, trade negotiators agreed to create the WTO Committee on Trade and Environment (the successor of the GATT EMIT), charged with exploring ways to ensure that trade rules and environmental goals are 'mutually supportive'.⁴⁰³ That environmental protection

ι,

ŝ

³⁰⁸ And the Global Environmental Facility (GEF) also suffers from structural problems, in particular funding problems, D.Esty, *supra* note 384, p.87.

³⁰⁹ For instance, the development of a policy that prevents lending in violation of international treaties. See H.French. *supra* note 382, p.36-41.

⁴⁰⁰ See *supra*, Chapter III. section 4.

⁴⁰¹ L.Good, "The World Bank", in J.Kirton, S.Richardson, ed., supra note 374, p.55.

⁴⁰² *Ibid.*, p.55-56.

⁴⁰³ H.French, *supra* note 382, p.43.

The Committee is to report the results of its work to the WTO Ministerial Conference, which will be held in December 1996 in Singapore. On the 2-day Asia Conference on Trade and the Environment, held in June 1996, several participants (such as Prof. Tommy Koh of Singapore, and

issues now at least have a seat at the trade table is important, but the question remains exactly how the multilateral trade regime will deal with, and what treatment will be reserved to environmental objectives. Indeed, the GATT/WTO system remains based and anchored upon several key-principles bearing on the nature of the international legal system, principles that are entirely inherent to the multilateral trade regime. First, the WTO is a structure predicated on state sovereignty, which means that the states members of the WTO - through their representatives - define interests, make the rules and settle the disputes in the WTO. Second, the WTO system holds up the principle of collectively-approved action over unilateral enforcement. In addition, the WTO protects states, within their jurisdiction, from impingement by other states. Thus, extraterritorial and extrajurisdictional action are not tolerated by the WTO regime. Fourth, the multilateral trade regime finds itself not authorized to interfere in domestic environmental policy. Fifth, the multilateral trading system generally only applies GATT/WTO principles (such as fair trade, and non-discrimination)⁴⁰⁴: the

Daniel Esty, Director of the Yale Centre for Environmental Law and Policy) urged the WTO Committee to make more progress in concrete recommendations to be made at the Ministerial Conference. Dr. Michael Rieterer (who is Deputy Director-General of the Department of European Integration on Trade Policy at the Austrian Federal Economic Chamber) pointed at several agenda items as main candidates for concrete results, namely the issues of eco-labeling, transparency of trade and environmental measures, and the relationship between trade regimes and environmental protection agreements. European Commission official Jean-Pierre De Laet expected concrete proposals on market access issues, and the issue of the export of domestically prohibited goods. However, despite the Commission of the EC's efforts to push ahead with some innovative proposals, progress in the CTE's work has been very slow and disappointing, and it is not sure whether the CTE's report to the Ministerial Conference will contain any concrete results or practically-useful recommendations.

See "Call for WTO Trade. Environment Group to `make more progress`". Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/envir/190.html

[&]quot;WTO Trade, Environment Group 'unlikely to finish work this year". Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/envir/188.html

Interview with Allessandro Paolicchi, Commission of the EC, DG I, Brussels, 8 October 1996. ⁴⁰⁴ Some GATT panels, such as in the Tuna Dolphin case, did interpret some rules of general international public law (e.g. concerning extraterritorial and unilateral action), but even in these interpretations trade concerns remained by far more dominant than environmental protection

multilateral trade regime is limited to dealing with trade issues - trade concerns remain clearly the WTO's first and foremost priority.⁴⁰⁵ It is clear that these principles often are in sharp contrast with the needs and objectives of global environmental protection and sustainable development, and that the WTO likely will continue to put trade concerns ahead of environmental objectives.

The dispute settlement procedures still retain their high level of secrecy : the NGO community has no formal standing in the process, any expert input of 'persons of professional standing and experience in the field' is entirely optional for the panel, and proceedings are confidential except that - on request of a WTO member - a summary of documents may be released to the public. This last option is at least some progress from past GATT practices.⁴⁰⁶ Furthermore, more documents will be made publicly available with the new Derestriction Policy, adopted by the WTO General Council on July 18th, 1996, that will allow for more WTO documents to be derestricted and circulated (even on the Internet).⁴⁰⁷ More progress could be made if the dispute panels would apply international law *other* than GATT/WTO law (for instance international environmental law) - highly unlikely if one considers the fifth key principle of the WTO regime.⁴⁰⁸

Ę.,

ţ

objectives. Although the analysis of the Tuna Dolphin case panel provoked heated debates about GATT's ability to balance trade and environment interests, the findings of the first panel report (i.e. the case between the US and Mexico, commonly refered to as Tuna Dolphin 1) were not adopted by the GATT Council, and thus have technically no precidential value. See D.Esty, *supra* note 384, p.31.

⁴⁰⁵ G.Handl, ed., *supra* note 386, p. 13-32, giving an exhaustive explication of the impact of these key WTO principles on environmental protection considerations.

⁴⁰⁶ R.Page, "International trade and the environment : the WTO and the new beginning", in J.Kirton, S.Richardson, ed., *supra* note 374, p.68-69.

⁴⁰⁷ With certain exceptions, documents produced after the establishment of the WTO on January 1st, 1995, will be unrestricted and circulated "if they contain only information that is publicly available or information that is required to be published under this decision".

Decision on Procedure for the Circulation and Derestriction of WTO Documents (WT/L/160). See "General Council takes steps to increase public access to WTO information". Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/Whats_new/ngo.htm

⁴⁰⁸ See however *supra*, note 404.

The WTO Committee on Trade and the Environment has been discussing the role of NGO's in the trade regime. This topic clearly showed an overwhelming opposition of WTO delegates to include NGO's as observers.⁴⁰⁹ However, given the WTO's goal of "cooperating with other international institutions involved in global economic decision-making"⁴¹⁰, and given the existence of many financial. development and environment institutions and organizations with interest in the issues related to environment and trade, there is room for more cooperation and coordination, and consequently the WTO Committee on Trade and Environment has granted observer status to several international organizations.⁴¹¹ These efforts by the Committee and the WTO to reach out to other bodies are important initiatives; now the NGO community looks at these observers as precedents for their own inclusion.⁴¹²

Although the 1994 Dispute Settlement Understanding does not establish a general standard of review to guide panels in their deliberations and rulings. the 1994 Antidumping Code article 17.6, provides that (ii) "the panel shall interpret the relevant provisions of the Agreement in accordance with customary rules of interpretation of public international law", thus general international law (including trade law but also international environmental law, and customary international law) could become standardly used in the settlement of disputes. However, these provisions are worded in such general terms, that it remains to be seen whether they will have much impact on the results of panel decisions. See P.Pescatore *et al.*, Handbook of WTO/GATT dispute settlement, vol.1, (The Hague : Kluwer Law International, 1995), p.72-74.

⁴⁰⁹ In fact, the US argued in favor for granting NGO's observer status in the Committee's proceedings, believing that this reflected the need for open processes in order to build public credibility. However, many countries rejected this proposition, and the debate ended with a clear majority in favor of releasing more information, but their proceedings would remain private. See *lbid.*, p.66.

Also, The Commission of the EC proposes to create effective mechanisms for information exchange and the opportunity for NGO's to submit comments and views to the WTO Committee on Trade and Environment.

Commission of the EC. Communication to the Council and the Parliament on Trade and Environment. (Brussels : Commission of the EC. DG I, 1996). p.20.

⁴¹⁰ See supra, Chapter III, section 1.

⁴¹¹ Including UNEP, UN CSD, UNDP, UNCTAD, IMF, World Bank, OECD and others. See *supra* Chapter III, section 1.

⁴¹² R.Page, *supra* note 406, p.69.

1

A most interesting and very recent development in the WTO, is the recent WTO invitation extended to NGO's "concerned with matters related to those of the WTO", to attend the WTO Ministerial Conference in Singapore (December 1996). Arrangements are being made for registration of NGO representatives wishing to attend the Singapore Meeting. R.Ruggierro, WTO Director-General, in his speech addressing the APEC Trade Ministers (July 15th, 1996, New

In conclusion to this section, one has to consider the increasing importance of public participation and process transparency in the legitimacy and public credibility of all these institutions. Strengthening open-door processes and improving public accessibility is a basic factor in improving existing institutions. Essential requirements in this strengthening process are improving transparency (processes of decision-making must be open to public view, in order to be seen as free of interference from special interests), accountability (not only in the financial but essentially in the political sense), freedom of information (accentuating the people's right to know as a precondition to their right to participate), and education and training.⁴¹³ More and more the traditional view on international relations and law as a states-only process is breaking down under the enormous pressure by a range of non-state actors (including environmental groups, scientists, and business communities), now exerting a direct and powerful influence in international environmental negotiations and institutions.⁴¹⁴ The UN (especially its CSD), the GEF and the World Bank are the subject of intense NGO interest and scrutiny. Although the UN has begun to extend NGO access⁴¹⁵, this has been done

ţ

Zealand), said to expect in Singapore "at least 3000 people, representing 120 member governments, 30 accession candidates, other international organizations, NGO's representing environment, consumer, and development groups - 60 environmental groups alone - as well as trade unions, business and of course the media from all over the world". (emphasis added) See "WTO - Non-Governmental Organizations". Netscape

http://www.unicc.org/wto/regngoe.htm

[&]quot;Speech by Mr. R.Ruggierro. Director-General of the WTO, to the APEC trade ministers in Chrirstchurch, New Zealand, 15 July 1996", Netscape

http://www.unicc.org/wto/Whats_new/press52.htm

⁴¹³ R.Sharp, "Organizing for change : people-power and the role of institutions", in J.Holmberg, ed., *Making development sustainable : redefining institutions, policy, and economics*, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1992), p.51-54.

⁴¹⁴ H.French, *supra* note 382, p.45.

⁴¹⁵ Especially during the Rio Summit (UNCED), and as a result of Agenda 21, which encourages the democratization of international policy-making by focusing on the important role of major groups. For instance, more than 500 major groups have been accredited to observe CSD deliberations and make selective interventions. See *supra*. Chapter III, section 3: *lhid.*, p.45-49. New ideas to formalize the growing importance in the UN system consist of making regular use of

on an ad hoc basis. without formal provisions for public review on international negotiations, or for NGO or individual standing before the ICJ.⁴¹⁶ The World Bank has instituted policies to make more Bank documents publicly available, creating an information center to disseminate them, and has created an independent inspection panel, an impartial forum where public complaints about Bank projects can be discussed.⁴¹⁷ More than any organization discussed above, the WTO remains subject to particularly strong criticism for their secretive methods and closed-door procedures, and continue to bar public access and NGO participation to a maximum, although there have been some recent attempts to increase public access to WTO information.⁴¹⁸

SECTION 2 : NEW INSTITUTIONS ON THE GLOBAL LEVEL

Regional trade regimes such as the NAFTA package and the European Union system have created institutional structures and regimes that could act as a model, a prototype for what could be possible and might be needed on a more global level.

Overall, the NAFTA and its side-deal are fairly successful in dealing with the various concerns at stake (i.e. trade liberalization and environmental protection) : an innovative institutional structure in the CEC, a more active role for

public hearings, or even of the creation of a new 'NGO or people's assembly' (on the model of the Parliament of the EU); *Ibid.*, p.50.

⁴¹⁶ See supra, Chapter III, section 3 and 5: *Ibid.*, p.45.

⁴¹⁷ *Ibid.*, p.51.

⁴¹⁸ See *supra*, pages118-120, and notes 409 and 414.

NGO's and the public⁴¹⁹. and (largely symbolic) trade sanctions as the ultimate penalty.⁴²⁰ However. in order to see the CEC as a model for a more multilateral initiative, one must - again - consider institutional aspects such as its budget⁴²¹. composition, staffing and mandate or responsibilities.⁴²² Concerning its mandate. key challenges facing the CEC are the following : more active participation in the dispute resolution process of the NAFTA⁴²³, oversight reports on environmental concerns related to NAFTA's implementation⁴²⁴. enforcement and levying of fines. assistance in implementing NAFTA's environmental provisions and in developing additional supplementary provisions, and serving as a source of information on environmental issues.⁴²⁵ Recently the CEC has acted upon several incidents that have environmental implications : it released a report on the tens of thousands of birds that were killed on a Mexican reservoir, and it is studying the port construction project at Cozumel island for its potential damaging environmental

ţ

⁴¹⁹ Although some important opportunities have been missed, overall the public accessibility - a major NGO preoccupation - has been enlarged, and the CEC is likely to have a more sustained and meaningful relationship with NGO's and the public. The existence of JPAC, the permanency of public submissions channels, and the important role that NGO's have played in the public debate surrounding NAFTA/NAAEC are reasons for (cautious) optimism. See P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu, *The environment and NAFTA* : understanding and implementing the new continental law, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1996), p.160-169; and see *supra*, Chapter III, section 1.

⁴²⁰ Only in the case of Mexico and the US. Canada has successfully negotiated a separate regime. See *supra*, Chapter III, section 1.

See G.Grayson, *The NAFTA : regional community and the new world order*, (Lanham : University Press of America, 1994), p.141: and see *supra*, Chapter III, section 1.

⁴²¹ Certainly a weakness in the institutional structure is CEC's annual budget, necessitating the CEC to prove its efficiency and necessity of its existence each year. Such short-term resources do not favor longer-term planning. Interview with S.Richardson, CEC Program Manager NAFTA/Environment, on August 12, 1996, at the CEC Secretariat. Montreal.

⁴²² J.Dunoff, "Resolving trade-environment conflicts : the case for trading institutions" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.626-627.

⁴²³ For instance nomination of the roster of NAFTA dispute resolution panel members with environmental expertise by the CEC. A.De Mestral, *Dispute avoidance : weighing the values of trade and environment under the NAFTA and the NAAEC*, CEC Environment and Trade series no.3, (Montreal : CEC, 1996), p.26: and *supra* Chapter 1, section 2, note 115.

⁴²⁴ Reports on the effects of NAFTA on the environment have already been redacted and published by the CEC. See *supra* Chapter III, section 1.

⁴²⁵ F.Runge, Freer trade, protected environment : balancing trade liberalization and environmental interests, (New York : Council on Foreign Relations Press, 1994), p.66-70.

impacts. Overall, the basic structure of the CEC could offer an important prototype for and even a stepping stone towards broader international efforts in balancing trade, environment and development concerns.⁴²⁶

As we have seen in Chapters I and III, the EU - as a supranational arrangement - has addressed trade and environment linkages directly, actively setting environmental policies, resolving disputes concerning trade and environment interests, creating institutional structures to deal with trade and environment issues, and ultimately providing strong leadership in balancing trade objectives and environmental protection concerns, in order to avoid multiple, competing national (i.e. member-state level) solutions to similar environmental problems. The substantial budgetary resources needed to enforce the EU's environmental regulations, and its overarching institutional capacity could very well serve as model for a more multilateral structure. Most importantly, the insight of the EU experience shows that some degree of *subsidiarity* might be required⁴²⁷, in order to balance out the states' desire to maintain as much of their sovereignty. and the world's need for multilateral and international responses to global

⁴²⁶ Certainly noteworthy is the CEC Council decision made in August 1996 in Toronto. The Council - made up of the three environment ministers - recognized in the field of trade and environment the "unique perspective on the relation between trade and environment policies provided by the North American experience. The Council agreed to seek a joint meeting with trade ministers of the three countries (...). The Council also agreed that senior trade and environment officials (...) should meet to explore the possibilities for common ground in advance of the WTO ministerial meeting in Singapore in December." The CEC Secretariat will make up a report of these meetings, to be presented at the WTO Singapore Meeting. Interview with S.Richardson, CEC Program manager NAFTA/Environment, on august 12, 1996, at the CEC Secretariat, Montreal. Document "North American Environment Ministers accelerate environmental protection efforts", (Montreal : CEC, 1996).

⁴²⁷ The subsidiarity principle (article 3 b (2) of the E.C. Treaty) reads that the "Community will take action (...) only if and in so far the objectives of the proposed action cannot be sufficiently achieved by the Member States and therefore (...) be better (read *more effectively* or *faster*) achieved by the Community". (emphasis added). In this respect, environmental action will be undertaken by the Community if the objectives can be attained faster and more effectively by the Community or in the "Community eco-system". L.Kramer, *EC Treaty law and environmental law*, 2nd ed., (London : Sweet & Maxwell, 1995), p.59-63.

problems.⁴²⁸ Much of the strength and efficiency of the EU system in balancing trade and environment concerns comes from its special, supranational stature. It is more than a mere intergovernmental cooperation commitment (like the NAFTA/NAAEC), a difference to be kept in mind when talking about global institutional structures for the environment, which will more likely be based on intergovernmental cooperation than on supranational commitments.⁴²⁹ The Commission itself argues that the many obstacles which burden the Trade-Development-Environment debate at the international level are, in many respects, similar to those the EU is facing in its effort to integrate environmental requirements into other policy areas. However, the Commission argues, at the international level there exists no integrated institutional framework as in the EU, but a multitude of bodies and institutions with "specialized tasks, different composition and varying structures", making it necessary to bring together, and coordinate the work conducted in the various international fora.⁴³⁰

At the very heart of the antagonism between trade, development and environment issues lies the fact that there is a lack of institutional structure to protect the environment the way the GATT/WTO guards international trade issues⁴³¹ : there is no institutional international organization to protect environmental values the way the WTO protects principles of free trade.⁴³² During the last few years, several radically <u>new</u> proposals of institutions at the global

⁴²⁸ F.Runge, *supra* note 425, p.35-53.

⁴²⁹ See *supra* Chapter I, section 2 and Chapter III, section 1.

⁴³⁰ Commission of the EC, *Communication to the Council and the Parliament on Trade and Environment*, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996), p.19-21.

⁴³¹ Or the way the IMF guards monetary stability, and the World Bank development interests. ⁴³² Preliminary discussion paper and background material : the Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform. (Ottawa : National Round Table for the Environment and the Economy, 1995), p.18.

level. together with a call for fuller public participation. have been put forward, responding to the challenge of designing and crafting a multilateral institution that will balance and integrate the *equally important* issues of trade. development and environment. These proposals respond to the fear that an international institutional 'organizational crisis' will aggravate environmental threats. resulting in a widening gap between international environmental objectives and the capacity of organizations to deal with these objectives.

One of these proposals is the The Hague Declaration, adopted at the The Hague Ministerial Conference, attended by 24 states in March 1989.⁴³³ It states the following :

"Because the problem is planet-wide in scope, solutions can only be devised on a global level. (...) remedies to be sought involve not only the fundamental duty to preserve the ecosystem, but also the right to live in dignity in a viable global environment, and the consequent duty of the community of nations vis-à-vis present and future generations to do all that can be done (...).

By these words, environmental degradation is regarded as a human rights

problem, as endangering the right to live in dignity in a viable environment, from

which the fundamental duty to preserve the ecosystems is derived.⁴³⁴ Quite an

innovative instrument! Furthermore, the Declaration considers that

Ĺ

"faced with a problem the solution to which has three salient features, namely that it is vital, urgent and global, we are in a situation that calls (...) for a new approach, through the development of new principles of international law including new and more effective decision-making and enforcement mechanisms. (...)

⁴³³ The Hague Declaration on the Environment, March 11, 1989. It was signed by Australia. Brazil. Canada, Ivory Coast, Egypt, France, Federal Republic of Germany, Hungary, India, Indonesia. Italy, Japan, Jordan, Kenya, Malta, Norway, New Zealand, the Netherlands. Senegal, Spain, Sweden, Tunisia, Venezuela, and Zimbabwe. 28 International Legal Materials 1308 (1989).

⁴³⁴ See H.Hohmann, *Precautionary legal duties and principles of modern international* environmental law, (London : Graham & Trotman / Martinus Nijhoff, 1994), p.163; and supra Chapter II, section 1.

The signatories acknowledge and will promote the following principles : (a) The principle of developing, within the framework of the UN, new institutional authority, either by strengthening existing institutions or by creating a new institution (...). (c) The principle of appropriate measures to promote the effective implementation of and compliance with the decisions of the new institutional authority. decisions which will be subject to control by the ICJ (...).

This idea of creating new institutional authority in the UN framework was proposed by the governments of France. Norway and the Netherlands. originally in a more extreme form of the establishment under UN auspices of an authority that will take decisions with *qualified majority* voting, and the acceptance of the principle of *economic sanctions* subject to control by the ICJ.⁴¹⁵ Proposals like this one calling for international structures have been vigorously debated since, and essentially recognize (and need) a shift of the concept of state sovereignty from the traditional concept to a more dynamic one (rights *and* responsibilities).⁴³⁶ However, most countries still persist in maintaining their individual rights and privileges over more global approaches, and obstruct considerably the (at least partly) realization of a new global institutional structure. However, it is not useless to take a look at the debate and proposals of the doctrine and literature concerning new multilateral institutional structures.

Over the past 25 years in particular, the focus on environmental issues has grown dramatically as did our understanding of the public health and ecological effects of certain economic and development activities. Consequently, the environment emerged as a policy priority just as trade liberalization, monetary

١

⁴³⁵ G.Plant, "Institutional and legal responses to global environmental change". in I.Rowlands, M.Greene, ed., *Global environmental change and international relations*, (London : MacMillan Academic and Professional, 1992), p.122-142.

stability and economic development emerged as the major policy issues of the international agenda 50 years ago, at the creation of the Bretton Woods institutions.⁴³⁷ Today's global economic as well as ecological interdependence theoretically necessitates an improved and innovative institutional structure for managing environmental problems and the trade-environment intersection on an international scale.

The internalization of the environmental challenge can be separated into three different issues, each of which provides a fundamental reason to consider establishing a new global environmental institution. First, more and more, we recognize the existence of global environmental issues that need to be addressed properly, on a global level. Such global issues require collective action at the international level.⁴³⁸ They demonstrate the need to provide for an international regulatory structure. Second, it is equally important to provide an intersection point or discussion forum for countries, business and other major groups, and the public at large where they can think, dialogue, discuss scientific research and policy action about 'common problems' - problems that many of them face. Sharing information and scientific data, developing common understanding, trying to understand other points of view, and promoting shared learning in addressing these common problems is indeed a great source of progress and gain - and a

J

⁴³⁶ See *supra*, Chapter II, section 1; H.Hohmann, *supra* note 434, p.164; L.Susskind, *Environmental diplomacy : negotiating more effective global agreements*, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1994), p.21 a.f.

⁴³⁷ D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p.1 a.f.

⁴³⁸ Where the problem is local, a local response is appropriate; where the problem is provincial, a provincial response is desirable; where the problem is national, a national response is needed; when it is international, one needs to have an international structure. See D.Esty. *supra* note 374, p.76.

fundamental precondition of cooperation and collective action on these issues.⁴³⁹ A third set of issues deal with competitiveness problems. A global institution is needed to address these issues, namely to reduce competitiveness tensions and the resulting 'political drag' (i.e. downward pressure) on national environmental regulations. Competitiveness concerns arise out of divergent national environmental policy choices (and thus different national environmental regulations); in an interdependent global economic market place, these differences create different degrees of capability to compete, hence competitiveness tensions.⁴⁴⁰ From the perspective of economic theory, the case for a strong, comprehensive and overarching global environmental institution is rather strong.⁴⁴¹

In addition, the lacking existing institutional structure that deals with these global issues of economical and ecological interdependence⁴⁴². and the equally lacking ad hoc approach consisting of totally uncoordinated issue-by-issue management of environmental problems⁴⁴³ are more reasons in favor of the innovative and creative construction of a new global institution.⁴⁴⁴

In this debate, some have argued for a new global institution built within the framework of the United Nations⁴⁴⁵ (in the line of the The Hague Declaration).

⁴⁴³ See *supra*, section 1.

<u>í</u>,

4

⁴³⁹ In this respect, the OECD could very well be taken as a model for this kind of institution. The 25 different countries member of the OECD use the OECD as a forum to come together, share information, talk through problems, promote studies and research, and even reach guidelines on collective action on common solutions. *Ibid.*, p.76; See *supra* Chapter III, section 6. However, on a global level such a forum needs to involve also developing countries, which will make decisions more difficult to obtain.

⁴⁴⁰ D.Esty, *supra* note 374, p.75-77; D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p.2-10.

⁴⁴¹ D.Esty, *supra* note 384, p.79-80.

⁴⁴² See the institutions and their defects described in Chapter III, and Chapter IV, section 1.

⁴⁴⁴ D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p.4-6.

⁴⁴⁵ For instance P.Szasz, and Hillary French, who argue in favor of a new principal organ within the UN. See P.Szasz, *supra* note 381, p.363 a.f.; H.French, *supra* note 382, p.54-57. The fact

while others have more argued for a new global structure outside the UN, more in the line of the Bretton Woods institutions, a 4th Bretton Woods pillar so to speak.⁴⁴⁶ Whether built inside or outside the UN structure, both sides recognize several important functions of this new Global Environmental Institution (or Global Environmental Organization (GEO) or World Environmental Organization (WEO) - the terms used respectively by Esty and Runge) - and these roles and functions all constitute more reasons in favor of its creation.

í

Į.

First of all, this new agency could substantially facilitate the development of international environmental law. by being involved in the elaboration of new international environmental standards and new basic principles of international environmental law. It could provide for an ongoing forum for negotiation on environmental norms, best practices, standards, and the framing of cardinal principles in the environmental realm that are implementable policies. It could provide a forum of discussion on and identification of new principles of global environmental policy, and eventually collect enough scientific necessity, political will and public acceptance to implement and apply them.⁴⁴⁷ Second, it would

remains that there is no full-fledged environmental agency within the UN system, but only a handful of disparate and badly coordinated bodies. An idea could be to transform UNEP into an operational UN Environmental Agency (maybe even by consolidating several UN bodies such as UNEP, UNDP, UNCTAD and CSD). See *supra*, section 1.

⁴⁴⁶ This is the case for D. Esty, J.Dunoff, and F.Runge. Of course, differences in views remain, for instance concerning the mandate of the new institution : Esty is more in favor of construing an institution that will be responsible for environmental protection concerns, and thus counterbalance other organizations that favor other basic concerns (such as the GATT/WTO, whose mandate is trade liberalization, and World Bank, whose mandate covers development objectives); whereas Dunoff pleads for a new global organization that has a double mandate, namely in the field of environmental protection as well as in the field of economic development policies. See D.Esty. *supra* note 384, p.77-98; J.Dunoff, "Institutional misfits : the GATT, the ICJ and tradeenvironment disputes" (1994) 15 Michigan Journal of International Law, p.1108-1128.

⁴⁴⁷ For instance, principles such as the polluter pays principle and environmental cost internalization, commitment to good science and life-cycle analyses of products (including its production process and its disposal) and environmental issues, the precautionary principle (environmental action can be undertaken in the light of serious scientific probability, without however the need for 100 % scientific certainty), emphasis on prevention rather that end-of-the-

promote the exchange of information and data on common global environmental problems, and could provide better coordination of technical and financial assistance to the developing countries. Third, a new global institution could recharter, eliminate, coordinate and consolidate several existing institutions that deal with these issues. Many of these institutions face fundamental impediments such as inapplicable or limited mandates, limited resources, and inappropriate staffing; malfunctioning, disorganized and ill-equipped institutions should be "creatively destroyed", and could be subsumed by the new Global Environmental Institution.⁴⁴⁸ Fourth, this global institution could very well serve as a focal point. coordination center and umbrella organization for the current scattered collection of environmental protection regimes set up by the different international agreements : it could bring together their dispersed secretariats under one roof and coordinate their activities, and could rationalize and coordinate further collective environmental protection action in one center. It could bring a halt to the traditional ad hoc approach of issue-by-issue management of environmental problems, which is responsible for the loss of many opportunities for efficiency and synergy across issues : today's economic and ecological interdependence and interconnectedness of the problems requires a new comprehensive and collective approach; an issue-linkage rather than an issue-separate approach is needed and could only be furthered by a global and cross-sectoral institution. Fifth, a strong and credible Global Environmental Institution could protect environmental values

i

pipe environmental damage treatment, the use of economic incentives, and public participation, transparency, open-door processes, and access to information are fundamental new principles that could be discussed, conceptualized and applied in such a global forum. See D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p.13-14. The new global institution could improve the opportunities for bargaining, and facilitate NGO access. H.French, *supra* note 382, p.55.

the way other international structures protect their principal objectives (such as the GATT/WTO protects the principle of trade liberalization) : just as the GATT/WTO 'constitutionalizes' the commitment to freer trade, a successful Global Environmental Institution would establish and protect the principle of environmental cost internalization and other environmental norms.⁴⁴⁹ Our Global Environmental Institution would counterbalance other important institutions and principles; it would help to ensure that environmental values are not overwhelmed by more established interests (such as trade liberalization). In doing so, the new institution would provide a counterweight to the GATT/WTO, and *ipse facto* address the fear of many environmentalists that when trade and environmental principles collide, trade goals triumph. If the environment had its own international body, the WTO's narrow focus on trade principles (or the World Bank's focus on development concerns) would seem less oppressive since there is a global institution that carries enough weight and influence to counterbalance other well-rooted and institutionalized objectives. In doing this, it could relieve some environmental pressure (that now exists on the WTO) of the trade regimes.⁴⁵⁰ Shortly summarized, a Global Environmental Institution should upgrade enforcement of upwards harmonized environmental standards, involve citizens and experts, and cooperate closely with other institutions such as trade regimes (WTO, NAFTA, EU) and development banks (World Bank).451

í

⁴⁴⁸ Candidates for reinvigoration, consolidation and creative destruction could include several of the institutions discussed in Chapter III, namely UNEP, CSD, UNDP, UNCTAD, UNIDO. ⁴⁴⁹ D.Esty, *supra* note 384, p.96-97.

⁴⁵⁰ D.Esty, *supra* note 384, p.77-98; D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p.1-18; S.Richardson, ed., *Shaping consensus : the North American Commission on the Environment and NAFTA*, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1993); P.Szasz, *supra* note 381, p.353-366; H.French, *supra* note 382, p.54-57; J.Dunoff, *supra* note 446, p. 1108 a.f.

⁴⁵¹ F.Runge, *supra* note 425, p.93-109.

In order for such a Global Environmental Institution to be successful in performing these functions, several institutional features are required : a strong, clear and broad institutional mandate⁴⁵²; access to impartial scientific and technological expertise; transparent, participatory processes that enhance institutional legitimacy and public credibility (with a broad membership of developed and developing countries, transparent procedures and open decisionmaking processes, and NGO and citizen participation); the tools necessary to induce compliance with its decisions (e.g. monitoring and reporting requirements, positive economic incentives such as technology transfer, financial assistance, access to funding and markets, and economic sanctions such as trade restrictions carrots and sticks); and overall, an institution designed to promote the broader international interests of the global environment. All of this will provide a framework that is designed to facilitate the identification and balancing of the economic and ecological interests implicated in trade-environment conflicts. Compared to the present status quo, the adoption of such an institution would be a major advance in our international institutional structure.⁴⁵³ The efficiency gains. cost savings, and perceived public legitimacy made possible by such a new Global Environmental Institution all broaden the base of support for it and make it an attractive change.454

ĺ,

ť

⁴⁵² Be it a single (environmental protection) or a double (environmental protection and economic development) mandate. See *supra*, note 446.

⁴⁵³ J.Dunoff, *supra* note 446, p. 1108-1128; J.Dunoff, "Resolving trade-environment conflicts : the case for trading institutions" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p. 607-628; D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p.11; p. 17-18.

⁴⁵⁴ D.Esty, *supra* note 388, p. 18.

١

ł

Although this debate about the functions, institutional elements and the role attributed to such a Global Environmental Institution looks theoretically very promising and reveals the many advantages of a global centralized environmental regime, there is one thing that is often overlooked : the political and practical feasibility of the project. States are still very reluctant to give up even the smallest part of their authority (not to use the legal term state sovereignty) to any international organization, and certainly to an organization that will have such a clear and broad mandate. The prospects for the creation of such an innovative institution in the near future appear to be very dim. Faced with this practical obstacle, we are forced to turn our attention to the improvement and strengthening of the existing institutions : "like it or not, we must build on what we've got". 455 Scrapping the existing structure and replacing (or consolidating) it with the new global environmental organization is just not (yet?) a political option. The most likely institutional reform (if any) will be the enhancement of the status of existing institutions (such as the UNEP) and the rationalization of their place in the international system.456

⁴⁵⁵ J.MacNeill, "UN Agencies and the OECD", in J.Kirton, S.Richardson, eds., The Halifax summit, sustainable development and international institutional reform, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1995), p.82. ⁴⁵⁶ G.Plant, *supra* note 435, p.138.

CONCLUSION.

Į

This thesis has tried to deal with several fundamental concerns of our society of today. We have explored the major debate between the free trade proponents and the pursuers of environmental protection objectives, a debate in which - besides the traditional view of possibility of conflict of interests - we have discovered a lot of potential for cooperation and convergence between these concerns. The debate has shown the overwhelming interest of the world community to integrate, coordinate and balance out these objectives in all of their policy-making. As such, mere economic development has been put in a more *sustained* perspective, stressing qualitative and not just quantity-measured growth. From an international law's perspective, this gives the concept of Sustainable Development. From a trade regime's or environmental protection regime's perspective, this means (amongst other issues) institutional reform.

Indeed, institutions are a major player in this issue-integration process, and often are the prime responsible for it. So it is on the institutional level that a lot of progress in this sense can be made. The thesis has therefore focused on the international organizations and regimes that today have come to deal with these issues. The research has shown that international organizations have increasingly considered these issues : trade regimes are dealing with environmental concerns: environmental agreements are using economic restrictions: development institutions affect through their policies trade interest and environmental concerns: non-state actors emerge as the voice of public opinion: etc. *De facto*, these

130

institutions have developed structures through which they affect trade, environment and development interests. What remains to be seen however, is *how* they deal with these issues.

÷,

It is on this point that the thesis has elaborated, in reviewing the institutions' structures - the institutional changes - that have emerged through past practice in dealing with these concerns. The research has shown the existing institutional framework of (certain) international regimes, it has put the finger on sore spots and structural weaknesses, and has proposed several ways to improve what we've got. Although ambitious and far-reaching proposals have been made about the construction and creation of a single Global Environmental Institution (GEI) - within or outside the UN - which would institutionalize and attend to environmental objectives the way the WTO/GATT does for trade liberalization. the World Bank for development concerns, and the IMF for global monetary stability, this theoretical proposition suffers from a total and fundamental lack of political support. In today's world, sovereignty issues are still a major obstacle. reducing such a GEI to theory, making it a practical near-impossibility. There appears to exist a considerable gap between theoretical need and practical feasibility in today's international community relating to the creation of a new Global Environmental Institution. Consequently, and as a direct result, the international community will be left with a case-by-case improvement and strengthening of existing international organizations. to try to match up the international institutional structures with the real need of integration and balancing of trade, environment and development concerns. And even this strengthening although politically more feasible - is not likely to be an easy one ...

131

Have these proposals of either strengthening existing institutions and regimes or of creating new institutional structures than been useless or superfluous? Of course, when making new proposals in the realm of international law and politics, one has to consider the current practical limitations. But certainly debates and discussions like these over trade-environment-development interlinkages and their institutional consequences can progress the knowledge on the issues, and even prepare the world for a future international political, socioeconomic and ecological situation where such institutional reforms do belong to the realm of the feasible.

This work has shown that, during the last few decades, the international legal framework concerning development, trade and environment has been progressively elaborated, and a constant (however slow) evolution towards the framing of cardinal values and core principles on environmental conservation and Sustainable Development has been notable in various international instruments and regimes. The 1972 Stockholm Conference, the 1987 UN World Commission on Environment and Development Report (the Brundlandt Commission Report). the 1992 Rio Conference (UNCED) are all examples of how international instruments have given form to an emerging world-wide consensus among legal experts, government leaders. NGO's and the civil society. about these fundamental principles.⁴⁵⁷

⁴⁵⁷ Maurice F.Strong, the UNCED Secretary General. called for the creation of a so called "*Earth Charter*", a Charter framing principles that are fundamental in character, universal in applicability and enduring in their validity; a Charter that would provide "clear guidelines for the conduct of nations and peoples regarding the environment and Sustainable Development". Some of these fundamental principles include : the formation of a global partnership; the view of the biosphere as a unique, indivisible ecosystem: the Human Right of all people - including future generations - to a sound environment and the corollary duty to preserve and protect the environment; the concept of Sustainable Development (including the precautionary principle, emphasis on prevention, and

Key-institutional elements for organizations and regimes that deal with environment, trade and development concerns include *legitimacy* and *credihility* (through unrestricted membership, and neutrality towards specific interests), *a clear mandate*, *access to information* (improving public participation and organizational transparency), and appropriate *conflict resolution mechanisms*; all contribute to compliance with the institutional structure⁴⁵⁸, and thus its success. They have to be borne in mind as key criteria in crafting new institutions, or changing the ones we have.

In a world where environment issues, development concerns and trade objectives increasingly emerge as preponderant items on the agenda of institutional and organizational change, principal concepts - such as *consensus* and *cooperation*, the *acknowledgment* of the importance of trade liberalization as well as environmental protection, and of the *positive interactions* between trade and the environment - in our approach to both international trade and environmental problems are to be emphasized. In short : greater global dialogue is needed.⁴⁵⁹

The declaration on the occasion of the 50th anniversary of the United Nations itself stresses the essential need of the UN to be reformed and modernized

⁴⁵⁹ See "Trade need not be sacrificed for environment". Netscape

http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/191.html

environmental impact assessment); inter- and intragenerational equity; the sovereign right of states to utilize their natural resources along with their corollary responsibility to protect and preserve them; transparency and public participation; education, scientific research and information exchange.

See "Survey of principles", Netscape http://www.ecouncil.ac.cr/value/principl/introeng.htm and "Summary of principles", Netscape http://www.ecouncil.ac.cr/value/principl/summeng.htm ⁴⁵⁸ See J.Trolldalen, *International environmental conflict resolution : the role of the UN*, (Geneva : UNITAR, 1992), p.29-32.

The document elaborates on the situation in Asia. environment as an emerging issue on the Apec agenda, and Singapore's Prime Minister Goh Chok Tong's view on how to make the WTO think more green.

in order to be able to respond to the challenges of the future, whether they concern

peace, security, equality, justice or development. The declaration says :

"In order to foster sustained economic growth, social development, environmental protection and social justice in fulfillment of the commitments we have made on international cooperation for development. we will : (...) Promote an open and equitable, rule-based, predictable and nondiscriminatory multilateral trading system (...): *Give particular attention to national and international action (...);* Invigorate the dialogue and partnership between all countries (...); Promote social development through decisive national and international action aimed at the eradication of poverty (...); Improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the UN system for development and strengthen its role in all relevant fields of international economic cooperation; and reduce and eliminate unsustainable patterns of production and consumption (...), recognizing that environmental sustainability constitutes and integral part of the development process. "460 (emphasis added)

However, the declaration equally stressed the importance of adequate resources in order to carry out the work of the UN effectively. and in order to make the necessary changes and improvements to the institutional structure.⁴⁶¹ These resources, and accordingly the political backing and support. are often totally or partially lacking, endangering the UN's capacity to do its job, even when this requires institutional change. By enlargement, this goes for all international organizations.

Consequently, all these fundamental values and key-principles that have emerged or are emerging in the global fora of discussion are of increasing importance in the institutional restructuring and reorganization of the international

⁴⁶⁰ "Declaration on the occasion of the fiftieth anniversary of the United Nations". Netscape http://www.un.org/UN50/dec.htm

institutional framework. the international organizations that deal with tradedevelopment-environment issues. When taken into account, they increasingly serve as basic and necessary guidelines and directives, veritable conductors of *how* and *where* institutional changes can be frought.

In conclusion, the trade-environment interaction in the international fora has reached the point of institutional reform, but in the present political, socioeconomical and institutional configuration, entire innovative institutional reform is likely to be hard to achieve, certainly at present. The emergence of New Institutional Authority shall most likely not take the form of the creation of a new Global Environmental Institution, but of the improvement and strengthening of the vast array of already-existing institutions dealing with development-tradeenvironment concerns.

⁴⁶¹ "Member States must meet, in full and in time, their obligation to bear the expenses of the Organization (...)". See Ibid.
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

<u>BOOKS</u>

i.

M.Amlak, African countries and the conventions on the control of transboundary movements of hazardous wastes. (Montreal : McGill University. Institute of Comparative Law, 1992).

K.Anderson, R.Blackhurst, ed., *The greening of world trade issues*, (New York : Harvester Wheatsheaf, 1992).

T.Andersson, C.Folke, S.Nystrom, *Trading with the environment : ecology, economics, institutions and policy*, (London : Earthscan Publications, 1995).

C.Archer, International organizations, (London : Routledge, 1992).

M.Baer, S.Weintraub, eds., *The NAFTA debate : grappling with unconventional trade issues*, (London : Lynne Rienner Publishers, 1994).

R.Bartlett, P.Kurian, M.Malik, eds., International organizations and environmental policy, (Westport : Greenwood Press, 1995).

A.Bennet, International Organizations : principles and issues, 5th ed., (Englewood Cliffs : Prentice Hall, 1991).

P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *Basic documents on international law and the environment*, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1995).

P.Birnie, A.Boyle, *International law and the environment*, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1992).

N.Blokker, S.Muller, eds., Towards more effective supervision by international organizations : essays in honour of Henry G.Schermers, vol.1, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1994).

J.Brecher et al., Global village or global pillage : economic reconstruction from the bottom up, (Boston : South End Press, 1994).

L.Brinkhorst, A.van Buitenen, Focus on environment and trade : EU and US strategies in the nineties, (Leiden : Europa Institute, 1994).

L.Brown, *Vital signs 1995 : the trends that are shaping our future*. (Washinton D.C. : Worldwatch Institute, 1995).

L.Brown et al., eds., The state of the world 1995, (New York : Norton, 1995).

L.Brown, ed., Saving the planet, (London : Earthscan, 1991).

E.Brown Weiss, ed., *Environmental change and international law : new challenges and dimensions*, (Tokyo : UN University Press, 1992).

T.Carrol-Foster, ed., A guide to agenda 21 : issues, debates and Canadian initiatives, (Ottawa : International Development Research Centre, 1993).

K.Christie, ed., New directions : environment, labour and the international trade agenda, (Ottawa : Carleton University Press, 1995).

B.Colas, ed., Global economic cooperation : a guide to agreements and organizations, (Deventer : Kluwer Law & Taxation Publishers, 1994).

R.Cooper, *Environment and resource policies for the world economy*, (Washington D.C. : Brookings Institute, 1994).

A.De Mestral, Dispute avoidance : weighing the values of trade and environment under the NAFTA and the NAAEC, CEC Environment and Trade Series no.3. (Montreal : CEC, 1996).

D.Esty, *Greening the GATT : trade, environment, and the future*, (Washington D.C. : Institute for international Economics, 1994).

W.Feld, R.Jordan, L.Hurwitz, International organizations : a comparative approach, (Westport : Praeger Publishers, 1994).

B.Field, N.Olewiler, *Environmental economics*, (New York : McGraw Hill Ryerson, 1995).

H.French, Partnership for the planet : an environmental agenda for the United Nations, (Washington D.C. : Worldwatch Institute, 1995).

H.French, *Costly trade-offs : reconciling trade and the environment*, (Washington D.C. : Worldwatch Institute, 1993).

K.Ginther, E.Denters, P.de Waert, eds., *Sustainable Development and Good Governance*, (Dordrecht : Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1995).

(

I.Goldin, L.Winters, eds., *The economics of sustainable development*, (Cambridge : Cambridge University Press, Centre for Economic Policy Research, OECD, 1995).

B.Gosovic, The quest for world environmental cooperation : the case of the UN Global Environment Monitoring System, (London ; Routledge, 1992).

÷

Ę

G.Grayson, The North American Free Trade Agreement : regional community and the new world order. (Lanham : University Press of America, 1995).

R.Grinspun, M.Cameron, *The political economy of North American Free Trade*. (Montreal-Kingston : McGill - Queen's University Press, 1993).

M.Grubb, M.Koch, K.Thomson, A.Munson, F.Sullivan, *The Earth Summit Agreements : a guide and assessment*, (London : Earthscan Publications, Energy and Environmental Programme, The Royal Institute of International Affairs, 1993).

P.Haas, R.Keohane, M.Levy, eds., Institutions for the earth : sources of effective international environmental protection, (London : MIT Press, 1993).

G.Handl, ed., Yearbook of International Environmental Law, vol.5, 1994, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1995).

H.Hohmann, Precautionary legal duties and principles of modern international environmental law : the precautionary principle : international environmental law between exploitation and protection, (London : Graham & Trotham / Martinus Nijhoff, 1994).

J.Holmberg, ed., *Making development sustainable : redefining institutions, policy, and economics*, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, International Institute for Environment and Development, 1992).

R.Housman, Reconciling trade and the environment : lessons from the North American Free Trade Agreement, (Geneva : UNEP, 1994).

B.Hull, Valuing the environment : full-cost pricing - an inquiry and a goal, (Ottawa : Business and the Environment Research Program, Conference Board of Canada, 1993).

B.Hull, A.St-Pierre, *The market and the environment : using market-based approaches to achieve environmental goals*, (Ottawa : Business and the Environment Research Program, Conference Board of Canada, 1990).

A.Hurrel, B.Kingsbury, eds., *The international politics of the environment : actors, interests and institutions*, (Oxford : Clarendon Press, 1992).

P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu. *The environment and NAFTA : understanding and implementing the new continental law*, (Washington D.C. : Island Press, 1996).

S.Kamieniecki, ed., Environmental politics in the international arena : movements, parties, organizations and policy, (Albany : State University of New York Press, 1993).

D.Kennedy, International legal structures, (Baden-Baden : Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft, 1987).

O.Kirshner, ed., The Bretton Woods-GATT system : retrospect and prospect after fifty years, (London : M.E.Sharpe, 1995).

J.Kirton, S.Richardson, eds., *The Halifax summit, sustainable development, and international institutional reform*, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1995).

J.Kirton, S.Richardson, eds., *Trade, environment and competitiveness : sustaining Canada's prosperity*, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1992).

M.Koskenniemi, From apology to utopia : the structure of international legal argument, (Helsinki : Finnish Lawyers' Publishing Company, 1989).

L.Kramer, *EC Treaty and environmental law*, 2nd ed., (London : Sweet & Maxwell, 1995).

W.Lang, H.Neuhold, K.Zematek, *Environmental protection and international law*. (London : Graham & Trotman / Martinus Nijhoff, 1990).

M.Munasinghe, ed., *Environmental economics and natural resource management in developing countries*, (Washington D.C. : Committee of International Development Institutions on the Environment (CIDIE), The World Bank, 1993).

D.Pearce, J.Warford, World without end : economics. environment, and sustainable development, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, World Bank, 1993).

P.Pescatore, W.Davey, A.Lowenfeld, *Handbook of WTO/GATT dispute* settlement, vol.1, (The Hague : Kluwer Law International, 1995).

S.Randall, H.Konrad, eds., *NAFTA in transition*, (Calgary : University of Calgary Press, 1995).

S.Richardson, ed., Shaping consensus : the North American Commission on the Environment and NAFTA, (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1993).

I.Rowlands, M.Greene, eds., *Global environmental change and international relations*, (London : MacMillan Academic and Professional, 1992).

١.

F.Runge. Freer trade, protected environment : balancing trade liberalization and environmental interests, (New York : Council on Foreign Relations Press, 1994).

P.Sand, ed., The effectiveness of international environmental agreements : a survey of existing legal instruments, (Cambridge : Grotius Publications, 1992).

B.Simma, ed., *The Charter of the UN : a commentary*. (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1994).

P.Sorsa, *The environment : a new challenge to GATT?*, (Geneva : World Bank, 1992).

K.Steiniger, Trade and environment : the regulatory controversy and a theoretical and empirical assessment of unilateral environmental action, (Heidelberg : Physica-Verlag, 1995).

A.St-Pierre, *Industrial competitiveness, trade and the environment*, (Ottawa : Business and the Environment Research Program, Conference Board of Canada, 1993).

L.Susskind, Environmental diplomacy : negotiating more effective global agreements, (Oxford : Oxford University Press, 1994).

J.Trolldalen, International environmental conflict resolution : the role of the UN, (New York : UNITAR, 1993).

R.Twum-Barina, L.Campbell, Protecting the ozone layer trough trade measures : reconciling the Montreal Protocol and the rules of the GATT, (Geneva : Environment and Trade Series, UNEP, 1994).

S.Walker, Environmental protection versus trade liberalization : finding the balance, (Bruxelles : Publications des Facultes Universitaires Saint-Louis, 1993).

L.Winters, *Foundation of an open economy*. (London : Centre for Economic Policy Research. 1995)

D.Wirth, *The role of science in the Uruguay Round and NAFTA trade disciplines*. (Geneva : Environment and Trade Series, UNEP, 1994).

The environment and emerging development issues, (Helsinki : World Institute for Development Economics Research of the UN University (WIDER). Study Group Series no.7, UN University, 1992).

GATT, the WTO and sustainable development : positioning the work program on trade and environment, (Winnipeg : International institute for sustainable development, 1994).

ĺ,

International trade 90-91. vol.1. (Geneva : General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, 1992).

Our Common Future, (Oxford : Oxford University Press. World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987).

Partnerships for sustainable development : the role of business and industry, (London : Flashprint Enterprises, UNEP, 1994).

Paying the price : How free trade is hurting the environment (...), (Ottawa : Canadian centre for policy alternatives, 1991).

Preliminary discussion paper and background material : the Halifax summit, sustainable development, and international institutional reform. (Ottawa : National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy, 1995).

Sustainable America : a new consensus for prosperity, opportunity, and a healthy environment for the future, (Washington D.C. : The President's Council on Sustainable Development, 1996).

Trade and Sustainable Development : principles, (Winnipeg : International institute for sustainable development, 1994).

GOVERNMENT DOCUMENTS

UNITED NATIONS

ECE, UNEP, Guidelines on integrated environmental management in countries in transition, (New York : UN, 1994).

OECD

ŧ.

The economic appraisal of environmental projects and policies : a practical guide, (Paris : OECD, 1995).

Environmental taxes in OECD countries, (Paris : OECD, 1995).

Promoting cleaner production in developing countries : the role of development cooperation, (Paris : OECD, 1995).

Project and policy appraisal : integrating economics and environment. (Paris : OECD, 1994).

International economic instruments and climate change. (Paris : OECD. 1993).

WORLD BANK

World Debt Tables : external finance for developing countries, vol.1, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1996).

M.Munasinghe, W.Shearer. eds., *Defining and measuring sustainability : the biogeophysical foundations*, (Washington D.C : World Bank, 1995).

M.Munasinghe, W.Cruz, *Economywide policies and the environment : lessons from experience*, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1995).

M.Munasinghe, S.Hanna, eds., *Property rights and the environment : social and ecological issues*, (Washington D.C. : World Bank & Beijer International Institute of Ecological Economics, 1995).

Mainstreaming the environment : the World Bank Group and the environment since the Rio Earth Summit : fiscal 1995, (Washington D.C. : Environment Department, World Bank, 1995).

Making development sustainable : the World Bank Group and the environment : fiscal 1994, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1994).

S.Mink, *Poverty, population and the environment*, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1993).

I.Serageldin, A.Steer, eds., *Valuing the environment*, Environmentally Sustainable Development Proceedings Series no.2, (Washington D.C. : World Bank, 1993).

GATT/WTO

Ć

1995 International Trade : trends and statistics, (Geneva : WTO, 1995).

Trading into the future : the WTO, (Geneva : WTO, 1995).

Basic instruments and selected documents, suppl.40, 1992-1993 and 48th session. (Geneva : GATT, 1995).

GATT activities 1992-1993 : an annual review of the work of the GATT. (Geneva : GATT, 1993-1994).

Trade and environment report, (Geneva : GATT, 1992).

Procedures for the Circulation and Derestriction of WTO Documents (WT/L/160).

Administrative structures for environmental management in the EC. (Brussels : Commission of the EC. DG-XI, 1993).

Commission of the EC. *Taking European Environment Policy into the 21st century*, (Brussels : Commission of the EC. DG XI, 1996).

Commission of the EC. Non-paper by the EC : The relationship between the provisions of the multilateral trading system and trade measures for environmental purposes. including those pursuant to Multilateral Environmental Agreements, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996).

Commission of the EC, *Ecolabeling schemes : EC non-paper*, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996).

Commission of the EC, Non-paper by the EC: The effect of environmental measures on market access, especially in relation to developing countries, and environmental benefits of removing trade restrictions and distortions, (Brussels: Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996).

Commission of the EC, Communication to the Council and the Parliament on Trade and Environment, (Brussels : Commission of the EC, DG I, 1996).

NAFTA

ł

North American Environment Ministers accelerate environmental protection efforts, (Montreal : CEC, 1996).

CEC, NAFTA effects : a survey of recent attempts to model the environemtnal effects of trade : an overview of selected sources. Environment and Trade Series no.1, (Montreal : CEC, 1996).

CEC, NAFTA effects : potential NAFTA effects : claims and arguments 1991-1994, Environment and Trade Series no.2. (Montreal : CEC, 1996).

J.Kirton, J.Soloway. NAFTA effects working paper series : assessing NAFTA's environmental effects : dimensions of a framework and the NAFTA regime. (Montreal : CEC, 1996).

Annual Programme and Budget 1996, (Montreal : CEC. 1996).

NAAEC/NAALC : background information. (Ottawa : Government of Canada, 1993).

ARTICLES

J.Barcelo III, "Product standards to protect the local environment - the GATT and the Urugueay Round SPS Agreement" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.755-776.

T.Bernauer, "The effect of international environmental institutions : how we might learn more" (1995) 49 International organization, p.351-377.

B.Burns, "Everything's gone green : a brief guide to sources of information on EU Environmental Law and Policy" (1994) 25 The Law Librarian, p.61-64.

H.Chang, "An economic analysis of trade measures to protect the global environment" (1995) 83 Georgetown Law Journal, p.2131-2209.

S.Charnovitz, "Free trade, fair trade, green trade : defogging the debate" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.459-525.

S.Charnovitz, "The GATT panel decision on automobile taxes" (1994) 17 International Environment Reporter, p.921-925.

S.Charnovitz, "The environment vs. Trade rules : defogging the debate" (1993) 23 Environmental law, p.475-517.

S.Charnovitz, "NAFTA, an analysis of its environmental provisions" (1993) 23 Environmental Law Reporter, p.1067 a.f.

J.Dunoff, "Institutional misfits : the GATT. the ICJ and trade-environment disputes" (1994) 15 Michigan Journal of International Law, p.1043-1128.

J.Dunoff, "Resolving trade-environment conflicts : the case for trading institutions" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.607-629.

Editors of the Harvard Law Review, "Trends in International Environmental Law" (1992) 10 Harvard Law Review.

D.Esty, "Unpacking the 'trade and environment' conflict" (1994) 25 Law and Policy in International Business, p.1259-1286.

D.Gerardin, R.Stewardson, "Trade and environment : some lessons from Castlemaine Tooheys (Australia) and Danish Bottles (EC)" (1995) 44 International and Comparative Law Quarterly, p.41-71.

R.Housman, "The NAFTA's lessons for reconciling trade and the environment" (1994) 30 Stanford Journal of International Law, p.379-422.

J.Jackson, "World trade rules and environmental policies : congruence or conflict?" (1992) 49 Washington & Lee Law Review, p.1227 a.f.

ť

Ĺ

P.M.Johnson, A.Beaulieu, "NAFTA's green opportunities" (1994) 1 Journal of Environmental CoPractice, p.5-15.

S.Lahey, "Trade and the environment" (1996) 16 New York Law School Journal of International and Comparative Law, p.181-200.

D.Magraw, "NAFTA's repercussions : is green trade possible?" (1994) 32 Environment.

J.McDonald, "Greening the GATT : harmonizing free trade and environmental protection in the New World Order" (1993) 23 Environmental Law, p.397-474.

J.Moffet, F.Bregha, "The role of law reform in the promotion of sustainable development" (1995) 6 Journal of Environmental Law and Practice, p.1-22.

S.Murase, "Perspectives from international economic law on transnational environmental issues" To be published in the Receuil des Cours, 1995. The Hague Academy of International Law.

E.U.Petersmann, "International trade law and international environmental law : prevention and settlement of international environmental disputes in GATT" (1993) 27 Journal of World Trade, p.43-81.

C.Petsonk, "Recent developments in international organizations : the role of the UNEP in the development of international environmental law" (1990) 5 American University Journal of International Law and Policy. p.351-391.

A.Postiglione, "An International Court for the Environment?" (1993) 23 Environmental Policy and Law, p.73-78.

A.Postiglione, "A more efficient international law on the environment and setting up an International Court for the Environment within the UN" (1990) 20 Environmental Law, p.321-328.

D.Reed, "The Global Environment Facility and Non-Governmental Organizations" (1993) 9 American University Journal of International Law and Policy, p.191-213.

M.Ritchie, "Democratizing the trade policy-making process : the lessons of NAFTA and their implications for the GATT" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.749-755.

N.Roht-Arriaza, "Shifting the point of regulation : the International Organization for Standardization and global lawmaking on trade and the environment" (1995) 22 Ecology Law Quarterly, p.479-539.

M.Schlagenhof, "Trade measures based on environmental processes and production methods" (1995) 29 Journal of World Trade, p.123-155.

T.Schoenbaum, "Agora : trade and environment : free international trade and protection of the environment : irreconcilable conflict?" (1992) 86 American Journal of International Law, p.700-727.

J.Schultz, "The GATT/WTO Committee on Trade and the Environment - toward environmental reform" (1995) 89 American Journal of International Law, p.423-439.

W.Snape, N.Lefkovitz, "Searching for GATT's environmental miranda : are 'process standards' getting 'due process'?" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.777-815.

H.Southworth III, "Comments : GATT and the Environment - GATT. Trade and the Environment, GATT doc.1529 (February 13, 1992)" (1992) 32 Virginia Journal of International Law, p.997-1013.

C.Stevens, "Interpreting the Polluter Pays Principle in the trade and environment context" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.577 a.f.

M.Tuchband, "The systemic environmental externalities of free trade : a call for wiser trade decisionmaking" (1995) 83 Georgetown Law Journal, p.2099-2118.

S.Vaughan, "Trade and environment : some North-South considerations" (1994) 27 Cornell International Law Journal, p.591-606.

K.Von Moltke, "The last round : the GATT in light of the Earth Summit" (1993) 23 Environmental Law, p.519 a.f.

H.Ward, "Trade and environment in the Round - and after" (1994) 6 Journal of Environmental Law, p.263-295.

INTERNET SOURCES

Í

WTO homepage : Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/

"About the WTO" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/about_wpf.html

"WTO Trade and Environment Committee" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/trade+env/tocte.html http://www.unicc.org/wto/trade+env/te2.html http://www.unicc.org/wto/trade+env/te1.html http://www.unicc.org/wto/trade+env/te3.html http://www.unicc.org/wto/trade+env/te006.html http://www.unicc.org/wto/trade+env/te8.thm http://www.unicc.org/wto/trade+env/te010.htm

"General Council takes steps to increase public access to WTO information" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/Whts_new/ngo.htm

- "WTO : Non-Governmental Organizations" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/regngoe.htm
- "Speech by Mr. R.Ruggiero, Director-General of the WTO, to the APEC trade ministers in Christchurch, New Zealand, 15 July 1996" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/Whats_new/press52.htm
- "WTO and UNCTAD chiefs meet to discuss further cooperation" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/Whats_new/press50.htm
- "WTO and UNCTAD increase joint technical assistance efforts" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/Pressrel/press39.html
- "Trade need not be sacrificed for environment" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/191.html
- "Basic tasks for WTO" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/132.html
- "Environment on WTO's Singapore meeting agenda" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/133.html
- "Call for WTO trade, environment group to 'make more progress" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/envir/190.html
- "WTO trade, environment group 'unlikely to finish work this year" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/envir/188.html
- "WTO meet : US 'must show leadership" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/195.html
- "US to appeal WTO's finding on its discriminating criteria" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/envir/bp10001.html
- "WTO members told to stick to trade agenda" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/296.html

"Tiger states see red on social clause" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/297.html

- "Asian ASEM reps agree to stick to trade" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/130.html
- "OECD keen to work with world trade grouping" Netscape http://www.wto96.org/news/wtosi/319.html

"Membership list" Netscape http://www.unicc.org/wto/memtab2_wpf.html

GATT homepage : Netscape http://www.ustr.gov/reports/annualrpt/1994/gatt-wto.html

United Nations homepage : Netscape http://www.un.org/

- "Institutional arrangements to follow up the UNCED" Netscape http://www.un.org/
- "Commission on Sustainable Development" Netscape http://www.unep.no/unep/partners/un/csd/home.htm
- "Upcoming meetings related to the CSD" Netscape http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/csd/upcoming.html

"UNCED update" Netscape

http://www.prosus.nfr ... ter/1996-01/unced.html

"UNCTAD" Netscape

http://gatekeeper.unicc.org/unctad/ http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/u9final.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/mdlead.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/mrtrade.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/mruwork.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/peunep.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/u9facts.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/u9facts.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/doadisab.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/tb43agen.htm http://www.unicc.org/unctad/en/special/tb43work.htm

"UNEP" Netscape

ĺ

http://www.unep.no/home.htm

"UNEP in brief" Netscape

http://unep.unep.no/unep/about.htm

"UNDP" Netscape

http://www.undp.org/undp/ http://gopher.undp.org/0/undp/description http://gopher.undp.org/0/undp/mandate

"Declaration on the occasion of the 50th anniversary of the UN" Netscape http://www.un.org/UN50/dec.htm

World Bank homepage : Netscape http://www.worldbank.org/

- "World Bank" Netscape http://www.worldbank.org/html/extdr/glance.html
- "News and current events" Netscape http://www.worldbank.org/html/extdr/current.html

"Fourth annual World Bank Conference on environmentally Sustainable Development" http://www-esd.worldbank.org/esdcuf/home.htm

"GEF Council Meeting" Netscape

http://www.worldbank.org/html/gef/meetings/council8.htm

"Notification of NGO consultation on the GEF" Netscape http://www.worldbank.org/html/gef/ngo/ngo1096.htm

OECD homepage : Netscape http://www.oecd.org/

"Competition policy and environment : Commission of the EU contribution" Netscape

http://www.oecd.org/daf/ccp/envr09.htm

"OECD/food, agriculture and fisheries : activities. work on agriculture and the environment" Netscape

http://www.oecd.org/agr/age_pueb.htm

1

"Meeting of OECD environment policy committee" Netscape http://www.oecd.org/news_and_events/reference/nw96-15a.htm

Other materials :

- "Principles of environmental conservation" Netscape http://www.ecouncil.ac.cr/value/principl/princeng.htm
- "Survey of principles" Netscape http://www.ecouncil.ac.cr/value/principl/introeng.htm
- "Summary of principles" Netscape http://www.ecouncil.ac.cr/value/principl/summeng.htm
- "Rio+5 An assessment of past performance" Netscape http://www.ecouncil.ac.cr/rio/a.htm

INTERVIEWS

Interview with Sarah Richardson, CEC Programme Manager NAFTA / Environment, August 12th, 1996, at the CEC Secretariat, Montreal.

Interview with Allessandro Paolicchi, Commission of the EC, DG I, October 8th, 1996, at the Commission of the EC, Brussels.







IMAGE EVALUATION TEST TARGET (QA-3)







© 1993, Applied Image, Inc., All Rights Reserved

